
Mike McGuinness, Disfrict 7 
President 
William A. Carrington, District 6 
Pr·esident Pro Tem 

PONTIAC CITY COUNCIL 

Melanie Rutherfo1·d, District 1 
Brett Nicholson, District 2 
Mika) Goodman, District 3 
Kathalce James, District 4 
William Parker, Jr., Distl'ict 5 

It is this Council's mission "To serve the citizens of Pontiac by committing to help provide an enhanced quality of life 
for its residents, fostering the vision of a family-friendly community that is a great place to live, work and play. " 

47450 Woodward Pontiac, MI 48342 Phone: (248) 758-3200 Garland S. Doyle, M. P.A., City Clerk 

75th Session of the 11th Council 
March 7, 2023 at 6:00 P.M. 

Meeting Location: City Council Chambers 47450 Woodward Pontiac, MI 48342 
Meeting Agenda 

Call to Order 

Invocation 

Pledge of Allegiance to the Flag of the United States 

Moment of Silence 

Roll Call 

Authorization to Excuse Councilmembers from the Meeting 

Amendments to and Approval of the Agenda 

Approval of the Consent Agenda 
February 28, 2023 City Council Meeting Minutes 

Special Presentations 
1. Tax Foreclosure Prevention Initiatives, Resources for Pontiac Homeowners 

Presentation Presenter: Oakland County Treasurer Robert Wittenberg 

2. Representatives from the Stonegate Pointe Neighborhood Associations Formally Expressing Neighborhood 
Concerns 

Recognition of Elected Officials 

Agenda Address (Two Minutes Time Limit) 

Agenda Items 
Ordinances 

3. Resolution to approve the first reading of the Adult Use Marijuana Zoning Text & Map Amendment 
Ordinance 

a. East Walton Overlay District, Cesar Chavez Overlay District, Downtown Overlay District and 
Woodward Gateway Overlay District 

b. East Walton Overlay District, Cesar Chavez Overlay District and Downtown Overlay District 



4. Adoption of City of Pontiac Adult-Use Marihuana Business Ordinance (Second Reading Postponed from 
February 28, 2023 City Council Meeting) 

Resolutions 
City Council 

5. Resolution acknowledging March as Women's History Month 

Communications 
6. Resolution to approve a proposed budget amendment for Fiscal Year 2022-2023 to increase the budget 

appropriation in the following 231 - Cable Fund GL Account 231-291-977.041 Video Equipment $27,564.45 

Depa1tment of Public Works (DPW) 
7. Resolution approving the salaries of the Sanitation Superintendent, Building Foreman and Sanitation Worker 

positions 

Finance 
8. Resolution to authorize the City Clerk to publish the proposed budget amendment for Fiscal Year 2022-2023 

to increase the appropriation in the following GL accounts 208-756-719.000 Workers Compensation Ins. -
$5,000, 208-756-779.020 Programming -$7,500, 208-756-942.001 Copier Lease - $2,400, 208-756-943.000 
Services -Equip Rental City-Owned - $1,000, 208-775-716.000-Medical Insurance -$9,600, 208-775-
745.000 - Recreation Supplies -$2,000 (This proposed budget amendment is for Youth Recreation.) 

Public Comment (Three Minutes Time Limit) 

Public Communications 
City Council 

9. Pontiac Community Foundation is hiring part-time drivers for the Ml Mobility initiative starting at $20 per 
hour. Inquire at hr@pontiaccommunityfoundation.org or (248) 246-6606. 

10. Residents who are behind in paying their water bills or facing a service shut-off can get help from a 
partne rship between the Oakland county Water Resources Commission and OLSHA. Those who qualify could 
get up to $1,500 in payments on their water bills and stop a shut-off plan. This program is temporary and 
expires on September 30, 2023. Schedule an appointment with OLHSA to sign up by calling (248) 209-2600 
or emailing info@olhsa.org 

11. Oakland Livingston Human Service Agency (OLSHA) is Now enrolling for Home Based Early Start for 
Children ages Oto 3, with tuition-free weekly sessions with early childhood educators at your home, start the 
enrollment process today by calling (248) 209-2600 or visiting www.olsha.org/early-head start 

12. Oakland Livingston Human Service Agency (OLSHA) is hiring for multiple positions, with paid vacation, 
health benefits, retirement plans, paid business and education leave, and tuition reimbursement. Find out more 
by visiting www.olhsa.org/employement 

13. Lighthouse of Oakland County Food and Cleaning Supply Drive, from March 1 to march 16, 2023, Liberty 
Bar at 85 S. Saginaw Strnet in Downtown Pontiac is Collecting Unopened & Non-Perishable Items only 

14. Pontiac High School Community Career Pathways Expo & Job Fair, March 11, 2023 from 9:00 am to 12:00 
pm, held at Pontiac High School, 1051 Arlene A venue, Pontiac 48340; in addition to students, recruitment 
opens to parents and guardians 

15. Dolt Yourself Glass Bird Workshop, March 11, 2023 from 10:00 am to 3 :00 pm, held at Epiphany Studios, 
770 Orchard Lake road, Pontiac 48341 , registration is $150, visit www.epiphanyglass.com for more 

2 



information 

16. Jack and Jill of America, Inc. Oakland County Chapter Academic Incentive for 2023 High School Seniors, 
award amounts of up to $2,000. Application deadline is March 15, 2023. Apply online at https://bit.ly/jjoc2023 
and send questions to jjocacademicincentive@gmail.com 

17. Pontiac Planning Commission Special Meeting, March 15, 2023 at 6:00 pm, held at Pontiac City Hall in the 
Council Chambers 

18. Oakland County Financial Empowerment Arts Contest is open to all Oakland County public High School 
students, and the deadline for entries to be submitted is March 17, 2023 at 4:00 p.m. A11 submission may 
include 2-D (drawing, painting, photography, mixed media, and illustration) and video . Cash prizes will be 
awarded. Contact the Oakland County Treasurer's Office for more information, including at oakgov.com I 
treasurer 

19. OUCARES Family Fun Day, March 18, 2023 from 12:00 to 3:00 pm, held at the Oakland university recreation 
Center on OU's campus, free event featuring information fair, art projects, bouncy inflatables, swimming from 
Noon to 2 pm (bring your own towels). For more information, visit www.oakland.edu/oucares or email 
oucares@oakland.edu 

20. Identify Your Dream Foundation "Strike Out Violence" Bowling Fundraiser March 19, 2023 from 1 :00 to 4:00 
pm, held at Classic Lanes, 2145 Avon Industrial Drive in Rochester Hills. Entry cost is $25, visit 
www.identifyyourdream.org for more information. 

21. Third Tuesdays Global Music Jam at the PLAT, March 21, April 18 and May 16, 2023 at 6:00pm, held at 
Pontiac' s Little Arts Theatre, 47 N. Saginaw Street in Downtown Pontiac, Oakland University Professors 
Mark Stone and Patrick Fitzgibbon lead a jam session of various musicians, from students to professional area 
musicians, creating a world music experience 

22. Norton Street Innovation Community Event, March 23, 2023 from 5:00 to 7:00 pm, held at the Project Site at 
Norton Street and Florence Street, outdoor family friendly event with food and activities, residents encouraged 
to come out and learn about the Oakland County Water resources Commission project and provide feedback 
on what improvements they'd like to see happen there 

23. Pontiac Charter Revision Commission Meeting, March 23, 2023 at 6:00 pm, held at Pontiac City Hall in the 
Council Chambers; all residents welcome to attend and offer feedback 

24. Fee Oakland University Jazz Concert feathering Pontiac's own Damani Philips and Oakland University 
Facility, March 24, 2023 at 12:00 Noon, held at Varner recital Hall on Oakland University's campus, free and 
no tickets required 

25. Oakland County Links Scholarship Application Deadline is March 27, 2023, awarding need-based 
scholarships to qualify Black sh1dents pursuing undergraduate degrees or apprenticeships, for more 
information visit www.oaklandcmmtylinks.org. 

26. Community Flu & CCOVID-19 Vaccine Clinic, March 14 and March 28, 2023 from 8:30 am to 11:30 am, 
held at Welcome Missionary Baptist Church, 143 Oneida, Pontiac 48341; no one will be denied service due to 
inability to pay 

27. Pontiac Regional Chamber of Commerce "Prosperity Pontiac" Annual Event, March 29, 2023 

28. Pontiac City Council Presents the Pontiac Health and Wellness Fair, March 31, 2023 from 11 :00 am to 3 :00 
pm, held at UWM Spotts Complex, 867 South Boulevard East, Pontiac 4834 1. This event will offer, Diabetes 

3 



screening, High Blood Pressure Screening, Mammogram Screening, Vaccination station, Diet and health 
workshop, mental health and wellness discussion, and other resources. Contact the Pontiac City Council and 
Outreach Specialist Darryl Earl for more inf01mation. 

29. Ml Concourse Cars and Coffee, April I, 2023 at 8:30 am, free and open to al1, located at Ml Concourse 

30. Pontiac Community Policing Team Easter Egg Hunt, April 1, 2023 from 12:00 to 3:00 pm, held at UWM 
Sports Complex, 867 South Boulevard East, Pontiac 48341, free Easter baskets to first 200 kids, Registration 
Required 

31. WeCare Neighborhood Association Meeting, April 7, 2023 at 6:00 pm, held at Shiloh Baptist Church, 474 
University Drive, Pontiac 48342. 

32. Pontiac Community Foundation 5-Year Anniversary Celebration, May 19, 2023 

33. Save the Date: Pontiac Collective Impact Partnership Youth Expo set for June I 0, 2023 

Mayor's Office 
34. Annual City·-Wide Community Cleanup Happening April 17-April 23, 2023 

Closing Comments 
Mayor Greimel (Seven Minutes Time Limit) 
Clerk and City Council (Three Minutes Time Limit) 

Adjournment 

4 



CONSENT 
AGENDA 



February 28, 2023 Draft 

Call to order 

Official Proceedings 
Pontiac City Council 

74°1 Session of tbe Eleventh Council 

A Meeting of the City Council of Pontiac, Michigan was called to order at the City Hall Council 
Chambers, 47450 Woodward Ave Pontiac, MI 48342 on Tuesday, February 28, 2023 at 6:05 p.m. by 
Council President Mike McGuiness. 

Invocation - Pastor Cornelius Berry, Word Believing Center Church, Pontiac Michigan 

Pledge of Allegiance to the Flag of the United States 

Moment of Silence 

Roll Call 

Members Present- William Carrington, Mika.I Goodman, Mike McGuinness, Brett Nicholson, William 
Parker, Jr. and Melanie Rutherford 

Mayor Greimel was present 
A quorum was announced. 

Excuse Councilmcm bers 
Motion to excuse Councilwoman Kathalee James for personal reasons. Moved by 

Councilperson Parker and second by Councilp,erson Nicholson. 

Ayes : Cartington, Goodman, McGuinness, Nicholson, Parker and Ruthe1ford 
No: Noe 
Motion Carried 

Amendments to and Approval of the Agenda 
Motion to approve the agenda. Moved 6y Councilperson Rutherford and second by 

Counctlperson Nicholson. Dis_cussion. 

Motion to add ~ Resolution Demanding Accountability by DTE Energy for Pontiac 
Residents as new item #7. Move(! by Councilperson Goodman and second by Councilperson 
Nicholson. 

Ayes: N1cGuinness, Nicholson, Parker, Rutherford, Carrington and Goodman 
No: None 
Motion Carried 

The. vote was taken to approve agenda as amended 

Ayes: Goodman, McGuinness, Nicholson, Parker, Rutherford and Carrington 
No: None 
Motion Carried 

I 



February 28, 2023 Draft 

Consent Agenda 
23-80 Resolution to approve the consent agenda for February 28, 2023; Moved by 
Councilperson Parker and second by Councilperson Rutherford . 

Whereas, the City Council has reviewed the consent agenda for February 28, 2023. 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the City Council approves the consent agenda for 
February 28, 2023 including February 21, 2023 City Council Meeting Minutes. 

Ayes: McGuinness, Nicholson, Parker, Rutherford and Carrington 
No: None 
Resolution Passed 
Councilman Goodman was absent during the vote 

Special Presentations 
Norton Street Innovation Project by Oakland County Water Resources Commission 
City of Pontiac Home Repair Program 
City of Pontiac Park Revitalization Program 

Recognition of Elected Officials - None 

Agenda Address 
1. Christine Elam addressed item M 
2. Quincy Stewart addressed item #27 
3. Dr. Deirdre Watennan addressed ite s #2, 3 & S 
4. Carlton Jones addr~ssed item #5 
5. Larry Jasper ad · ressed items #4, 5 & 6 

Agenda. Items 
Ordinances 

Motion to postpone for one week the fl option of City of Pontiac Adult-use 
Marihuana Business Ordinance. (Second Reading Postponed from Febmary 28, 2023 City Council 
Meeting) ~>Ved by Councilperso Carrington and second by Councilperson Goodman. 

Ayes: Nicholson, arket, Carrington, Goodman and McGuinness 
No: None 
Abstain: Rutherfo d 
Motion., Caniecl 

Motion to strike language from an Ordinance Amendment the Planning 
Commission Bylaws Municipal €ode 2-372. Moved by Councilperson McGuinness and second by 
Councilperson Nicholson. 

(f) A member will ho]d the position until a successor is appointed, although the mayor ef-the 
Emergency Manager shall nominate an appointee three (3) months prior to the expiration of a sitting 
appointee's term for consideration as an appointee under the provisions of this division. 

Ayes: Parker, Rutherford, Carrington, Goodman, McGuinness and Nicholson 
No: None 
Motion Carried 

2 



February 28, 2023 Draft 

2404 Adoption of An Ordinance Amendment to Planning Commission Bylaws. 
(Postponed from February 28, 2023 City Council Meeting) Moved by Councilperson Rutherford and 
second by Councilperson Goodman. 

Motion to strike language from Municipal Code 2-372 Clarifying Planning Commission Bylaws) 
Moved by Councilperson McGuinness and second by Councilperson Nicholson. 

(f) A member will hold the position until a successor is appointed, although the mayor er-the 
Emergency Man:ager shall nominate an appointee three (3) months prior to the expiration of a sitting 
appointee's term for consideration as an appointee under the provisions of this division. 

Ayes: Carrington, Goodman, McGuinness, Nicholson, Barker and Rutherford 
No: None 
Motion Carried 

The vote was taken to adopt the ordinance as amended. 

Ayes: Rutherford, Carrington, Gooaman, McGuinness, Nicholson and Parker 
No: None 
Ord.inance Adopted 

**See Ordinance #2404 Planning Commission Bylaws Amendments as Exhibit A after the minutes** 

Suspend the Rules 
Motion to suspend the rules to add a Resolution to approve the Planning 

Commission Bylaws. Moved by Councilperson Rutherford and second by Councilperson Nicholson. 

Resolution 
Planning 

Ayes: Goodman, McGuinness, :Nl' cholson, Parker, Rutherford and Carrington 
No: None 
Motion Carried 

23-81 Resolution to approve the amended Pontiac Planning Commission Bylaws. (Agenda 
add-on) Moved by Councilperson. McGuinness and second by Councilperson Rutherford, 

Be It Hereby Resolved, the Pontiac Gity Council hereby approves the Pontiac Planning Commission 
bylaws with the pr0Qused amendment to section 2-3 72 of the City of Pontiac Planning Commission 
Bylaws presented to the City Council on February 28, 2023 with the phrase or the Emergency Manager, 
stricken from sub section "F". 

Ayes: McGuinness, Nicholson, Parker, Rutherford, Carrington and Goodman 
No: None 
Resolution Passed 

Ordinances Continued 
An Ordinance to Amend. Appendix B of the Municipal Code of the City of Pontiac 

Amending Article 2, Section 2.103 - Zoning Map, to Change the Zoning Classifications for Specific 
pareels on Woodward Ave. (ZMA 22-011 for Lighthouse of Oakland County at 46156 Woodward 
Ave.) (Second Reading) Moved by Councilperson Rutherford and second by Councilperson Parker. 
Discussion. 

3 



February 28, 2023 Draft 

Motion to postpone for two weeks an Ordinance to Amend Appendix B of the 
Municipal Code of the City of Pontiac Amending Article 2, Section 2.103 - Zoning Map, to Change 
the Zoning Classifications fo1· Specific parcels on Woodward Ave. (ZMA 22-011 for Lighthouse of 
Oakland County at 46156 Woodward Ave.) (Second Reading) Moved by Councilperson Rutherford 
and second by Councilperson Goodman. 

Ayes: Nicholson, Parker, Rutherford, Carrington, Goodman, and McGuinness 
No: None 
Motion Carried 

Resolutions Continued 
City Council 
23-82 Resolution Demanding Accountability by DTE Energy for Pontiac Residents. 
(Agenda Add-on)Moved by Councilperson Goodman and second by Councilperson Carrington. 

Motion to amend Resolution _Demanding Accountability by DTE Energy for 
Pontiac Residents. Moved by Councilperson Goodman and second by Councilperson Nicholson. 

Whereas, DTE Energy has a history of unreliability in providing "what should be" continuous, quality 
service to residents throughout our region, highlighting the windstosm blackouts of 2017, 2019, 202 l, 
and last Wednesday's ice storm, all of which resulted in up- ards of 800,000 residents losing power; 

Ayes: Carrington, Gootl,man, McGuinness, Nicholson and Parker 
No: None 
Motion Carried 
Councilwoman Rutherford was absent dm-ing the vote. 

Whereas, the most recent ice storm that affected the G1eat lakes Region left 1 million residents without 
power, out of that, 800,000 were in th,e state of Michigan; and 
Whereas, as of Monday, Fehr ary 2711 , 93,000 homes in Michigan had been without power for 5 days; 
and 
Whereas, by comparison the state ofl linois had about t2,000 customer outages, while the states of 
Wisconsjn, Indiana, and Ohio combined had a fewer than 3,000 outages combined; and 
Where s, die State of Minnesota rece-ived 21 inches of snow during the storm, and that state had a grand 
total of ni e 11,_ousehold outa es; nd 
Whereas, D E Energy has a histmy of unreliability in providing what should be continuous, quality 
service to residents throughout our l'egion, highl'ighting the windstorm blackouts of 2017, 2019, 2021, 
and last Wednesd{\y's ice storm, alJ o which resulted in upwards of 800,000 residents losing power; and 
Whereas, utility watchdog group diti ens Utility Board ranked DTE as one of the least reliable utilities 
in the nation; and 
Whereas over the last decade DTE Jtnergy and Consumers Energy have increased residents' costs by 
50% while costs for industrial customers remained flat, causing Michiganders pay some of the nation's 
highest rates for subpar services; and 
Whereas, on Thursday, Februaiy 23, 2023, as tens of thousands of its customers were shivering cold in 
the dark, DTE Energy held its Fomih Quarter earnings call, where it was celebrated that the company 
made a profit over $1.1 Billion for the year; and 
Whereas, DTE Energy is asking for another rate hike that will give them over $600 Million in new 
revenues off of the backs of working-class Pontiac and Michigan residents; and 
Whereas, investigative media reports have found DTE Energy shut off service to tens of thousands of 
customers while receiving hundreds of millions in COVID relief dollars from the federal government; 
and 
Whereas, DTE Energy has exponentially more outages by ratio when compared to areas of the state that 
rely on a form of municipal public utility, such as the Lansing Board of Water and Light and the Holland 

4 



February 28, 2023 Draft 

Board of Public Works; now, 
Therefore, be it Resolved, the Pontiac City Council supports the reintroduction of Michigan House Bills 
6043-6047, which would have set a formula for utility companies to reimburse customers for service 
interruptions, require utility companies to give compensation to consumers for repeated outages, and 
stipulates that the credits must come from company profits and cannot be charged back to ratepayers; 
and further 
Resolved, the Pontiac City Council pledges our suppoli for the call of a state level investigatory 
committee hearings on these outages, and explore the extent ofDTE's political lobbying; and fmther 
Resolved, the Pontiac City Council pledges our suppo1t for the call to have the state legislature 
commission a study on tlie reliability and outages of DTE Energy versus other Michigan public utilities, 
and other utilities across the country; and fmiher 
Resolved, the Pontiac City Council calls on the state legislature to start a committee researching the 
feasibility of a democratically accountable, state-run utility in Micliigan. 

Ayes: Parker, Rutherford, Carrington, Goodman, McGuinness and Nicholson 
No: None 
Amended Resolution Passed 

Depa11ment of Public Works (DPW) 
23-83 Resolution to authorize the City Clerk to Post Notice of Builget mendment for 
Department of Public Works Engineering Services ~n the amount of $$360,000, ivtoved by 
Councilperson Rutherford and second by Councilperson Goodman. 

WHEREAS, the DPW is operating without 'ty Engineer and 0tner supp011ing staff for many months in 
the current budget year. Hence, acting DP qirector has been using Consultant Engineer to perform 
these engineering functions for DPW and o he1 depa 1ments. As the QUtside Consultants are more 
expensive than the internal taff, savings in tfi pay and benefit cost is not enough to offset the cost of 
external consultants~ an_p, 

WHEREAS, this amen ent address s the funding shortfall in the Engineering Services account 
through the end of this fiscal year; ancd, 

WHEREAS, this budget amendhlent will decrease the fund balance in the Fund l O I - General Fund by 
$119,700; 

NOW THEREFORE, BE RESOhVED, that the City Council hereby authorizes the City Clerk to publish 
in a newspaper the proposed bud e amendment for Fiscal Year 2022-23 as requested by the 
Administration as given below: 

This budget amendment aJlocates he funds in the categories as given below: 

10 l-44 7-806.000 Engineerrng Services 
101-447-702.000 Salaries & Wages 
101-44 7-715 .000 FICA City Contribution 
101-447-718.500 MERS Employer Contribution 
101-447-716.000 Medial Insurance 

Net Decrease in the General Fund Balance 

$360,000 
($200,000), 
($15,300), 
($10,000), 
($15,000) 

$119,700 

Ayes: Carrington, Goodman, McGuinness, Nicholson, Parker and Rutherford 
No: None 
Resolution Passed 

5 



February 28, 2023 Draft 

23-84 Resolution approving the appointment of Allen Cooley III as DPW Dfrector. 
Moved by Councilperson Goodman and second by Councilperson Nicholson. 

WHEREAS, The City of Pontiac has been without a permanent director of DPW for over 12 months 
and; 
WHEREAS, Mr. Allen Cooley, III has successfully filled that vacancy during this period and; 
WHEREAS, Mr. Cooley has over two decades of experience in municipal DPW services and~ 
WHEREAS, Mr. Cooley has demonstrated that he is qualified to lead, the department, 
NOW, THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED, The Pontiac City Council approves Mr. Allen Cooley, III to 
be the DPW Director for the City of Pontiac. 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that upon this appointment, Mr. Cooley's sala1y will be increased 3% 
to $103,721.09. 

Finance 

Ayes: Goodman, McGuinness, Nicholson and Ruthefford 
No: Parker and Carrington 
Resolution Passed 

23-85 Resolution to authorize the City Clerk to Post Notice of Budget Amendment for 
Finance Department Accounting Support Professional Services in the amount of $40,000. Moved 
by Councilperson Nicholson and second by Councilperson Rutherford. 

WHEREAS, the positions of the Finan e Director, Senior Accountant and Grant Accountant positions 
remain vacant for many months, hence, he f'inance department is in dire need of a couple of tempora1y 
accounting staff to perform the critical accountingJ'unctions such as bank reconciliation, month end close, 
write adjustingjournal entries etc.; and, 
WHEREAS, there is a shortfall the in the funding for telephone services: and, 
WHEREAS, there is a shortfall in the appropriation in the Pt'ofessional Service account to pay the 
Consultants CVHT CPAs; and, 
WHEREAS, this budge amendment will decrease t I e und balance in the Fund 101 - General Fund by 
$40,000; 
NOW THEREFORE, BE RESOLVED, that the City Co ncil hereby authorizes the City Clerk to 
publish in an wspaper the proposed budget amendment for Fiscal Year 2022-23 as requested by the 
Adm in· stt tion as given below: 

This budge amendment allocates the filnds in the categories as given below: 

101-201-818.000 Other Professional Services 
101-201-851.000 Se1wices-Comm ni ation Telephone 
IO 1-206-851.000 Servi--ees .. Com unieation Telephone 
IO 1-206-819 .000 Contractll,al Temp/PT Labor 
101-206-702.000 Salaries & Wages 
101-206-715.000 FICA City Contribution 
101-206-718.500- MERS Employer Contribution 
101-206-721.010 - Healthcare Waiver 

Net Decrease in the General Fund Balance 

$40,000 
$800 

$1,600 
$28,800 
($25,000) 
($1,913) 
($1,250) 
($3,037) 

$40,000 

Ayes: McGuinness, Nicholson, Parker, Carrington and Goodman 
No: None 
Resolution Passed 
Councilwoman Rutherford was absent during the vote 

6 



February 28, 2023 Draft 

Purchasing 
23-86 Resolution approving a Three-Year Contract Extension with CompOne for the 
City's Third Party Administrator Services. Moved by Councilperson Nicholson and second by 
Councilperson Parker. 

Whereas, the Purchasing Division has completed its due diligence by requesting a contract amendment in 
accordance with the City's municipal code, Division II. Purchasing, Section 2-519; 
Whereas, the Purchasing Manager is requesting to establish a three-year extension with CompOne, with 
options to renew at the discretion of the mayor; 
Now, Therefore, The Pontiac City Council approves the execution of a three-year extension with 
CompOne, executed by the Mayor. 

Treasury 

Ayes: McGuinness, Nicholson, Parker, Rutherford, Carrington and Goodman 
No: None 
Resolution Passed 

23-87 Resolution approving Annual Board of review Hardship Exe ption Guidelines. 
Moved by Councilperson Goodman and second by Councilperson Rutherford. 

WHEREAS, City Council has reviewed the Board of Review's reQuest in addition to the State of 
Michigan's Procedural Changes for 202g Assessment year, discussed the potential changes, and have 
come to a decision to increase the income li if for the 2023 tax as0n from lx to 1.2Sx the federal 
poverty guideline. 1n addition, City Council as discussed and agree~ t give the Board the discretion to 
offer 25%, 50%, or 100% reduction for appro e hardship appeals. 
NOW, THEREFORE,BE IT RESOLVED, The Pontiac citx Council herby agrees to increase the income 
limit for the 2023 tax season to 1.25x the federal ROVetty guideline and will give the Board the discretion 
to offer 25%, 50%, or 100% reduction for approved hardship appeals. 

Ayes: Nicholson, Barker, Rutherford, Garrington, Goodman and McGuinness 
No: Nohe 
Resolution Passed 

Public Co ment 
I. Quiney Stewaii 
2. Kenny Ande ·son 
3. Renee Beckley 
4. Dr. Deirdre Waterman 
5. Chuck Johnson 
6. Larry Jasper 

Discussion 
Oakland County Expanded Transit Services, Bus Lines 

Closed Session 
23-88 Resolution to proceed into Closed Session at 9:17 p.m. pursuant to Sections 8(d) and 
8(h) of the Opeu Meetings Act, MCL 15.268 e and (h), to discuss to consider the purchase of certain 
real property; and the confidential legal opinion of counsel in connection with the purchase of real 
prope1·ty. Moved by Councilperson Rutherford and second by Councilperson Parker. 

7 



February 28, 2023 Draft 

WHEREAS, Section 8( d) of the Michigan Open Meetings Act provides that a public body may meet in 
Closed Session to consider the purchase or lease of real prope1ty up to the time an option to purchase or 
lease that real property is obtained; and 

WHEREAS, the Michigan Open Meetings Act provides that a public body may meet in Closed Session to 
consider material exempt from discussion or disclosure by state or federal statute; and 
WHEREAS, written confidential communications that are the subject of attorney-client privilege are 
exempt from disclosure and may be discussed in Closed Session pursuant to Section 8(h) of the Open 
Meetings Act, MCL 15.268(h). 
NOW THEREFOR BE IT RESOLVED, the City Council will proceed in Closed Session pursuant to 
Sections 8(d) and 8(h) of the Open Meetings Act, MCL 15.268(e) and (h), to discuss to consider the 
purchase of certain real property; and the confidential legal opinion qf counsel in connection with the 
purchase of real property. 

Ayes: Parker, Rutherford, Carrington, Goodman, McGuinness and Nicholson 
No: None 
Resolution Passed 

Motion to come out of Closed Session at 10:07 p.m. Moved b Councilperson Goodman 
and second by Councilperson Rutherford. 

Ayes: Rutherford, Carrington, Goodman, McGui ness, Nicholson and Parker 
No: None 
Motion Carried 

Councilman Carrington left the meeting at l 0:07 p.m. 

Suspend the Rules 
Motion o suspend t e ·ules to a thorize Phase 2 ESA $15,000 for real property site 

condition consideration. Moved by <Do ncilperson utherford and second by Councilperson Nicholson. 

Ayes: Goodma McGuinness, Nicholson, Parker and Rutherford 
No: one 
Motion Carried 

23-89 Resolution approving a recommendation for Phase 2 ESA in the amount of $15,000 
for real property site condition consideration with NTH Consultants LTD, and authorize the 
Mayor to execute the agre.ement. (~ enda Add-on) Moved by Councilperson Parker and second by 
Councilperson Nicho1son. 

Pontiac City Council hereb Be It Resolved, that we authorize Mayor Tim Greimel to enter into an 
agreement with NTH Consultan s LTD, to conduct Phase 2 ESA in the amount of $15,800 for real 
property under consideration. 

Ayes: Goodman, McGuinness, Nicholson, Parker and Rutherford 
No: None 
Resolution Passed 

Communications 
City Council and Mayor's Office 

Mayor, Clerk and Council Closing Comments 

8 



February 28, 2023 Draft 

Mayor Greimel, Clerk Doyle, Councilwoman Melanie Rutherford, Councilman Brett Nicholson, 
Councilman Mikal Goodman, Councilman William Parker Jr., and Council President Mike McGuiness 
made closing comments. 

Adjournment 
Motion to adjourn the meeting. Moved by Councilperson Parker and second by 

Cou nci )person Rutherford. 

Ayes: McGuinness, Nicholson, Parker, Rutherford and Goodman 
No: None 
Motion Carried 

Council President Mike McGuinness adjourned the meeting at I 0:23 p.m. 

Garland S. Doyle 
City Clerk 

9 



Exhibit A 

2-371. 

Ordinance #2404 
An ordinance to Amend the Planning Commission Bylaws 

The City of Pontiac Ordains: 

PLANNING COMMISSION BYLAWS 

City of Pontiac 

Municipal Code - Article V - Boards and 
Commissions 

Scope, purpose and intent. 

This division is adopted pursuant to the authority granted to the city under the Michigan Planning 
Enabling Act, Public Act No. 33 of 2008 (MCL 125.3801 et seq.) to establish a City Planning 
Commission with the powers, duties and limitations provided by those Acts and subject to the terms and 
conditions of this division and any future amendments to this division. 

The purpose of this division is to provide that the City of Pontiac shall hereby confirm the establishment 
under the Michigan Planning Enabling Act, Public Act No. 33 of 2008 (MCL 125.3801, et seq.) to 
establish the appointments, terms, and membership of the city planning commission; to identify officers 
and the minimum number of meetings per year of the city planning commission; and to prescribe the 
authority, powers and duties of the city planning commission. 

(Ord. No. 2222, § 2 (Exh. A), 5-20-11; Ord. No. 2224, § 1, 5-20-11) 

2-372. Composition; terms. 

a. Under and by virtue of the authority in Act No. 33 of the Public Acts of Michigan of 2008 
(MCL 125.3801 et seq.), there is created a city planning commission, formerly established 
under the former Act No. 285 of the Public Acts of Michigan of 1931 (MCL 125.31 et. 
seq.). The city planning commission sha11 consist of six (6) members plus one (1) ex officio 
member for a total of seven (7) members. All Planning Commission Members, including the 
ex officio member, shall be appointed by the mayor, subject to approval by a majority vote 
of the City Council, as provided in state law. 

b. City planning commission members shall be qualified electors of the city (i.e., a United 
States citizen who is eighteen (18) years old, and who has been a resident of the State of 
Michigan for six (6) months and a resident of the City for at least thirty (30) days), except 
that one city planning commission member may be an individual who is not qualified 
elector of the City. 

c. An appointed member of the city planning commission shall hold no other municipal 
office, except that one member may be a member of the zoning board of appeals or a 
member of the joint fire administrative board, except one ex officio member. No elected 
officer or employee of the City is eligible to be a member of the city planning commission, 
except one ex officio member. 

d. The term of each appointed member shall be three (3) years and shall serve for the terms 
herein specified, unless removed before the expiration of the term pursuant to this division 
or state law and except as provided in subsection (f) below. 

e. Members of the city planning commission shall represent, insofar as is possible, different 
professions or occupations. By way of example and to the extent practicable, members 
should come from the economic, governmental, educational, and social development 
segments of the City of Pontiac, in accordance with the major interests as they exist in the 
City of Pohtiac, such as agricultural, natural resources, recreation, education, public 
health, government, transportation, industiy, and commerce. The membership shall also 
be representative of the entire territory of the City of Pontiac to the extent practicable. 



f. The tenns of the six (6) members shall be for three (3) years and commence on July 1, 
2011; provided, however, that three members of the first city planning commission to be 
appointed hereunder shall serve unti1 June 30, 2012, two members until June 30, 2013, and 
two members until June 30, 2014. Thereafter all members shall be appointed for a term of 
three years and shall serve until their successors are appointed and qualified. The term of ex 
officio member shall be concurrent with the term of office of the Mayor of the City of 
Pontiac. A member will hold the position until a successor is appointed, although the mayor, 
shall nominate an appointee three (3) months prior to the expiration of a sitting 
appointee's term for consideration as an appointee under the provisions of this 
division. 

g. The ex officio member shall include the mayor or a person appointed by him. 
h. No member of the city planning commission shall receive any compensation as such. 

(Ord. No. 2222, § 2 (Exh. A), 5-20-11; Ord. No. 2224, § 2, 5-20-11; Ord. No. 2236, § l, 12-5-11) 

Cross references-Buildings and building regulations, ch. 22. 
State law references- Michigan Planning Enabling Act, MCL 125.3801 et seq. 

2-373. Officers' election; meeting. 

a. The city planning commission shall elect its chairman from among the appointed members 
and create and fill such other of its offices as it may determine. The term of chairman shall 
be one (1) year, with eligibility for reelection. 

b. The city planning commission shall hold at least one regular meeting in each month. 
c. The city planning commission shall comply with the Open Meetings Act. 

(Ord. No. 2222, § 2 (Exh. A), 5-20-11; Ord. No. 2224, § 3, 5-20-11) 

2-374. Removal of city planning commission member vacancy. 

a. Members of the city planning commission may, after written charges and a public hearing 
occurring no sooner than ten (10) days after the preparation of written charges, be removed 
by the mayor for the following reasons: conflict of interest; inefficiency; neglect of duty; 
malfeasance, misfeasance or nonfeasance in office; lack of qualifications; incompetency; 
misconduct; conviction of a felony; or a violation of this charter (including the charter's 
conflict of interest provisions) or any job-related ordinance, rule or regulation. 

b. Members shall disclose of all potential conflicts of interest and may not vote on a matter 
for which the member has a conflict of interest. Failure to disclose potential conflicts of 
interest or voting on matters for which the member has a conflict of interest is considered 
malfeasance in office. 

c. In the case of the termination of membership of any member of the city planning 
commission before the expiration of his te1m, through resignation, removal or any other 
reason, the vacancy shall be filled by appointment by the mayor, subject to the approval by 
a majority vote of the members of the city council, for the unexpired term of the member 
whose membership has terminated, as provided in state law. 

(Ord. No. 2222, § 2 (Exh. A), 5-20-11; Ord. No. 2224, § 4, 5-20-11) 



2-375. City liability limited; expenditures. 

No liability shall be incuned by the city planning commission, nor shall any employee be 
hired or contract made with any person, except on the approval of the city planning 
commission by resolution. No expenditure of any funds shall be made unless such funds are 
first appropriated and set aside by the city planning commission. 

(Ord. No. 2222, § 2 (Exh. A), 5-20-11; Ord. No. 2224, § 5, 5-20-11) 

2-376. Additional duties 

The City Planning Commission shall: 
a. Under the authority in Act No. 33 of the Public Acts of Michigan of 2008 (MCL 125.3801 

et seq.), and other applicable planning statutes, the Planning Commission shall make a 
master plan as a guide for development within the City's planning jurisdiction; 

b. Keep a public record of all resolutions, transactions, findings and determinations, 
including, but not limited to, making all final agendas and minutes available on the City 
Planning Commission's website; and 

c. Make an annual written report to the Mayor and City Council of the City Planning 
Commission's operations and status of planning activities. 

d. Be exempted from preparing the capital improvement program in accordance with MCL 
125.3865. The capital improvement program shall be prepar'ed by the Community 
Development Director, subject to final approval by the City Council. 

(Ord. No. 2222, § 2 (Exh. A), 5-20-11; Ord. No. 2224, § 6, 5-20-11; Ord. No. 2298, § I, 7-7-13) 

2-377. State regulations applicable. 

The city planning commission, except as provided in this division, shall be governed by the 
rules and regulations set forth in Act No. 33 of the Public Acts of Michigan of 2008 (MCL 
125.3801 et seq.), as amended. The purpose of the city planning commission shall be the 
adoption of a city plan and a zoning ordinance for the control of the height, area, bulk, 
location and use of buildings and premises in the city. 

(Ord. No. 2222, § 2 (Exh. A), 5-20-11; Ord. No. 2224, § 7, 5-20-11) 



#3 

ORDINANCE 



Mark Vandrick 
Planning Manager 
myandrick@pontiac.mi.us 
248-758-2824 

TO: City Council 

The HEART of O;akland County 

FROM: 

DATE: 

Mark Yandrick, Planning Manager 

March 3, 2023, Revised March 6, 2023 

Community Development 
Department 

Planning Division 
47450 Woodward Avenue 

Pontiac, Ml 48342 

RE: Staff Report: Adult User Marihuana Zoning Text Amendment, Woodward Gateway Overlay 

District Zoning Map Amendment 

Executive Summary: 
City Staff propose Zoning Text and Zoning Map Amendments to permit Adult-Use Marihuana land uses 

within the City of Pontiac. 

There are two (2) versions of each of the proposed amendments provided. One includes the updated 
regulations, including the newly proposed Woodward Gateway Overlay District; and the other includes 

updated regulations only. 

Planning Commission reviewed the Zoning Map Amendments during a public hearing at the March 1, 
2023 Planning Commission meeting and recommended approval of the Ordinance that includes the 
Woodward Gateway Overlay District. Planning Commission also reviewed the Text Amendments at the 
same meeting and recommended approval of the Ordinance that includes the Woodward Gateway 

Overlay District with four (4) conditions of approval. 

Update March 61 2023 
After advice from legal counsel, the Zoning Map and Text Amendments we merged into one combined 
Ordinance as the two are predicated on each other's passing. City Council should review the two 
Ordinances as presented to City Council with one including the Woodward Gateway Overlay District and 
one without the Woodward Gateway Overlay District. Attached are the revised ordinances that are 

combined. 

Overview: 
City Council approved Resolution 22-189 on July 5, 2022, directing City Administration to draft a 
Municipal Code and Zoning Code ordinance for regulated sales of recreational marihuana (hereby known 
as Adult-Use Marihuana) in Pontiac. This resolution was adopted to highlight support for the exploration 
of ordinances permitting and regulating Adult-Use Marihuana land uses in the City. 

City Council is concurrently considering amendments to the Pontiac Municipal Code. Both the proposed 
Municipal Code and Zoning Code amendments aim to adopt home-rule regulations for the City of Pontiac, 
that follows the guidelines of the Michigan Regulation and Taxation of Marihuana Act of 2018. 

The City Administration and Staff's goal is to create regulations similar but stronger zoning regulations to 
the City's Medical Marihuana Regulations, which were passed by referendum in 2018, including 
restricting adult-use marihuana facilities to the three (3) Overlay Districts, which were previously created 
to allow for Medical Marihuana facility uses. Because the City is initiating these amendments, as opposed 



Zoning Text & Map Amendment Staff Report by; Mark Yandrick 
Adult Use Marihuana March 6, 2023 

to a referendum created by outside special interest groups, the City has more flexibility to create a new 
ordinance that aligns the regulations with the City's vision and goals and restricts the majority of the land 
uses to the three (3) or four (4) Overlay Districts. 

Because Table 2 for is proposed to be renumbered to Table 2.1 to create Table 2.2 for Adult-Use 
Marihuana Uses permitted in the Overlay Districts, the sections that identify Table 2 are included in this 

Ordinance. 

Proposal: 
The proposed amendment includes the authorization for the following nine (9) Adult-Use Marihuana uses to operate 

in certain designated "Overlay Districts" within the City. 

1. Designated Consumption Facilities 
2. Grower Facility 
3. Class A Microbusiness 
4. Processor 
5. Retailer 
6. Social Equity retailer 
7. Safety Compliance Facility 
8. Secure Transporter 

9. Temporary Marihuana Event 

The proposed amendment also sets forth reasonable zoning regulation for medical marihuana caregivers. 

Districts: 
Two (2) Ordinances are provided. One incorporates the three (3) Overlay Districts (Downtown Overlay District, Cesar 
E. Chavez Overlay District, and East Walton Overlay District) that were adopted for the Medical Marihuana Ordinance 
in the City of Pontiac in 2018, The other Ordinance regulates the uses in those three (3) overlay districts but includes 

a fourth district, the Woodward Overlay District. 

The three {3) overlay districts selected for the Medical Marihuana Ordinance were chosen for their economic diversity 
for different types of business and strategic priority where the presence of marihuana facilities may help revitalize 
these overlay districts. The Woodward Overlay District is considered primarily as the at-large conditional approvals 
for the City of Pontiac medical marihuana process were issued to locations on Woodward Avenue. 

~ 

2 



Zoning Text & Map Amendment 
Adult Use Marihuana 

Exhibit A: East Walton Overlay District (District 1) 

~ e~c 

Staff Report by; Mark Yandrick 

March 6, 2023 

' "\. Exhibit 8: Cesar E. Chavez Overlay District (District 2) 

3 

,"''-~ I .. 

I 

\ 
' Exhibit C: Downtown Overlay District (District 3) 

1 
s 

' \ 



Zoning Text & Map Amendment 
Adult Use Marihuana 

Exhibit D: Proposed Woodward Gateway Overlay District 

(District 4) 

i Pa"< Pl 

" !!! .. 
!I41 a 

~ 
~ 
~ 

,., 
q..ol'> 

JSI 

vel Ave 

er Ave 

bonAw 
I i ;'} f ~ 

,!! i , 
w nAve '2 < I 
iesAVO .,, • Ii fl'. .. 

~ i'I • • . 
'2 
:,: ., 

tana Aw \} 
i!. ,. 

Regulations: 

! i 
!!! !!! 

Apex Or 

9:11Jh Blvd W 

Hll5mor1Ave 

'<I " 

Wall St 

M a ms St 

Ru buma 

PA>.spect a 

EW,\sonA• 

MOV\11yAve 

• 
!I41 

"" 

"'rAve 

l\onAff 

W nAv. 

·oraAve 

wd!I AVI 

I 
! 
0 

Staff Report by; Mark Yandrick 
March 6, 2023 

Exhibit E: Proposed Woodward Gateway Overlay Exhibit 
District with underlying Zoning District 
f ta V,blftil 
l Pa!\PI ; £! 
!!J I I 

i i 

1 
<; 

f a 
! 

M-1 

Concourse 

t i A~ xOr 

Q 8)1Ah 81vd W 

~ 
if 
& 

f I l .. 
Neb111U Aw ';. 

a 

l 
K 
l 

Hlhmart A'l'I 

~ rd, ltAn, Ttlnfty HealtH : : : 
(St. Joseph's) : : : 

Table 2.1 and Table 2.2 of the proposed zoning text amendment identifies the Zoning and Overlay Districts that 

each use is permitted or requires a Special Exception permit. 

All uses must seek a Special Exception approval from Planning Commission except for the Temporary Marihuana 
Event, which only requires licensing from the Pontiac City Clerk and any necessary zoning and building approvals. 
This Special Exception includes any medica l marihuana facilities that seek to convert to an adult-use marihuana 

facility. 

In summary, Designated Consumption Facilities, Class A Microbusinesses and Temporary Marihuana Event 
Licensees may on ly seek approval to operate in the C-2 Downtown Overlay District. Grower Facilities and 
Processors may only seek approval in the East Walton and Cesar Chavez Overlay Dist ricts. Secure Transporter 
facilities and Safety Compliance Facilities, are allowed to operate in the East Walton Boulevard and Cesar E. Chavez 
Adult-Use Marihuana Business Overlay Districts. The remaining Adult-Use Marihuana Retailers and Adult-Use 
Marihuana Social Equity Retailers may seek approval in each of the three (3) or four (4) Overlay Districts. 

The regu lations also regulate securit y, space separation, prohibiting nuisance, disposal of water, licensing, signage, 

colocation, building design, and site sign. 

Signage: 
There are some limitations to the images and wording of Adult-Use Marihuana sign age that are 
proposed due to drug-related content, such as marihuana leaves and w ording associated w ith 

marihuana. 

4 



Zoning Text & Map Amendment Staff Report by; Mark Yandrick 
Adult Use Marihuana March 6, 2023 

There are signage requirements that Adult-Use Marihuana signage needs to be a certain 
Bufferyard from Outside of that, the signage regulations for these uses will be required to 
follow the sign regulations from Chapter 5 of the City's Zoning Code. Note that there are 
certain bufferyards for adult-use marihuana signage away from schools and daycares. 

Site Requirements: 
Several regulations for Adult Use Marihuana facilities are proposed that, when adopted, would be 

required when seeking their Special Exception Permit. 
Lighting 
A minimum site lighting, including minimum foot-candles and lighting levels is proposed for all 
parking and pedestrian areas in Retail, Social Equity retail, Class A Micro businesses and 

Designated Consumption Facilities. 

Parking Lot Landscaping 
Parking lot landscaping and bufferyards will be need to be established between marihuana 
uses and properties zoned R-1, R-la, R-lb, and R-2. Additionally 

Building Design 
Planning Commission will review the Building Design during the Special Exception permit 
process. Adult Use Marihuana establishments will be restricted from the percentage of 
windows that may be removed, shaded or made opaque. This figure is between 30% and 60% 
depending on the use and additionally, windows facing public streets may not be made 
opaque. However, Planning Commission is given discretion to require alternative architectural 
features in lieu of windows or opaqueness whenever the applicant is able to provide proof that 
their proposal meets state requirements beyond the City code requires. 

Caregivers 
Caregivers are proposed to be established as a land use. Due to nuisance and aesthetic concerns of electric 
demand, smell, and pollution for the Caregiver use, the City is proposing caregivers may only be located by in 

the IP-1 and M-1 Zoning Districts. 

This Ordinance identifies Caregivers as a use and restricts them to Hours of Operation 
Planning Commission recommended approval of retail establishments in the Downtown Overlay District to 

match to Designated Consumption Lounge Facility, which are 7 am - 2 am. 

Retai l and social equity retail establishments that are located in the other three (3) overlay districts are 
allowed to operate from 7 am - 10pm. These hours match the regulations for Medical Marihuana for sim ilar 
uses. While Planning Commission considered alignment to closing hours of retail facilities and regulations 
throughout the State of Michigan, which is primarily 9 pm, they decided to keep the hours the same as the 

approved Medical Marihuana facilities, which is adopted as 10 pm in the City of Pontiac. 

Site Inspections 
Proposed requirement include that each Adult-Use Marihuana establishment and Caregiver operation must 
be able to provide an inspection at any time by City officials, including the Fire and Building Departments. 
Failure to comply with the inspection or to pass an inspection allows the City to use zoning police powers to 

suspend operations until the site is brought back into compliance 

5 



Zoning Text & Map Amendment Staff Report by; Mark Yandrick 
Adult Use Marihuana March 6, 2023 

Additional Analysis on Proposed Ordinance, include Woodward Gateway Overlay District: 
Community Economic Benefits: 
For similar reasons to medical marihuana, the economic benefit from these new medical marihuana 
businesses will generate increased revenue to the City through medical marihuana application fees and 
excise, sales, income and property taxes. These revenues may fund City services for the betterment of 
the entire community. Adult-Use Marihuana facilities would open the doors to new businesses, jobs, 
and opportunities and spur development/redevelopment opportunities in areas in need of revitalization 
and investment. Additionally, when the City studied the City's Tax Increment Finance Authority [TIFA] 
Development Areas, significant economic benefits were identified for locating medical marihuana 
facilities within the TIFA 3 Development Area to increase revenues to pay down outstanding debt. 

The Overlay Districts: 
Existing Overlay Districts 
The proposed Adult-Use Marihuana Overlay Districts identify three (3) existing overlay districts that are 
identical to the Medical Marihuana Overlay Districts. These three (3) Districts, which include the C-2 
Downtown Overlay District, the East Walton Overlay District, and the Cesar Chavez Overlay District, 
were identified for the Medical Marihuana legislation for the following reasons: 

• Significant number of properties zoned C-2, C-3, M-1, and M-2; 
• Marihuana businesses are appropriate land uses and compatible with current businesses; 
• A sound, sustainable approach to centralize marihuana businesses to encourage further 

private and public investment; 
• Marihuana businesses would be located on either an MDOT state trunkline [Cesar Chavez] 

or a Major Road [Walton Boulevard); 
• The roads have sufficient capacity to handle additional traffic; 
• Marihuana businesses in these corridors will have minimal impact on residential neighbors; 
• Corridors are fully serviced by utilities/infrastructure with sufficient capacity, and; 
• Police and fire will have quick access with minimal response time to the Overlay Districts. 

Woodward Gateway Corridor 
The proposal for the Woodward Gateway Corridor are properties along Woodward Avenue from Central 
Avenue to Woodward Avenue Corridor is one of the leading gateways into the City. This gateway is an 
extension of the M-1 highway from Detroit to Pontiac and efficiently brings visitors into the City and 
Downtown Pontiac. This corridor is a main gateway to Downtown Pontiac and according to the most 
recent Southeast Michigan Council of Governments (SEMCOG) data, this stretch records an average daily 
traffic count of approximately 14,000-17,000 vehicles per day depending on the stretch of Woodward. 

The M-1 Concourse, on the northwest corner of South Boulevard and Woodward Avenue, is considered a 
staple of the corridor. The 76-acre property hosts entertainment events throughout the year and attracts 
visitors to the site. Aside from M-1, the Trinity Health Oakland Hospital Campus has a prominent hospital 
near Martin Luther King Boulevard. The other uses include various Commercial Corridor (C-3), and Light 
Industrial (M-1) zoned properties where storage facilities, light industrial businesses, and a handful of 
retail, restaurants, and gas stations on the property exist on the corridor. 

The importance of this corridor is that it brings drivers and visitors to Downtown Pontiac. The approved 
Medical Marihuana and the proposed Adult-Use Marihuana Ordinances' intent is to be a redevelopment 
strategy for Downtown Pontiac and the two other Overlay District corridors. Staff has concerns that 
allowing Adult Use Marihuana on Woodward Avenue would allow visitors from the south, southeast, and 
southwest points of the City to be able to purchase from a business on the Woodward Gateway Corridor, 

6 



Zoning Text & Map Amendment 
Adult Use Marihuana 

stopping them from entering Downtown Pontiac. 

Staff Report by; Mark Yandrick 
March 6, 2023 

While the City is looking to promote Adult-Use Marihuana in the City, staff's proposal is only for two (2) 
regular retail businesses and one (1) social equity retailer because it is a small corridor of properties. The 
goal is to make Pontiac economically viable for a diversity of land uses, not just from one industry or land 

use in this corridor. 

Looking further at the current configuration of the corridor, there are some building facades and 
properties that are showing age, disrepair and lack of upkeep to modern development. This can be partly 
attributed due to the lack of effective planning and economic development strategies over the last 12 
years. Current Community Development managers have identified this as an area for future revitalization 
strategies. This corridor is a key gateway to the City. Woodward Avenue is a wide road that can handle 
much higher traffic volumes. Having a cluster of Adult-Use Marihuana businesses on this corridor may 
limit what design, land use, and placemaking strategies occur on this gateway in the future. A key question 
is whether Adult-Use Marihuana on Woodward Avenue would restrict and aid future growth on this 
corridor and whether adult-use marihuana on Woodward Avenue would impact redevelopment 
opportunities in the other three (3) Overlay Districts. Additionally, would Woodward Gateway Overlay 
District restrict future land uses siting on this corridor if a site was surrounded by Adult-Use Marihuana 
businesses? While the addition of Adult-Use Marihuana in the City is an intended as a strategy with the 
proposed legislation, staff does not want to restrict future corridor growth opportunities from Adult-Use 

Marihuana businesses on this corridor. 

Summary: 
The proposed Zoning Ordinance Text Amendments establishes one (1) of the two (2) attached ordinances 
with either three (3) or four (4) Adult-Use Marihuana Overlay Districts [AU MOD) and creates nine (9) land 
uses for Adult-Use Marihuana in the City of Pontiac. Each use needs to obtain a conditional and final 
licensing approval from the City of Pontiac City Clerk office and receive Special Exception approval from 
Planning Commission to operate in the desired location, before receiving zoning and building occupancy 
approvals. The proximity of the licensed, approved medical marihuana facilities by the state of Michigan 
and the City of Pontiac will have to be more than 1,000 feet from a public or private school, and more than 
500 feet from a commercial childcare center, a public park with playground equipment. Additionally, there 
would be a 500-foot buffer for a tax-exempt religious institution in only the Cesar E. Chavez and Walton 
Boulevard Overlay Districts. Because of the cluster of buildings, businesses, and churches downtown, this 
religious institution buffer would not apply to downtown. Additionally, the use needs to establish a safe 
amount of lighting, landscaping and architecture while providing a certain minimum coverage, established 
by each Adult-Use Marihuana land use, for the aesthetic of windows. 

These amendments aim to provide the community economic benefits, while the location primari ly in 
Overlay Districts established areas of best siting that limit the impact to neighboring residential 
communities. The site design standards protect the health, safety, welfare, and aesthetics of the 

neighborhoods and corridors surrounding each business. 

7 



Zoning Text & Map Amendment 
Adult Use Marihuana 

Planning Commission Recommendation, Zoning Map Amendment: 

Staff Report by; Mark Yandrick 
March 6, 2023 

Planning Commission Recommended APPROVAL, 3-1, of the Zoning Map Amendment that included the 

Woodward Gateway Overlay District. 

City Council Motions will be presented in this memo for second reading. 

Planning Commission Recommendation, Zoning Text Amendment: 
Planning Commission Recommended APPROVAL, 4-0, of the Ordinance with the Woodward with the 

following (4) conditions of approval at the March 1, 2023 Planning Commission meeting. 
1. The Municipal Attorney may amend this proposed Text Amendment before it is presented to City 

Council to align the Zoning Text Amendments with any Municipal Code Amendments to the Adult-Use 

Marihuana Ordinance. 
2. This Zoning Text Amendment is contingent upon the Zoning Map Amendment for the Woodward 

Gateway District being adopted by City Council. 
3. The permitted hours of operations for marihuana retailers and social equity retailers in the 

Woodward Gateway Overlay District, Cesar E. Chavez Overlay District, and the East Walton Overlay 

District shall be 7 am - 10pm. 
4. The use of other shades and shade color shall be added to the sections regarding the opaqueness 

restrictions for windows. 

Conditions #1, #3, and #4 have been incorporated into t he Zoning Text Amendment 

City Council Motions will be presented in this memo for second reading. 

Attachments: 
• Planning Commission Decision Letter for Zoning Map Amendment 

• Planning Commission Decision Letter for Zoning Text Amendment 

• Proposed Zoning Text and Map Amendment Ordinance, without the Woodward Overlay District 

(CLEAN) 
• Proposed Zoning Text and Map Amendment Ordinance, without the Woodward Overlay District 

(REDLIN ED) 
• Proposed Zoning Text and Map Amendment Ordinance, with the Woodward Overlay District 

(CLEAN) 
• Proposed Zoning Text and Map Amendment Ordinance, with the Woodward Overlay District 

(REDLINED) 
• Map of the four (4) Adult-Use Marihuana Overlay Districts, with the Woodward Overlay District 

• Resolution to adopt the first reading of the Proposed Zoning Text and Map Amendment 

Ordinance, without the Woodward Overlay District 
• Resolution to adopt the first reading of the Proposed Zoning Text and Map Amendment 

Ordinance, with the Woodward Overlay District 

8 



Mark Yandrick 
Planning Manager 
myandrick@pontiac.mi.us 
248-758-2824 

Mark Yandrick 
Planning Manager 

City of Pontiac 

47450 Woodward 

Pontiac, Ml 48342 

March 2, 2023 

Re: Decision of the Planning Commission 

Dear Mark Yandrick: 

Community Development 
Department 

Planning Division 
47450 Woodward Avenue 

Pontiac, Ml 48342 

This letter is to inform you of the decision of the Planning Commission that was held on 
Wednesday March 1, 2023. The Commission recommended approved Zoning Map Amendment for 
the creation of the Woodward Gateway Overlay District. The decision was voted 3-1 in favor. 

Sincerely, 

JJvt1 v tfJl/e-
Carla Cade 
Planning Technician 



Mark Yandrick 
Planning Manager 
myandrick@pontiac.mi.us 
248-758-2824 

Mark Yandrick 
47450 Woodward 
Pontiac, MI 48342 

March 2, 2023 

Re: Decision of the Planning Commission 

Dear Mark Yandrick: 

Community Development 
Department 

Planning Division 
47450 Woodward Avenue 

Pontiac, Ml 48342 

This letter is to inform you of the decision of the Planning Commission that was held on 
Wednesday, March 1, 2023. The Commission approved Zoning Text Amendment for the City Wide 
Ordinance. The decision was voted 4-0 in favor with the following (4) four conditions of approval. 

1. The Municipal Attorney may amend this proposed Text Amendment before it is 
presented to City Council to align the Zoning Text Amendments with any Municipal Code 

Amendments to the Adult-Use Marihuana Ordinance. 

2. This Zoning Text Amendment is contingent upon the Zoning Map Amendment for the 
Woodward Gateway District being adopted by City Council. 

3. The permitted hours of operations for marihuana retailers and social equity retailers in 

the Woodward Gateway Overlay District, Cesar E. Chavez Overlay District, and the East 

Walton Overlay District shall be 7 am -10pm. 
4. The use of other shades and shade color shall be added to the sections regarding the 

opaqueness restrictions for windows. 

Sincerely, 

~~ 
Carla Cade 
Planning Technician 



#3a 

ORDINANCE 



Resolution of the Pontiac City Council 
To Approve Zoning Ordinance Amendments to Regulate Adult-Use 
Marihuana Businesses and create Designated Adult-Use Marihuana 

Overlay Districts 

P• NlD 
The HEART of Oakland Count 

Resolution to Approve Zoning Ordinance Amendments to Regulate Adult-Use Marihuana 
Businesses and create four (4) Designated Adult-Use Marihuana Overlay Districts 

At a meeting of the City Council ("Council") of the City of Pontiac, County of Oakland, State of · 
Michigan (the "City") at a meeting held on March 7, 2023, at 47450 Woodward Ave, Pontiac, MI 
48342 at 6:00 p.m., there were: 

PRESENT: _____ _ _ _______ _ _______ __ _ 

ABSENT: 

The following preambles and resolution were offered by _ _______ and seconded by 

WHEREAS, before the City Council for consideration is an Ordinance to amend the City of Pontiac 
Zoning Ordinance to authorize Adult-Use Marihuana Businesses in designated overlay Districts; 
specifically, including the following Adult-Use Marihuana Overlay Districts (AUMODs): (1) 
Downtown Overlay District; (2) Cesar E. Chavez Overlay District; (3) East Walton Overlay District; 
and (4) Woodward Overlay District 

WHEREAS, the proposed Ordinance amendments also include adoption of amendment to the City's 
Zoning Map to create the aforementioned AUMODs, including the Woodward Gateway Overlay 
District. 

WHEREAS, the proposed Ordinance amendments also include reasonable zoning regulations on the 
operations of Primary Caregivers. 

WHEREAS, the City Council finds it is in the best interest of the health, safety, and welfare, to 
accept the Planning Commission's Recommendation and approve the amendments to the Zoning 
Ordinance as presented with the Woodward Overlay District. 



Now Therefore, Be It Resolved that the first reading of an Ordinance Amendment to the City' s 
Zoning Ordinance, including amendments to Article 2, Article 3, Article 4, Article 7, and adoption of 
the amendments to the City of Pontiac Zoning Map. 

A roll call vote on the foregoing resolution was taken, the result of which is as follows: 

YES: 

NO: 

ABSTAIN: 

THE RESOLUTION WAS THEREUPON DECLARED ADOPTED. 

CERTIFICATION 

I, the undersigned, the duly qualified and acting Clerk of the City of Pontiac, Michigan, do hereby 
certify that the foregoing is a true and complete copy of a resolution adopted by the City of Pontiac 
City Council at a regular meeting held on March 7, 2023, the original of which is on file in my office, 
and that such meeting was conducted and public notice thereof was given pursuant to and in 
compliance with Act No. 267, Michigan Public Acts of 1976, as amended, and that minutes of such 
meeting were kept and are available as required by such Act. 

Dated: March _ _ , 2023 
By: - --- --- --------
Its: City Clerk 



CITY OF PONTIAC 

ORDINANCE NO. # __ _ 

AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE CITY OF PONTIAC ZONING ORDINANCE TO INCLUDE 
ADULT-USE MARIHUANA BUSINESSSES IN DESIGNATED OVERLAY DISTRICTS AND 
USES TO INCLUDE: 

ARTICLE 2, CHAPTER 1, SECTION 2.101, TABLE 1 ZONING DISTRICTS, SPECIAL 
PURPOSE ZONING DISTRICTS; 

ARTICLE 2, CHAPTER 2, SECTION 2.203; SECTION 2.204; SECTION 2.205; and SECTION 
2.303, TABLE 2.1-USES PERMITTED WITHIN ADULT-USE MARIHUANA OVERLAY 
DISTRICTS; AND PRIMARY CAREGIVERS OR CAREGIVERS USE PERMITTED IN ZONING 
DISTRICTS IP-1 AND M-1 BY SPECIAL EXCEPTION; 

ARTICLE 2, CHAPTER 3, SECTION 2.304; SECTION 2.305; SECTION 2.306; SECTION 2.307; 
SECTION 2.308; SECTION 2.309; SECTION 2.310; SECTION 2.311 ; SECTION 2.312; 
SECTION 2.313; SECTION 2.314, TO AMEND TABLE 2 REFERENCE TO TABLE 2.1 

ARTICLE 2 CHAPTER 4; SECTION 2.403; TO AMEND TABLE 2 REFERENCE TO TABLE 2.1 

ARTICLE 2 CHAPTER4; SECTION 2.501; TO AMEND TABLE 2 REFERENCE TO TABLE 2.1 

ARTICLE 2, CHAPTER 5 - DEVELOPMENT STANDARDS FOR SPECIFIC USES TO ADD 
SECTIONS 2.551 Adult-Use Marihuana Grower Establishments; 2.552 Adult-Use Marihuana 
Processor; 2.553 Adult-Use Marihuana Retailer; Social Equity Retailer; 2.554 Adult-Use 
Class A Microbusiness; 2.555 Adult-Use Marihuana Designated Consumption 
Establishment; 2.556 Adult-Use Marihuana Safety Compliance Facility; 2.557 Adult-Use 
Marihuana Secure Transporter; 2.558 Temporary Marihuana Event; AND 2.559 Primary 
Caregiver or Caregiver; 

ARTICLE 3, SPECIAL PURPOSE ZONING DISTRICTS TO ADD CHAPTER 12 -ADULT-USE 
MARIHUANA BUSINESS OVERLAY DISTRICTS; AND 

ARTICLE 4, SECTION 2, SECTION 4.206; TO AMEND TABLE 2 REFERENCE TO TABLE 2.1 

ARTICLE 4, SECTION 3, SECTION 4.303; TO AMEND TABLE 2 REFERENCE TO TABLE 2.1 

ARTICLE 7 DEFINITIONS TO ADD CHAPTER 2 AND CHAPTER 3, Article 7 - Definitions. 



THE CITY OF PONTIAC ORDAINS: 

Article 2, Chapters 1 and 2, Section 2.101 Table 1 and Section 2.303 Table 2, Zoning 
Districts to add: 

Abbreviation General Zoning Abbreviation Special 
Districts Purpose 

Zoning 
Districts 

To Remain To Remain The -- --
The Same Same -- --

AUMOD Adult-Use 
Marihuana 
overlay 
District 

Amend Article 2, Chapter 2, Section 2.203, Permitted Uses By District: 

A. Uses Permitted in Each District. Except for Adult-Use Marihuana Business uses, Table 
2 lists the permitted uses in each district. Table 2.1 listsand Table 2.2 list the permitted Adult-Use 
Marihuana Business uses in each Adult-Use Marihuana Overlay Districts as defined in this 
ordinance. Refer to Article 7, Chapter 2 for definitions of all uses listed in the following Table 2. 1 
and Table 2.2. In addition, Primary Caregivers shall be permitted by special exception in IP-1 and 
M-1 Zoning Districts. 

B. Development Standards Applicable to Uses. Whenever a specific development standard 
is included for a particular use in Table 2.1 or Table 2.2, any development must comply with the 
requirements of the referenced section. All development standards are listed in Article 2, Chapter 
5. 

C. Footnotes. Refer to the footnotes to the table of permitted uses in Section 2.205. Footnotes 
applicable to each zoning district or category of zoning districts are listed in parentheses in the 
heading of Table 2. 1 and Table 2.2. 

D. Special Purpose Zoning Districts Not Listed in Table 2.1. Refer to Article 3 for the uses 
and development standards applicable in the special purpose zoning districts. Special purpose 
zoning districts are not listed in Table 2, and include the PURD Planned Unit Residential District, 
R-5 Manufactured Housing District, R-O Recreation-Open Space District, P-1 Parking District, G
O-T Government Office Technology District, C-C Civic Center District, MUD - Mixed Use District, 
TC Town Center District, and SP Special Purpose District. 

Amend Article 2, Section 2, Section 2.204 Zoning District Design Standards 

The following Table 2. 1 lists the uses that may be permitted in each zoning district, provided that 
the development also meets the design and building standards set forth for each district in 
Chapters 3 through 6 of this 0, along with all other development standards contained in this 
Ordinance. For instance, while multiple family apartment buildings may be permitted in various 
zoning districts, each zoning district will have different standards for building bulk, location, and 
design. The customized design standards set forth in each zoning district are tailored to the 
existing and intended character of each zoning district and are further intended to prevent 
contextually inappropriate development from occurring within the City. 

2 



Amend Article 2, Chapter 2, Section 2.205 to add Subsection EQ: 

eQ. The maximum allowable number of Adult-Use Marihuana Retailers in the City of Pontiac 
shall be eighteen (18) and the maximum number of Adult-Use Marihuana Social Equity Retailers 
shall be six (6). The maximum number of Marihuana Retail permits in each Adult-Use Marihuana 
Overlay District (AUMOD) shall be as set forth in Table 2.2, Adult Marihuana Uses by Overlay 
District, Including Limits Per Overlay District. 

Amend Article 2, Chapter 2, Section 2.303 Table 2.1 (Uses Permitted by District) and Table 
2.2 (Adult Marihuana Uses By Overlay District). 

Not more than six (6) (Marihuana) Retailers are to be located in any one of the three Adult-Use 
Marihuana Business Overlay Districts; Social Equity Retailers authorized by City ordinance are 
allowed in any one of the three (3) Downtown Adult-Use Marihuana Business Overlay Districts; 
not more than five (5) Class A Microbusinesses are allowed across all Adult-Use Marihuana 
Business Overlay Districts; and not more than six (6) Designated Consumption Establishments 
shall be allowed in the ~ Downtown Adult-Use Marihuana Business Overlay District with three 
(3) Designated Consumption Establishments permitted north of Huron Street and three (3) 
Designated Consumption Establishments permitted south of Huron Street; Grower, Safety 
Compliance Facility, Secure Transporter, are allowed in the East Walton Boulevard and Cesar E. 
Chavez Adult-Use Marihuana Business Overlay Districts; Temporary Marihuana Events shall be 
allowed only in the ~ Downtown Adult-Use Marihuana Business Overlay District; and Primary 
Caregivers or Caregivers, shall be located by special exception approval in the IP-1 and M-1 
Zoning Districts 

Table 2.1 Uses Permitted by District 

Commercial, Office, and Service Uses 

Residential Industrial 
Commercial Districts 

Districts Districts 

R-1 R-2 R-3 C-0 C-1 C-2 C-3 C-4 M-1 M-2 IP-1 

Aoull Use MarihuaAaDesignated Section 

Consumption 2.555 

be\,fAgeEstablishment I I 

' Adult-Use Marihuana Grower Section 

Facility I I 2.551 

Adult-Use Marihuana Class A I Section 

Microbusiness 2.554 
I ' Section 

Adult-Use Marihuana Processor 
I I ' 

I 2 .552 

3 



Adult-Use Marihuana Retailer or 

Social Equity Retailer 

Adult-Use Marihuana Safety 

Compliance Facility 

Adult-Use Marihuana Secure 

Transporter 

Adult-Use Marihuana Temporary 

Marihuana Event 

Caregiver 

X X X X X 

R-1 R-2 R-3 C-0 C-1 C-2 C-3 C-4 M-1 M-2 IP-1 

X X 

Section 

2.553 

Section 

2.556 

Section 

2.557 

Section 

2 .558 

Section 

2.559 

Table 2.2, Adult Marihuana Uses By Overlay District, Including Limits Per Overlay District 

Adult-Use Marihuana Overlay Districts (AUMOD) 

Cesar E. Woodward 
Downtown 

Chavez Gateway 
Overlay 

Overlay Overlay 
(District 3) 

(District 2) (District 4) 

AGHIWse Section 
0 

MafiJ:uiaAaDesignated 2 .555 
3- N of Huron 

Consumption 
3-S of Huron 

beHAgeEstablishment 

Adult-Use Marihuana Grower 0 Section 

Facility 3 2.551 

Adult-Use Marihuana Class A Section 

Microbusiness (5 across all 2.554 
0 0 0 

districts) 

4 



Adult-Use Marihuana 

Processor 

Adult-Use Marihuana Retailer 

Adult-Use Marihuana Social 
Equity Retailer 

Adult-Use Marihuana Safety 

Compliance Facility 

Adult-Use Marihuana Secure 

Transporter 

Adult-Use Marihuana 

Temporary Marihuana Event 

0 

5 

0 

# 

0 

3 

0 

5 

0 

2 

0 

0 

Section 

2.552 

0 
Section 

2 2.553 

0 Section 

1 2.553 

Section 

2.556 

Section 
0 

2.557 

Section 

2.558 

o = Special Exception Permit required. Applicants must have a conditionally approved Adult-Use 
Marihuana Business Permit from the City of Pontiac. 

#=Temporary Use Permitted with the Proper City of Pontiac Permitting with any necessary Building and 
Zoning Approvals. 

Note: If a number is listed in Table 2.2, that is the maximum allowed in that overlay district. If a number is 
not listed, there is no limitation per Overlay District, but applicants must receive proper Adult-Use Marihuana 
permits from the City. 

Amend Article 2 Chapter 3; Section 2.304 R-1, R-1A, R-1B One Family Dwelling Districts 

C. Permitted and Special Exception Uses. Refer to Table 2. 1 for permitted and special exception 
uses in the R-1 district. 

Amend Article 2 Chapter 3; Section 2.305 R-2, Two Family Dwelling Districts 

C. Permitted and Special Exception Uses. Refer to Table 2. 1 for permitted and special exception 
uses in the R-2 district. 

Amend Article 2 Chapter 3; Section 2.306 R-3, Multi-Family Dwelling Districts 

C. Permitted and Special Exception Uses. Refer to Table 2. 1 for permitted and special exception 

uses in the R-3 district. 

Amend Article 2 Chapter 3; Section 2.307 C-0, Residential Office District 

5 



C. Permitted and Special Exception Uses. Refer to Table 2. 1 for permitted and special exception 
uses in the C-0 district. 

Amend Article 2 Chapter 3; Section 2.308 C-1, Local Business/Residential Mixed-Use 
District. 

C. Permitted and Special Exception Uses. Refer to Table 2. 1 for permitted and special exception 
uses in the C-1 district. 

Amend Article 2 Chapter 3; Section 2.309 C-2, Downtown Mixed-Use District 

C. Permitted and Special Exception Uses. Refer to Table 2.1 for permitted and special exception 
uses in the C-2 district. 

Amend Article 2 Chapter 3; Section 2.310 C-3 Corridor Commercial Mixed-Use District. 

C. Permitted and Special Exception Uses. Refer to Table 2. 1 for permitted and special exception 
uses in the C-3 district. 

Amend Article 2 Chapter 3; Section 2.311 C-4 Suburban Business District. 

C. Permitted and Special Exception Uses. Refer to Table 2. 1 for permitted and special exception 
uses in the C-4 district. 

Amend Article 2 Chapter 4; Section 2.311 M-1, Limited Industrial District 

C. Permitted and Special Exception Uses. Refer to Table 2. 1 for permitted and special exception 
uses in the M-1 district. 

Amend Article 2 Chapter 4; Section 2.311 M-2, Limited Industrial District 

C. Permitted and Special Exception Uses. Refer to Table 2. 1 for permitted and special exception 
uses in the M-2 district. 

Amend Article 2 Chapter 4; Section 2.311 IP-1, Industrial Park District 

C. Permitted and Special Exception Uses. Refer to Table 2. 1 for permitted and special exception 
uses in the IP-1 district. 

Amend Article 2 Chapter 4; Section 2.403 Permitted Private Frontage Layouts 

Table 4. Permitted Private Frontage Layouts by Zoning District 

Footnote A: Community, Education, and Institution Uses listed in Table 2.1. Uses Permitted by 
District are exempt from the private frontage requirements and need only comply with the setback 
requirements for the zoning district in which they are located. 

Amend Article 2 Chapter 4; Section 2.501 Mixed Use Building - Residential with Non
Residential 

B. Permitted Uses. Non-residential uses permitted in a mixed-use building are limited to those 
that are permitted in the district by Table 2. 1. Uses Permitted by District. Special exception 

6 



approval is required if a particular use that is proposed within a mixed-use building is listed as a 
special exception use in Table 2. 1. 

Amend Article 2, Chapter 5 - Development Standards for Specific Uses is amended to add 
SECTIONS 2.551 Adult-Use Marihuana Grower Establishments; 2.552 Adult-Use Marihuana 
Processor; 2.553 Adult-Use Marihuana Retailer; Social Equity Retailer; 2.554 Adult-Use 
Class A Microbusiness; 2.555 Adult-Use Marihuana Designated Consumption 
Establishment; 2.556 Adult-Use Marihuana Safety Compliance Facility; 2.557 Adult-Use 
Marihuana Secure Transporter; 2.558 Temporary Marihuana Event; AND 2.559 Primary 
Caregiver or Caregiver: 

2.551 Adult-Use Marihuana Grower Establishments. 

"Adult-Use Marihuana Grower" means a licensed and City-permitted marihuana establishment 

that cultivates, dries, trims, or cures and packages marihuana for sale to a processor or marihuana 

retailer, as defined in the Michigan Regulation and Taxation of the Marihuana Act ("MRTMA"). As 

used in this ordinance, growers shall include class A growers, class B growers, and class C 

growers. 

"Class A marihuana grower" means a grower licensed to grow not more than 100 marihuana 

plants. 

"Class B marihuana grower" means a grower licensed to grow not more than 500 marihuana 

plants. 

"Class C marihuana grower" means a grower licensed to grow not more than 2,000 marihuana 

plants. 

A. General Provisions. 

1. Consumption, smoking, and inhalation of marihuana and/or alcohol shall be prohibited 

on the premises of a marihuana grower facility, and a sign shall be posted on the premises 

of each facility indicating that consumption is prohibited on the premises. 

2. The premises shall be open for inspection and/or investigation at any time by City 

investigators during the stated hours of operation and at such other times as anyone is 

present on the premises. The premises shall be open for inspection and/or investigation at 

any time by the City Fire Department or Building Department. If the inspection or 

investigations indicate non-compliance with the City's Municipal Code, Building Code, Fire 

Code and/or Zoning Code, then upon order from the City Building Official, City Code 

7 



Enforcement or Fire Marshal the operations shall be suspended until the property owner or 

operator brings the premises into compliance. 

3. All activity related to the marihuana growing shall be done indoors. 

4. Any marihuana grower establishment shall maintain a log book and/or database 

identifying by date the amount of marihuana and the number of marihuana plants on the 

premises which shall not exceed the amount permitted under the grower license issued by 

the State of Michigan. This log shall be available to law enforcement personnel to confirm 

that the marihuana grower does not have more marihuana than authorized at the location 

and shall not be used to disclose more information than is reasonably necessary to verify 

the lawful amount of marihuana at the facility. A grower establishment shall enter all 

transactions, current inventory, and other information as required by the State into the 

statewide monitoring system as required by law. 

5. The marihuana grower facility shall, at all times, comply with the MRTMA and the rules 

and regulations of the Department of Licensing and Regulatory Affairs-Bureau 

of Marihuana Regulations ("LARA"), as amended from lime to time. 

B. Security. 

1. The marihuana grower facility shall continuously monitor the entire premises on which 

ii is operated with surveillance systems that include security cameras that operate 24 hours 

a day, seven days a week. The video recordings shall be maintained in a secure, off-site 

location for a period of 30 days, and must be coordinated with the Oakland County Sheriff's 

Department. 

2. Any usable marihuana remaining on the premises of a marihuana grower while the 

marihuana facility is not in operation shall be secured in a safe permanently affixed to the 

premises. 

C. Space Separation. 

1. Unless permitted by the MRTMA, public areas of the marihuana grower facility must be 

separated from restricted or nonpublic areas of the grower facility by a permanent barrier. 

8 



2. Unless permitted by the MRTMA, no marihuana Is permitted to be stored or displayed 

in an area accessible to the general public. 

D. Nuisance Prohibited. 

1. Marihuana grower establishments shall be free from Infestation by insects, rodents, 

birds, or vermin of any kind. 

2. Marihuana grower establishments shall produce no products other than usable 

marihuana intended for human consumption. 

3. No marihuana grower shall be operated in a manner creating noise, dust, vibration, 

glare, fumes, or odors detectable to normal senses beyond the boundaries of the property 

on which the marihuana grower is operated. 

E. Licensing. 

1. The state license and city permit required by this chapter shall be prominently displayed 

on the premises of a marihuana grower facility. 

2. Marihuana grower uses are not permitted outside the Cesar Chavez and Walton Blvd. 

Adult-Use Marihuana Business Overlay Districts. 

F. Disposal of Waste. 

1. Disposal of marihuana shall be accomplished in a manner that prevents its acquisition 

by any person who may not lawfully possess it and otherwise in conformance with State 

law. 

2. Litter and waste shall be properly removed and the operating systems for waste 

disposal shall be maintained in an adequate manner as approved by the City so that they 

do not constitute a source of contamination in areas where marihuana is exposed. 

3. That portion of the structure where chemicals, such as, herbicides, pesticides, and 

fertilizers are stored shall be subject to inspection and approval by the local Fire Department 

to ensure compliance with the Michigan Fire Protection Code. 

9 



G. Signage. 

1. It shall be prohibited to display any signs that are inconsistent with State and local 

laws and regulations. 

2. It shall be prohibited to use advertising material that is misleading, deceptive, or false, 

or that is designed to appeal to minors or in violation of LARA regulations. 

3. It shall be prohibited to use the symbol or image of a marihuana leaf in any exterior 

building signage. 

4 . No licensed marihuana grower shall place or maintain, or cause to be placed or 

maintained, an advertisement of marihuana in any form or through any medium: 

i. Within 1,000 feet of the real property comprising a public or private elementary, 

vocational, or secondary school; and 

ii. Within 100 feet of a public or private youth center, public swimming pool or a 

church or other structure in which religious services are conducted. 

H. Co-Location. 

1. There shall be no accessory uses permitted within the same grower establishment 

location , other than a processor, retailer, social equity retailer, Class A microbusiness, or 

designated consumption establishment, , provided all said uses are in conformance with 

this zoning ordinance, the City's Adult-Use Marihuana Business ordinance, the Michigan 

Regulation and Taxation of the Marihuana Act, Initiated Law 1 of 2018, MCL 333.27951 et 

seq. ("MRTMA") and state and local regulations promulgated thereunder. 

2. Multiple class C licenses may be stacked in the same grower establishment as defined 

by the MRTMA and shall only be considered as one establishment for the purposes of this 

subsection. A separate application fee is required to be paid for each class C license. 

I. Building Design. 

1. Floors, walls, and ceilings shall be constructed in such a manner that they may 

adequately be cleaned and kept clean and in good repair. 

10 



2. Any buildings, fixtures, and other facilities shall be maintained in a sanitary condition. 

3. All necessary building, electrical, plumbing, and mechanical permits shall be obtained 

for any portion of the structure in which electrical wiring, lighting, and/or watering devices 

that support the cultivation, growing, or harvesting of marihuana are located. 

J. Site Design 

Grower marihuana businesses seeking approval from the City of Pontiac shall comply with the 

following site design standards, even if the site is the location of an existing business. These 

standards are for the public health, safety, aesthetics, and well-being of the business, patrons, 

and surrounding residential neighborhoods. 

1. Landscaping. The applicant shall establish the required landscape buffer and required 

landscaping from Chapter 4 within any buffer between the proposed adult-use 

marihuana, including bufferyards adjacent or across the street from properties zoned R-

1, R-1a, R-1b, and R-2 where there are existing non-conformities. Existing buildings and 

utility boxes are exempt from this bufferyard and landscaping requirement. Where 

underground and overhead utility lines exist, appropriate landscaping shall be installed 

to not interfere with the public utility lines. In the-G-2 Downtown Adult-Use Marihuana 

Business Overlay District, only, the following additional landscaping requirements shall 

apply: 

a. All available areas for green space on a parcel containing an Adult-Use 

Retail Establishment shall be covered with landscape material for 100 percent of 

the area. 

b. Landscaping shall be compatible with existing landscape buckets located 

in the ~ Downtown Adult-Use Marihuana Business Overlay District. 

2. Site Lighting. An adult-use marihuana site shall meet all the required lighting standards 

of Chapter 5. Additionally, exterior lighting fixtures including neon, LED, flashing lights, 

or similarly noxious or obtrusive lighting or effects shall be prohibited. Each site shall 

have a minimum lighting standard of 0.5 Foot-candles Average Maintained: Measured 

at grade in all parking and loading areas and pedestrian pathways. Actual site 

11 



measurement compliance shall not drop below a minimum of 0.3 foot-candles at any 

one location. For design purposes, the light loss factor (LLF) shall be calculated at: 

a. 0. 7 LLF for Incandescent, Metal Halide, and Mercury Vapor lamp sources. 

b. 0.8 LLF for Fluorescent and Sodium lamp sources. 

c. 0.9 LLF for Light Emitting Diode (LED) lamp sources. 

3. Window and Window Coverings. Pursuant to MCL 333.27961 , establishments may not 

allow cultivation, processing, sale, or display of marihuana or marihuana accessories to 

be visible from a public place outside of the marihuana establishment without the use of 

binoculars, aircraft, or other optical aids. 

a. Generally, no more than 60% of the total window area may be opaque in 

appearance. However, the Planning Commission may approve an increase above 

60% in total window area, which may be opaque in appearance if necessary for 

the Establishment to comply with this section and MCL 333.27961. 

b. While opaque windows are authorized pursuant to the requirements of this 

section, such opacity shall only be accomplished by blackening or other means, 

such as covering behind or in front of the window, and shall not be accomplished 

by the boarding of windows. The boarding of windows shall only be authorized 

under the following circumstances: (1) severe weather conditions which 

necessitate the boarding of windows to avoid damage to the Establishment or (2) 

if necessary for the duration of short-term construction, not to exceed a ninety (90) 

day period. 

c. In the event the Planning Commission determines that architectural profiles as 

depicted on submitted plans is inadequate for purposes of aesthetics, the Planning 

Commission may require Developer provide alternative architectural elements in 

lieu of clear, transparent windows, including but not limited to, changes in lighting, 

landscaping, projections or recesses on a wall plane. Boarding, blacking out;JQy 

use of any color or shade), or opaqueness of windows is not considered clear, 

transparent or translucent. 

12 



2.552 Adult-Use Marihuana Processor. 

"Processor" means a licensed and City-permitted marihuana facility authorized to purchase or 

obtain marihuana from a grower establishment and who processes the marihuana and sells or 

transfers it in packaged form to a retailer, social equity retailer, class A microbusiness, or another 

processor. 

A. General Provisions. 

1. The processor shall comply at all times and in all circumstances with the MRTMA, and 

the general rules of LARA, as they may be amended from time to time. 

2. Consumption, smoking, and inhalation of marihuana and/or alcohol shall be prohibited 

on the premises of a marihuana processor, and a sign shall be posted on the premises of 

each marihuana processor indicating that consumption is prohibited on the premises. 

3. The premises shall be open for inspection and/or investigation at any time by City 

investigators during the stated hours of operation and at such other times as anyone is 

present on the premises. The premises shall be open for inspection and/or investigation at 

any time by the City Fire Department or Building Department. If the inspection or 

investigations indicate non-compliance with the City's Municipal Code, Building Code, Fire 

Code and/or Zoning Code, then upon order from the City Building Official, City Code 

Enforcement or Fire Marshal the operations shall be suspended until property owner or 

operator brings the premises into compliance. 

4. Any processor facility shall maintain a log book and/or database identifying by date the 

amount of marihuana and the number of marihuana products on the premises which shall 

not exceed the amount permitted under the processor license issued by the State of 

Michigan. This log shall be available to law enforcement personnel to confirm that the 

processor does not have more marihuana than authorized at the location and shall not be 

used to disclose more information than is reasonably necessary to verify the lawful amount 

13 



of marihuana at the facility. A processor shall enter all transactions, current inventory, and 

other information as required by the State into the statewide monitoring system as required 

by law. 

5. Processor facilities shall not produce any products other than those marihuana-infused 

products allowed by the MRTMA and the rules promulgated thereunder. 

B. Security. 

1. The marihuana processor facility shall continuously monitor the entire premises on 

which it is operated with surveillance systems that include security cameras that operate 24 

hours a day, seven days a week. The video recordings shall be maintained in a secure, off

site location for a period of 30 days, and must be coordinated with the Oakland County 

Sheriffs Department. 

2. Any usable marihuana and marihuana products remaining on the premises of a 

marihuana processor while the marihuana facility is not in operation shall be secured in a 

safe permanently affixed to the premises. 

3. All marihuana and marihuana products shall be contained within the building in an 

enclosed, locked facility in accordance with the MRTMA, as amended. 

C. Space Separation. 

1. Unless permitted by the MRTMA, public areas of the marihuana processor facility must 

be separated from restricted or nonpublic areas of the processor facility by a permanent 

barrier. 

2. Unless permitted by the MRTMA, no marihuana is permitted to be stored or displayed 

in an area accessible to the general public. 

D. Nuisance Prohibited. 

1. Processor facilities shall be free from infestation by insects, rodents, birds, or vermin of 

any kind. 

14 



2. No marihuana processor shall be operated in a manner creating noise, dust, vibration, 

glare, fumes, or odors detectable to normal senses beyond the boundaries of the property 

on which the marihuana processor is operated. 

E. Licensing. 

1. The state license and city permit required by this chapter shall be prominently displayed 

on the premises of a marihuana processor facility. 

2. Marihuana processor uses are not permitted outside the Cesar Chavez and Walton 

Blvd. Adult-Use Marihuana Business Overlay Districts. 

F. Disposal of Waste. 

1. Disposal of marihuana shall be accomplished in a manner that prevents its acquisition 

by any person who may not lawfully possess it and otherwise in conformance with State 

law. 

2. Litter and waste shall be properly removed and the operating systems for waste 

disposal are maintained in an adequate manner as approved by the City so that they do not 

constitute a source of contamination in areas where marihuana is exposed. 

G. Signage. 

1. II shall be prohibited to display any signs that are inconsistent with State and local laws 

and regulations. 

2. It shall be prohibited to use advertising material that is misleading, deceptive, or false, 

or that is designed to appeal to minors or in violation of LARA regulations. 

3. It shall be prohibited to use the symbol or image of a marihuana leaf in any exterior 

building signage. 

4. No licensed marihuana processor shall place or maintain, or cause to be placed or 

maintained, an advertisement of marihuana in any form or through any medium: 

a. Within 1,000 feet of the real property comprising a public or private elementary, 

vocational, or secondary school; and 

15 



b. Within 100 feet of a public or private youth center, public swimming pool or a 

church or other structure in which religious services are conducted. 

H. Co-Location. 

1. There shall be no accessory uses permitted within the same processor facility location 

other than those associated with a grower, adult-use marihuana retailer, social equity 

retailer, Class A microbusiness, or designated consumption establishment,, provided all 

said uses are in conformance with this zoning ordinance, City's Adult-Use Marihuana 

Business ordinance, the Michigan Regulation and Taxation of the Marihuana Act, Initiated 

Law 1 of 2018, MCL 333.27951 et seq. ("MRTMA") and state and local regulations 

promulgated thereunder. 

2. The dispensing of marihuana at the processor facility shall be prohibited. 

I. Building Design. 

1. Floors, walls, and ceilings shall be constructed in such a manner that they may 

adequately be cleaned and kept clean and in good repair. 

2. Any buildings, fixtures, and other facilities shall be maintained in a sanitary condition. 

J. Site Design 

Processor business seeking approval from the City of Pontiac shall comply with the following site 

design standards, even if the site is the location of an existing business. These standards are for 

the public health, safety, aesthetics, and well-being of the business, patrons, and surrounding 

residential neighborhoods. 

1. Landscaping. The applicant shall establish the required landscape buffer and required 

landscaping from Chapter 4 within any buffer between the proposed adult-use 

marihuana, including bufferyards adjacent or across the street from properties zoned R-

1, R-1 a, R-1 b, and R-2 where there are existing non-conformities. Existing buildings and 

utility boxes are exempt from this bufferyard and landscaping requirement. Where 

underground and overhead utility lines exist. appropriate landscaping shall be installed 

to not interfere with the public utility lines. 

16 



2. Site Lighting. An adult-use marihuana processor site shall meet all the required lighting 

standards of Chapter 5. Additionally, exterior lighting fixtures including neon, LED, 

flashing lights, or similarly noxious or obtrusive lighting or effects shall be prohibited. 

Each site shall have a minimum lighting standard of 0.5 Foot-candles Average 

Maintained: Measured at grade in all parking and loading areas and pedestrian 

pathways. Actual site measurement compliance shall not drop below a minimum of 0.3 

foot-candles at any one location. For design purposes, the light loss factor (LLF) shall 

be calculated at: 

a. 0.7 LLF for Incandescent, Metal Halide, and Mercury Vapor lamp sources. 

b. 0.8 LLF for Fluorescent and Sodium lamp sources. 

c. 0.9 LLF for Light Emitting Diode (LED) lamp sources. 

3. Window and Window Coverings. Pursuant to MCL 333.27961, establishments may not 

allow cultivation, processing, sale, or display of marihuana or marihuana accessories to 

be visible from a public place outside of the marihuana establishment without the use of 

binoculars, aircraft, or other optical aids. 

a. Generally, no more than 60% of the total window area may be opaque in 

appearance. However, the Planning Commission may approve an increase above 

60% in total window area, which may be opaque in appearance if necessary for 

the Establishment to comply with this section and MCL 333.27961 . 

b. While opaque windows are authorized pursuant to the requirements of this 

section, such opacity shall only be accomplished by blackening or other means, 

such as covering behind or in front of the window, and shall not be accomplished 

by the boarding of windows. The boarding of windows shall only be authorized 

under the following circumstances: (1) severe weather conditions which 

necessitate the boarding of windows to avoid damage to the Establishment or (2) 

if necessary for the duration of short-term construction, not to exceed a ninety (90) 

day period. 

c. In the event the Planning Commission determines that architectural profiles as 

depicted on submitted plans is inadequate for purposes of aesthetics, the Planning 

17 



Commission may require Developer provide alternative architectural elements in 

lieu of clear, transparent windows, including but not limited to, changes in lighting, 

landscaping, projections or recesses on a wall plane. Boarding, blacking out;..{Qy_ 

use of any color or shade). or opaqueness of windows is not considered clear, 

transparent or translucent. 

2.553 Adult-Use Marihuana Retailer; Social Equity Retailer. 

"Retailer" and "Social Equity Retailer" means a licensed and City-permitted marihuana 

establishment that purchases marihuana from a grower or processor and sells, supplies, or 

provides marihuana to marihuana establishments and to individuals who are 21 years of age or 

older in accordance with MRTMA and the City's Adult-Use Marihuana Business Ordinance. 

A. General Provisions. 

1. Consumption, smoking, and inhalation of marihuana and/or alcohol shall be prohibited 

on the premises of a Retailer or Social Equity Retailer, and a sign shall be posted on the 

premises indicating that consumption is prohibited on the premises. 

2. Retailer or Social Equity Retailers shall be closed for business between the hours of 

910:00 p.m. and 7:00 a.m., with the exception of Retailer or Social Equity Retailers operating 

in the-G--a Downtown Overlay District, which shall be closed for business between the hours 

of 2:00 am and 7:00 a.m. 

3. The premises of a Retailer or Social Equity Retailer shall be open for inspection and/or 

investigation at any time by City investigators during the stated hours of operation and at 

such other times as anyone is present on the premises. The premises shall be open for 

inspection and/or investigation at any time by the City Fire or Building Department. If the 

inspection or investigations indicate non-compliance with the City's Municipal Code, 

Building Code, Fire Code and/or Zoning Code, then upon order from the City Building 

Official, City Code Enforcement or Fire Marshal the operations shall be suspended until 

property owner or operator brings the premises into compliance. 

4. Any retailer or social-equity retailer shall maintain a log book and/or database identifying 

by date the amount of marihuana and the number of marihuana products on the premises 

which shall not exceed the amount permitted under the processor license issued by the 

18 



State of Michigan. This log shall be available to law enforcement personnel to confirm that 

the processor does not have more marihuana than authorized at the location and shall not 

be used to disclose more information than is reasonably necessary to verify the lawful 

amount of marihuana at the facility. A retailer or social-equity retailer shall enter all 

transactions, current inventory, and other information as required by the State into the 

statewide monitoring system as required by law. 

B. Security. 

1. Retailer and Social Equity Retailer shall continuously monitor the entire premises on 

which they are operated with surveillance systems that include security cameras that 

operate 24 hours a day, seven days a week. The video recordings shall be maintained in a 

secure, off-site location for a period of 30 days, and must be coordinated with the Oakland 

County Sheriffs Department. 

2. Any usable marihuana remaining on the premises of a Retailer or Social Equity Retailer 

while not in operation shall be secured in a safe permanently affixed to the premises. 

C. Space Separation. 

1. Unless permitted by the MRTMA public areas of the Retailer or Social Equity must be 

separated from restricted or nonpublic areas of the retailer by a permanent barrier. 

2. Unless permitted by the MRTMA, no marihuana is permitted to be stored or displayed 

in an area accessible to the general public. 

3. Marihuana may be displayed in a sales area only if permitted by the MRTMA. 

D. Nuisance Prohibited. No Retailer or Social Equity shall be operated in a manner creating 

noise, dust, vibration, glare, fumes, or odors detectable to normal senses beyond the boundaries 

of the property on which the Marihuana Retailer is operated. 

E. Licensing. 

1. The state license and city permit required by this chapter shall be prominently displayed 

on the premises of a Retailer or Social Equity Retailer. 

19 



2. The number of Adult-Use Retailers and/or Adult-Use Marihuana Social Equity Retailers 

which may be established in each of the following Adult-Use Marihuana Business Overlay 

Districts shall be governed by Table 2.2 as set forth in Article 2, Chapter 2, Section 2.303: 

a. East Walton Overlay District (Overlay District 1 ). All properties along Walton 

Blvd. and streets north of Walton Blvd., but not including areas north of Collier Road 

between the west side of Telegraph Road to Fuller Street, including those contained 

within Overlay Map 1 for this Adult-Use Marihuana Business Overlay District. 

b. Cesar Chavez District (Overlay District 2). All properties along Cesar Chavez, 

starting from the Kennett Road Landfill and areas south to Cesar Chavez to W. 

Montcalm St. 

c. C-2-Downtown Overlay District (Overlay District 3). All properties within 

Downtown District located inside of the Woodward Avenue Loop. 

d. Woodward Gateway Overlay (Overlay District 4). All Properties located along 

Woodward Avenue that are depicted within Overlay Map 4 (Starting from South of Turk 

Street and ending North at Central Avenue on the Northeast side of Woodward 

Avenue) and are adjacent to the M-1 {Limited Industrial) or M-2 (General Industrial) 

Zoning Districts. 

3. Except as otherwise permitted by state law, and the City Adult-Use Marihuana Business 

Ordinance, Retailers and Social Equity Retailers are not permitted within the same locations 

as non-marihuana uses. 

F. Disposal of Waste. Disposal of marihuana shall be accomplished in a manner that prevents 

its acquisition by any person who may not lawfully possess it and otherwise in conformance with 

State law. 

G. Signage. 

1. It shall be prohibited to display any signs that are inconsistent with local laws or 

regulations or State law. 

2. It shall be prohibited to use advertising material that is misleading, deceptive, or false, 

or that is designed to appeal to minors or in violation of LARA regulations. 

20 



3. It shall be prohibited to use the symbol or image of a marihuana leaf in any exterior 

building signage. 

4. No licensed Marihuana Retailer or Social Equity Retailer shall place or maintain, or 

cause to be placed or maintained, an advertisement of marihuana in any form or through 

any medium: 

a. Within 1,000 feet of the real property comprising a public or private elementary, 

vocational, or secondary school; and 

b. Within 100 feet of a public or private youth center, public swimming pool or a 

church or other structure in which religious services are conducted. 

H. Co-Location. There shall be no accessory uses permitted within the same Retailer or Social 

Equity Retailer establishment other than a grower, processor, Class A microbusiness, or 

designated consumption establishment, provided all said uses are in conformance with this 

Zoning Ordinance, City's Adult-Use Marihuana Business ordinance, the Michigan Regulation and 

Taxation of the Marihuana Act, Initiated Law 1 of 2018, MCL 333.27951 et seq. ("MRTMA") and 

state and local regulations promulgated thereunder. 

I. Site Design. 

Retailers and Social Equity Retailers seeking approval from the City of Pontiac shall comply with 

the following site design standards, even if the site is the location of an existing business. These 

standards are for the public health, safety, aesthetics, and well-being of the business, patrons, 

and surrounding neighborhoods. 

1. Four-sided Architecture: All Building Fa~ades visible from an adjacent Lot or Street 

shall be constructed with the same building material quality and compatible architectural 

variety on all Building Fa~ades in a compatible context to the rest of the building. 

2. Landscaping. The applicant shall establish the required landscape buffer and required 

landscaping from Chapter 4 within any buffer between the proposed adult-use 

marihuana, including bufferyards adjacent or across the street from properties zoned R-

1, R-1 a, R-1 b, and R-2 where there are existing non-conformities. Existing buildings and 

utility boxes are exempt from this bufferyard and landscaping requirement. Where 

underground and overhead utility lines exist, appropriate landscaping shall be installed 

21 



to not interfere with the public utility lines. In the-G-2 Downtown Adult-Use Marihuana 

Business Overlay Districts, only, the following additional landscaping requirements shall 

apply: 

a. All available areas for greenspace on a parcel containing an Adult-Use 

Retail Facility shall be covered with landscape material for 100 percent of the area. 

b. Landscaping shall be compatible with existing landscape buckets located 

in the Downtown Adult-Use Marihuana Business Overlay District. 

3. Site Lighting. An adult-use marihuana site shall meet all the required lighting standards 

of Chapter 5. Additionally, exterior lighting fixtures including neon, LED, flashing lights, 

or similarly noxious or obtrusive lighting or effects shall be prohibited. Each site shall 

have a minimum lighting standard of 0.5 Foot-candles Average Maintained: Measured 

at grade in all parking and loading areas and pedestrian pathways. Actual site 

measurement compliance shall not drop below a minimum of 0.3 foot-candles at any 

one location. For design purposes, the light loss factor (LLF) shall be calculated at: 

a. 0.7 LLF for Incandescent, Metal Halide, and Mercury Vapor lamp sources. 

b. 0.8 LLF for Fluorescent and Sodium lamp sources. 

c. 0.9 LLF for Light Emitting Diode (LED) lamp sources. 

4. Drive-Throughs. Drive throughs and drive through, walk-up window service, and 

curbside service shall be a prohibited use for any "Retailer" or "Social Equity Retailer" 

establishment. 

5. Window and Window Coverings. Pursuant to MCL 333.27961, establishments may 

not allow cultivation, processing, sale, or display of marihuana or marihuana accessories 

to be visible from a public place outside of the marihuana establishment without the use 

of binoculars, aircraft, or other optical aids. 

a. Generally, no more than 60% of the total window area may be opaque in 

appearance. However, the Planning Commission may approve an increase above 

22 



60% in total window area, which may be opaque in appearance if necessary for 

the Establishment to comply with this section and MCL 333.27961 . 

b. While opaque windows are authorized pursuant to the requirements of this 

section, such opacity shall only be accomplished by blackening or other means, 

such as covering behind or in front of the window and shall not be accomplished 

by the boarding of windows. The boarding of windows shall only be authorized 

under the following circumstances: (1) severe weather conditions which 

necessitate the boarding of windows to avoid damage to the Establishment or (2) 

if necessary for the duration of short-term construction, not to exceed a ninety (90) 

day period. 

c. In the event the Planning Commission determines that architectural profiles as 

depicted on submitted plans is inadequate for purposes of aesthetics, the Planning 

Commission may require Developer provide alternative architectural elements in 

lieu of clear, transparent windows, including but not limited to, changes in lighting, 

landscaping, projections or recesses on a wall plane. Boarding, blacking out,J!;rl 

use of any color or shade). or opaqueness of windows is not considered clear, 

transparent or translucent. 

2.554 Adult-Use Class A Microbusiness. 

"Class A Microbusiness" means a licensed and City-permitted marihuana establishment 

authorized to operate al a single location and cultivate not more than 300 mature marihuana 

plants; package marihuana; purchase marihuana concentrate and marihuana-infused products 

from licensed marihuana processors; sell or transfer marihuana and marihuana-infused products 

to individuals 21 years of age and older; and transfer marihuana to a safety compliance facility for 

testing in accordance with MRTMA and the City's Adult-Use Marihuana Ordinance. 

A. General Provisions. 

1. Class A Microbusiness shall be closed for business, and no sale or other distribution 

of marihuana in any form shall occur upon the premises between the hours of 10:00 p.m. 

and 7:00 a.m. 

23 



2. Consumption, smoking, and inhalation of marihuana and/or alcohol shall be prohibited 

on the premises of a Class A Microbusiness, and a sign shall be posted on the premises of 

each Class A Microbusiness indicating that consumption is prohibited on the premises. 

3. The premises shall be open for inspection and/or investigation at any time by City 

investigators during the stated hours of operation and at such other limes as anyone is 

present on the premises. The premises shall be open for inspection and/or investigation at 

any time by the City Fire Department or Building Department. If the inspection or 

investigations indicate non-compliance with the City's Municipal Code, Building Code, Fire 

Code and/or Zoning Code, then upon order from the City Building Official, City Code 

Enforcement, or Fire Marshal the operations shall be suspended until the property owner or 

operator brings the premises into compliance. 

4. Any Class A Microbusiness shall maintain a log book and/or database identifying by 

date the amount of marihuana and the number of marihuana products on the premises 

which shall not exceed the amount permitted under the processor license issued by the 

State of Michigan. This log shall be available to law enforcement personnel to confirm that 

the processor does not have more marihuana than authorized at the location and shall not 

be used to disclose more information than is reasonably necessary to verify the lawful 

amount of marihuana at the facility. A Class A Microbusiness shall enter all transactions, 

current inventory, and other information as required by the State into the statewide 

monitoring system as required by law. 

B. Security. 

1. Class A Microbusiness shall continuously monitor the entire premises on which they 

are operated with surveillance systems that include security cameras that operate 24 hours 

a day, seven days a week. The video recordings shall be maintained in a secure, off-site 

location for a period of 30 days, and must be coordinated with the Oakland County Sheriffs 

Department. 

2. Any usable marihuana remaining on the premises of a Class A Microbusiness while the 

Marihuana Retailer is not in operation shall be secured in a safe permanently affixed to the 

premises. 

24 



C. Space Separation. 

1. Unless permitted by the MRTMA public areas of the Class A Microbusiness must be 

separated from restricted or nonpublic areas of the retailer by a permanent barrier. 

2. Unless permitted by the MRTMA, no marihuana is permitted to be stored or displayed 

in an area accessible to the general public. 

3. Marihuana may be displayed in a sales area only if permitted by the MRTMA. 

D. Nuisance Prohibited. No Class A Microbusiness shall be operated in a manner creating 

noise, dust, vibration, glare, fumes, or odors detectable to normal senses beyond the boundaries 

of the property on which the Class A Microbusiness is operated. 

E. Drive-Through. Drive-throughs and drive-through, walk-up window service, and curbside 

service on the premises of a Class A Microbusiness shall not be permitted. 

F. Licensing. 

1. The state license and city permit required by this chapter shall be prominently displayed 

on the premises of a Class A Microbusiness. 

2. Class A Microbusiness is a Special Land Use (also referred to as Special Exception 

under this Ordinance) and no more than five (5) Class A Microbusinesses shall be permitted 

by the City. 

3. Except as otherwise permitted by state law, and the City's Adult-Use Marihuana 

Business Ordinance, Class A Microbusiness are not permitted within the same 

establishment location as non-marihuana uses. 

G. Disposal of Waste. Disposal of marihuana shall be accomplished in a manner that prevents 

its acquisition by any person who may not lawfully possess it and otherwise in conformance with 

State law. 

H. Signage. 

1. It shall be prohibited to display any signs that are inconsistent with local laws or 

regulations or State law. 

25 



2. It shall be prohibited to use advertising material that is misleading, deceptive, or false, 

or that is designed to appeal to minors or in violation of LARA regulations. 

3. It shall be prohibited to use the symbol or image of a marihuana leaf in any exterior 

building signage. 

4. No licensed Class A Microbusiness shall place or maintain, or cause to be placed or 

maintained, an advertisement of marihuana in any form or through any medium: 

a. Within 1,000 feet of the real property comprising a public or private elementary, 

vocational, or secondary school; and 

b. Within 100 feet of a public or private youth center, public swimming pool or a 

church or other structure in which religious services are conducted. 

I. Co-Location. There shall be no accessory uses permitted within the same Class A 

Microbusiness establishment location other than a grower, processor, adult-use marihuana 

retailer, social equity retailer, or designated consumption establishment, provided all said 

uses are in conformance with this Zoning Ordinance, City's Adult-Use Marihuana Business 

ordinance, the Michigan Regulation and Taxation of the Marihuana Act, Initiated Law 1 of 

2018, MCL 333.27951 et seq. ("MRTMA") and state and local regulations promulgated 

thereunder .. 

J. Site Design. Any adult-use marihuana business seeking approval from the City of Pontiac 

shall comply with the following site design standards, even if the site is the location of an 

existing business. These standards are for the public health, safety, aesthetics, and well

being of the business, patrons, and surrounding residential neighborhoods. 

1. Four-sided Architecture. All Building Fa<;:ades visible from an adjacent Lot or Street 

shall be constructed with the same building material quality and compatible architectural 

variety on all Building Fa<;:ades in a compatible context to the rest of the building. 

2. Landscaping. The applicant shall establish the required landscape buffer and required 

landscaping from Chapter 4 within any buffer between the proposed adult-use 

marihuana, including bufferyards adjacent or across the street from properties zoned R-

1, R-1 a, R-1 b, and R-2 where there are existing non-conformities. Existing buildings and 

utility boxes are exempt from this bufferyard and landscaping requirement. Where 

26 



underground and overhead utility lines exist, appropriate landscaping shall be installed 

to not interfere with the public utility lines. 

3. Site Lighting. An adult-use marihuana site shall meet all the required lighting standards 

of Chapter 5. Additionally, exterior lighting fixtures including neon, LED, flashing lights, 

or similarly noxious or obtrusive lighting or effects shall be prohibited. Each site shall 

have a minimum lighting standard of 0.5 Foot-candles Average Maintained: Measured 

at grade in all parking and loading areas and pedestrian pathways. Actual site 

measurement compliance shall not drop below a minimum of 0.3 foot-candles at any 

one location. For design purposes, the light loss factor (LLF) shall be calculated at: 

a. 0.7 LLF for Incandescent, Metal Halide, and Mercury Vapor lamp sources. 

b. 0.8 LLF for Fluorescent and Sodium lamp sources. 

c. 0.9 LLF for Light Emitting Diode (LED) lamp sources. 

4. Window and Window Coverings. Pursuant to MCL 333.27961 , establishments may 

not allow cultivation, processing, sale, or display of marihuana or marihuana accessories 

to be visible from a public place outside of the marihuana establishment without the use 

of binoculars, aircraft, or other optical aids. 

a. Generally, no more than 60% of the total window area may be opaque in 

appearance. However, the Planning Commission may approve an increase above 

60% in total window area, which may be opaque in appearance if necessary for 

the Establishment to comply with this section and MCL 333.27961 . 

b. While opaque windows are authorized pursuant to the requirements of this 

section, such opacity shall only be accomplished by blackening or other means, 

such as covering behind or in front of the window and shall not be accomplished 

by the boarding of windows. The boarding of windows shall only be authorized 

under the following circumstances: (1) severe weather conditions which 

necessitate the boarding of windows to avoid damage to the Establishment or (2) 

if necessary for the duration of short-term construction, not to exceed a ninety (90) 

day period. 

27 



c. In the event the Planning Commission determines that architectural profiles as 

depicted on submitted plans is inadequate for purposes of aesthetics, the Planning 

Commission may require Developer provide alternative architectural elements in 

lieu of clear, transparent windows, including but not limited to, changes in lighting, 

landscaping, projections or recesses on a wall plane. Boarding, blacking out,J.!2y 

use of any color or shade), or opaqueness of windows is not considered clear, 

transparent or translucent. 

2.555 Adult-Use Designated Consumption Establishment. 

"Designated Consumption Establishment" means a marihuana-related business authorized to 

permit individuals 21 years of age and older to consume marihuana and marihuana products on 

the licensed commercial premises located in the G-2-Downtown Overlay District No. 3. in 

accordance with MRTMA and the City's Adult-Use Marihuana Ordinance. 

A General Provisions. 

1. Designated Consumption Establishment shall be closed for business, and no 

consumption of marihuana in any form shall occur upon the premises between the hours of 

2:00 a.m. and 7:00 a.m. 

2. Consumption of marihuana in any form at a Designated Consumption Establishment 

shall occur indoors. A Designated Consumption Establishment shall post signage on any 

outdoor areas, including patios, decks, and greenspace, indicating that smoking and other 

consumption of marihuana is prohibited. 

3. Tobacco smoking and/or alcohol shall be prohibited on the premises of a Designated 

Consumption belffigeEstablishment, and a sign shall be posted on the premises of each 

Designated Consumption ~wigeEstablishment indicating that tobacco smoking and/or 

alcohol is prohibited on the premises. 

4. The premises shall be open for inspection and/or investigation at any time by City 

investigators during the staled hours of operation and at such other times as anyone is 

present on the premises. The premises shall be open for inspection and/or investigation at 

any time by the City Fire Department or Building Department. If the inspection or 

investigations indicate non-compliance with the City's Municipal Code, Building Code, Fire 

28 



Code and/or Zoning Code, then upon order from the City Building Official, City Code 

Enforcement or Fire Marshal the operations shall be suspended until property owner or 

operator brings the premises into compliance. 

5. Any Designated Consumption Establishment shall maintain a log book and/or database 

identifying by date the amount of marihuana and the number of marihuana products on the 

premises which shall not exceed the amount permitted under the processor license issued 

by the State of Michigan. This log shall be available to law enforcement personnel to confirm 

that the processor does not have more marihuana than authorized at the location and shall 

not be used to disclose more information than is reasonably necessary to verify the lawful 

amount of marihuana at the facility. A Designated Consumption Establishment shall enter 

all transactions, current inventory, and other information as required by the State into the 

statewide monitoring system as required by law. 

B. Security. 

1. Designated Consumption Establishment shall continuously monitor the entire premises 

on which they are operated with surveillance systems that include security cameras that 

operate 24 hours a day, seven days a week. The video recordings shall be maintained in a 

secure, off-site location for a period of 30 days, and must be coordinated with the Oakland 

County Sheriffs Department. 

2. Any usable marihuana remaining on the premises of a Designated Consumption 

Establishment while the Designated Consumption ~Establishment is not in operation 

shall be secured in a safe permanently affixed to the premises. 

C. Nuisance Prohibited. No Designated Consumption Establishment shall be operated in a 

manner creating noise, dust, vibration, glare, fumes, or odors detectable to normal senses beyond 

the boundaries of the property on which the Designated Consumption Establishment is operated. 

D. Licensing. 

1. The state license and city permit required by this chapter shall be prominently displayed 

on the premises of a Designated Consumption Establishment. 

29 



2. A Designated Consumption Establishment is Special Land Use and shall be limited to 

G4 Downtown Adult-Use Marihuana Business Overlay District as identified in the City 

zoning ordinance and on the City Zoning Map, with three Designated Consumption 

Establishments permitted north of Huron Street, and three Designated Consumption 

Establishments permitted south of Huron Street. 

3. Except as otherwise permitted by state law, and the City's Adult-Use Marihuana 

Business Ordinance, Designated Consumption Establishments are not permitted within the 

same facility locations as non-marihuana uses. 

E. Disposal of Waste. Disposal of marihuana shall be accomplished in a manner that prevents 

its acquisition by any person who may not lawfully possess ii and otherwise in conformance with 

State law. 

F. Signage. 

1. It shall be prohibited to display any signs that are inconsistent with local laws or 

regulations or State law. 

2. It shall be prohibited to use advertising material that is misleading, deceptive, or false, 

or that is designed to appeal to minors or in violation of LARA regulations. 

3. It shall be prohibited to use the symbol or image of a marihuana leaf in any exterior 

building signage. 

4. No licensed Designated Consumption Establishment shall place or maintain, or cause 

to be placed or maintained, an advertisement of marihuana in any form or through any 

medium: 

a. Within 1,000 feet of the real property comprising a public or private elementary, 

vocational, or secondary school; and 

b. Within 100 feet of a public or private youth center, public swimming pool or a 

church or other structure in which religious services are conducted. 

G. Co-Location. There shall be no accessory uses permitted within the same Designated 

Consumption Establishment location other than a grower, processor, adult-use marihuana 

30 



retailer, or social equity retailer, provided all said uses are in conformance with this Zoning 

Ordinance, City's Adult-Use Marihuana Business ordinance, the Michigan Regulation and 

Taxation of the Marihuana Act, Initiated Law 1 of 2018, MCL 333.27951 et seq. ("MRTMA") and 

state and local regulations promulgated thereunder. 

H. Site Design. 

Any adult-use marihuana business seeking approval from the City of Pontiac shall comply with 

the following site design standards, even if the site is the location of an existing business. These 

standards are for the public health, safety, aesthetics, and well-being of the business, patrons, 

and surrounding residential neighborhoods. 

1. Four-sided Architecture. All Building Fa<,ades visible from an adjacent Lot or Street 

shall be constructed with the same building material quality and compatible architectural 

variety on all Building F a<,ades in a compatible context to the rest of the building. 

2. Landscaping. The applicant shall establish the required landscape buffer and required 

landscaping as set forth in Chapter 4 within any buffer between the proposed adult-use 

marihuana, including bufferyards adjacent or across the street from properties zoned R-1 , 

R-1 a, R-1 b, and R-2 where there are existing non-conformities. Existing buildings and utility 

boxes are exempt from this bufferyard and landscaping requirement. Where underground 

and overhead utility lines exist, appropriate landscaping shall be installed to not interfere 

with the public utility lines. 

3. Site Lighting. An adult-use marihuana site shall meet all the required lighting 

standards of Chapter 5. Additionally, exterior lighting fixtures including neon, LED, flashing 

lights, or similarly noxious or obtrusive lighting or effects shall be prohibited. Each site 

shall have a minimum lighting standard of 0.5 Foot-candles Average Maintained: 

Measured at grade in all parking and loading areas and pedestrian pathways. Actual site 

measurement compliance shall not drop below a minimum of 0.3 foot-candles at any one 

location. For design purposes, the light loss factor (LLF) shall be calculated at: 

a. 0.7 LLF for Incandescent, Metal Halide, and Mercury Vapor lamp sources. 

b. 0.8 LLF for Fluorescent and Sodium lamp sources. 

31 



c. 0.9 LLF for Light Emitting Diode (LED) lamp sources. 

4. Window and Window Coverings. Pursuant to MCL 333.27961, establishments 

may not allow cultivation, processing, sale, or display of marihuana or marihuana 

accessories to be visible from a public place outside of the marihuana establishment 

without the use of binoculars, aircraft, or other optical aids. 

a. Generally, no more than 60% of the total window area may be opaque in 

appearance. However, the Planning Commission may approve an increase above 

60% in total window area, which may be opaque in appearance if necessary for 

the Establishment to comply with this section and MCL 333.27961. 

b. While opaque windows are authorized pursuant to the requirements of this 

section, such opacity shall only be accomplished by blackening or other means, 

such as covering behind or in front of the window and shall not be accomplished 

by the boarding of windows. The boarding of windows shall only be authorized 

under the following circumstances: (1) severe weather conditions which 

necessitate the boarding of windows to avoid damage to the Establishment or (2) 

if necessary for the duration of short-term construction, not to exceed a ninety (90) 

day period. 

c. In the event the Planning Commission determines that architectural profiles as 

depicted on submitted plans is inadequate for purposes of aesthetics, the Planning 

Commission may require Developer provide alternative architectural elements in 

lieu of clear, transparent windows, including but not limited to, changes in lighting, 

landscaping, projections or recesses on a wall plane. Boarding, blacking out,....(!rl 

use of any color or shade). or opaqueness of windows is not considered clear, 

transparent or translucent. 

2.556 Adult-Use Marihuana Safety Compliance Facility. 

"Safety compliance facility" means a safety compliance facility as defined by the MRTMA and the 

administrative Marihuana Rules, including R 420.107 as amended, that takes or receives 

marihuana from a licensed grower, processor, retailer, social equity retailer, or Class A 

Microbusiness, collects random samples, tests the marihuana for contaminants, potency, and for 

tetrahydrocannabinol and other cannabinoids, and returns the test results, and may return 

32 



the marihuana to a licensed grower, processor, retailer, social equity retailer, or Class A 

Microbusiness. 

A. General Provisions. 

1. Consumption, smoking, and inhalation of marihuana and/or alcohol shall be prohibited 

on the premises of a marihuana safety compliance facility, and a sign shall be posted on 

the premises of each marihuana safety compliance facility indicating that consumption is 

prohibited on the premises. 

2. The premises shall be open for inspection and/or investigation at any lime by City 

investigators during the stated hours of operation and at such other limes as anyone is 

present on the premises. The premises shall be open for inspection and/or investigation at 

any time by the City Fire Department or Building Department. If the inspection or 

investigations indicate non-compliance with the City's Municipal Code, Building Code, Fire 

Code and/or Zoning Code, then upon order from the City Building Official, City Code 

Enforcement or Fire Marshal the operations shall be suspended until property owner or 

operator brings the premises into compliance. 

3. Any marihuana safety compliance facility shall maintain a log book and/or a database 

accurately identifying all transactions, current inventory, and other information by date and 

source. A safety compliance facility shall enter all transactions, current inventory, and other 

information as required by the State into the statewide monitoring system as required by 

law. 

B. Security. 

1. The marihuana safety compliance facility shall continuously monitor the entire premises 

on which it is operated with surveillance systems that include security cameras that operate 

24 hours a day, seven days a week. The video recordings shall be maintained in a secure, 

off-site location for a period of 30 days, and must be coordinated with the Oakland County 

Sheriff's Department. 

2. Any usable marihuana remaining on the premises of a marihuana safety compliance 

facility while the marihuana safety compliance facility is not in operation shall be secured in 

a safe permanently affixed to the premises. 

33 



3. All marihuana shall be contained within the building in an enclosed, locked facility in 

accordance with the MRTMA, as amended. 

C. Space Separation. 

1. Unless permitted by the MRTMA, public areas of the marihuana safety compliance 

facility must be separated from restricted or nonpublic areas of the safety compliance facility 

by a permanent barrier. 

2. Unless permitted by the MRTMA, no marihuana is permitted to be stored in an area 

accessible to the general public. 

D. Nuisance Prohibited. No marihuana safety compliance facility shall be operated in a 

manner creating noise, dust, vibration, glare, fumes, or odors detectable to normal senses beyond 

the boundaries of the property on which the marihuana safety compliance facility is operated. 

E. Licensing. 

1. The state license and city permit required by this chapter shall be prominently displayed 

on the premises of a marihuana safety compliance facility. 

2. Marihuana safety compliance facility uses are permitted in the Cesar Chavez, Walton 

Blvd., and G4-Downtown Adult-Use Marihuana Business Overlay Districts. 

F. Disposal of Waste. 

1. Disposal of marihuana shall be accomplished in a manner that prevents its acquisition 

by any person who may not lawfully possess it and otherwise in conformance with State 

law. 

2. Litter and waste shall be properly removed and the operating systems for waste 

disposal are maintained in an adequate manner as approved by the City so that they do not 

constitute a source of contamination in areas where marihuana is exposed. 

G. Signage. 

1. It shall be prohibited to display any signs that are inconsistent with State and local laws 

and regulations. 

34 



2. It shall be prohibited to use advertising material that is misleading, deceptive, or false, 

or that is designed to appeal to minors or in violation of LARA regulations. 

3. It shall be prohibited to use the symbol or image of a marihuana leaf in any exterior 

building signage. 

4. No licensed marihuana safety compliance facility shall place or maintain, or cause to 

be placed or maintained, an advertisement of marihuana in any form or through any 

medium: 

a. Within 1,000 feet of the real property comprising a public or private elementary, 

vocational, or secondary school; and 

b. Within 100 feet of a public or private youth center, public swimming pool or a 

church or other structure in which religious services are conducted. 

H. Building Design. 

1. Floors, walls and ceilings shall be constructed in such a manner that they may 

adequately be cleaned and kept clean and in good repair. 

2. Any buildings, fixtures and other facilities shall be maintained in a sanitary condition. 

2.557 Adult-Use Marihuana Secure Transporter. 

"Secure transporter" means a marihuana-related business located in the City that 

stores marihuana and transports marihuana between adult-use marihuana businesses for a fee. 

A secure transporter shall comply at all times with the MRTMA and the rules promulgated 

thereunder. 

A. General Provisions. 

1. Consumption and/or use of marihuana shall be prohibited at an establishment of a 

secure transporter. 

2. A vehicle used by a secure transporter is subject to administrative inspection by a law 

enforcement officer at any point during the transportation of marihuana to determine 

compliance with all State and local laws, rules, regulations and ordinances. 

35 



3. The premises of a secured transporter located within the City Shc!II be open for 

inspection and/or investigation at any time by City investigators during the stated hours of 

operation and at such other times as anyone is present on the premises. The premises shall 

be open for inspection and/or investigation at any time by the City Fire Department. If the 

inspection or investigations indicate non-compliance with the City's Municipal Code, 

Building Code, Fire Code and/or Zoning Code, then upon order from the City Building 

Official, City Code Enforcement or Fire Marshal the operations shall be suspended until 

property owner or operator brings the premises into compliance. 

4. A secure transporter licensee and each stakeholder shall not have an interest in a 

grower, processor, retailer, social equity retailer, Class A Microbusiness, Designated 

Consumption Establishment, or safety compliance facility and shall not be a registered 

qualifying patient or a registered primary caregiver. 

5. Any secure transporter shall maintain a log book and/or database identifying each 

transaction by date, the amount of marihuana and the number of marihuana products being 

transported and the source. This log shall be available to law enforcement personnel to 

inspect. A secure transporter shall enter all transactions, current inventory, and other 

information as required by the State into the statewide monitoring system as required by 

law. 

B. Secure Storage. 

1. Storage of marihuana by a secure transporter shall comply with the following: 

a. The storage facility shall not be used for any other commercial purpose. 

b. The storage facility shall not be open or accessible to the general public. 

c. The storage facility shall be maintained and operated so as to comply with all State 

and local rules, regulations and ordinances. 

2. All marihuana stored within the facility shall be stored within enclosed, locked facilities 

in accordance with the MRTMA, as amended. 

C. Sanitation. All persons working in direct contact with marihuana being stored by a secure 

transporter shall conform to hygienic practices while on duty, including but not limited to: 

36 



1. Maintaining adequate personal cleanliness. 

2. Washing hands thoroughly in adequate hand-washing areas before starting work and 

at any other time when the hands may have become soiled or contaminated. 

3. Refrain from having direct contact with marihuana if the person has or may have an 

illness, open lesion, including boils, sores, or infected wounds, or any other abnormal source 

of microbial contamination, until the condition is corrected. 

D. Disposal of Waste. 

1. Disposal of marihuana shall be accomplished in a manner that prevents its acquisition 

by a person who may not lawfully possess it and otherwise in conformance with State law. 

2. Litter and waste shall be properly removed and the operating systems for waste 

disposal are maintained in an adequate manner as approved by the City so that they do not 

constitute a source of contamination in areas where marihuana is exposed. 

E. Transport Driver. 

1. A secure transporter shall comply with all of the following: 

a. Each driver transporting marihuana must have a chauffeur's license issued by the 

State. 

b. Each employee who has custody of marihuana or money that is related to 

a marihuana transaction shall not have been convicted of or released from 

incarceration for a felony under the laws of this State, any other state, or the United 

States with in the past five years. 

c. Each vehicle shall always be operated with a two-person crew with at least one 

individual remaining with the vehicle during the transportation of marihuana. 

2. A route plan and manifest shall be entered into the statewide monitoring system, and a 

copy shall be carried in the transporting vehicle and presented to a law enforcement office 

upon request. 

37 



3. The marihuana shall be transported by one or more sealed containers and not be 

accessible while in transit. 

4. A secure transporter vehicle shall not bear markings or other indication that it is carrying 

marihuana or a marihuana-infused product. 

F. Signage. 

1. It shall be prohibited to display any signs that are inconsistent with local laws or 

regulations or State law. 

2. It shall be prohibited to use advertising material that is misleading, deceptive, or false, 

or that is designed to appeal to minors or in violation of LARA regulations. 

3. It shall be prohibited to use the symbol or image of a marihuana leaf in any exterior 

building signage. 

4. No licensed marihuana secure transporter shall place or maintain, or cause to be placed 

or maintained, an advertisement of marihuana in any form or through any medium: 

a. Within 1,000 feet of the real property comprising a public or private elementary, 

vocational, or secondary school; and 

b. Within 100 feet of a public or private youth center, public swimming pool or a 

church or other structure in which religious services are conducted. 

G. Licensing. 

1. The state license and city permit required by this chapter shall be prominently displayed 

on the premises of a marihuana secure transporter use. 

2. Marihuana secure transporter uses are permitted in the Cesar Chavez, Walton Blvd., 

and~ Downtown Adult-Use Marihuana Business Overlay Districts and in the C-1 , C-2, C-

3, C-4, M-1 and M-2 zoning districts outside the Adult-Use Marihuana Business Overlay 

Districts. 

3. Marihuana secure transporters are not permitted within the same facility with other 

adult-use marihuana business uses. 

38 



H. Site Design 

Any adult-use marihuana business seeking approval from the City of Pontiac shall comply with 

the following site design standards, even if the site is the location of an existing business. These 

standards are for the public health, safety, aesthetics, and well-being of the business, patrons, 

and surrounding residential neighborhoods. 

1. Four-sided Architecture. All Building Fa<;:ades visible from an adjacent Lot or Street 

shall be constructed with the same building material quality and compatible architectural 

variety on all Building Fa<;:ades in a compatible context to the rest of the building. 

2. Landscaping. The applicant shall establish the required landscape buffer and required 

landscaping from Chapter 4 within any buffer between the proposed adult-use marihuana, 

including bufferyards adjacent or across the street from properties zoned R-1 , R-1a, R-1b, 

and R-2 where there are existing non-conformities. Existing buildings and utility boxes are 

exempt from this bufferyard and landscaping requirement. Where underground and 

overhead utility lines exist, appropriate landscaping shall be installed to not interfere with 

the public utility lines. 

3. Site Lighting. An adult-use marihuana site shall meet all the required lighting 

standards of Chapter 5. Additionally, exterior lighting fixtures including neon, LED, flashing 

lights, or similarly noxious or obtrusive lighting or effects shall be prohibited. Each site shall 

have a minimum lighting standard of 0.5 Foot-candles Average Maintained: Measured at 

grade in all parking and loading areas and pedestrian pathways. Actual site measurement 

compliance shall not drop below a minimum of 0.3 foot-candles at any one location. For 

design purposes, the light loss factor (LLF) shall be calculated at: 

a. 0.7 LLF for Incandescent, Metal Halide, and Mercury Vapor lamp sources. 

b. 0.8 LLF for Fluorescent and Sodium lamp sources. 

c. 0.9 LLF for Light Emitting Diode (LED) lamp sources. 

4. Window and Window Coverings. Pursuant to MCL 333.27961, establishments may 

not allow cultivation, processing, sale, or display of marihuana or marihuana accessories to 

be visible from a public place outside of the marihuana establishment without the use of 

binoculars, aircraft, or other optical aids. 

39 



a. Generally, no more than 50% of the total window area may be opaque in 

appearance. However, the Planning Commission may approve an increase above 

50% in total window area, which may be opaque in appearance if necessary for 

the Establishment to comply with this section and MCL 333.27961. 

b. While opaque windows are authorized pursuant to the requirements of this 

section, such opacity shall only be accomplished by blackening or other means, 

such as covering behind or in front of the window and shall not be accomplished 

by the boarding of windows. The boarding of windows shall only be authorized 

under the following circumstances: (1) severe weather conditions which 

necessitate the boarding of windows to avoid damage to the Establishment or (2) 

if necessary for the duration of short-term construction, not to exceed a ninety (90) 

day period. 

c. In the event the Planning Commission determines that architectural profiles as 

depicted on submitted plans is inadequate for purposes of aesthetics, the Planning 

Commission may require Developer provide alternative architectural elements in 

lieu of clear, transparent windows, including but not limited to, changes in lighting, 

landscaping, projections or recesses on a wall plane. Boarding, blacking out,JQy 

use of any color or shade). or opaqueness of windows is not considered clear, 

transparent or translucent. 

2.558 Temporary Marihuana Event. 

"Temporary Marihuana Event" means a temporary license held by a Temporary Marihuana Event 

Organizer for an event where the onsite sale or consumption of marihuana products, or both, are 

authorized to permit individuals 21 years of age and older to consume marihuana products on the 

premises indicated on the state license during the dates indicated on the state license. 

A. General Provisions. 

1. Use or consumption of alcohol shall be prohibited on the premises of a Temporary 

Marihuana Event, and signs shall be posted at the Temporary Marihuana Event indicating 

that alcohol consumption is prohibited on the premises. 

40 



2. The premises or location of the Temporary Marihuana Event shall be open for 

inspection and/or investigation at any time by City investigators, including City Fire 

Department, Building Department or other law enforcement agencies. If the inspection or 

investigations indicate non-compliance with the City's Municipal Code, Building Code, Fire 

Code and/or Zoning Code, then upon order from the City Building Official, City Code 

Enforcement or Fire Marshal the event shall be suspended until Temporary Marihuana 

Event Organizer brings the premises into compliance. 

3. Temporary Marihuana Event shall maintain a log book and/or a database identifying by 

date the amount of marihuana on the premises and from which particular source. A 

Temporary Marihuana Event shall enter all transactions, current inventory, and other 

information as required by the State into the statewide monitoring system as required by 

law. 

B. Licensing. 

1. The state license and city permit required by this chapter shall be prominently displayed 

on the premises of the Temporary Marihuana Event. 

2. Temporary Marihuana Events are only permitted in the--G-2 Downtown Adult-Use 

Marihuana Business Overlay District. 

3. The hours of operation of a Temporary Marihuana Event shall be from 7:00 am to 10:00 

pm. A single Temporary Marihuana Event may not exceed a maximum 2-day period. The 

total days that Temporary Marihuana Events may take place shall not exceed 4-days total 

in any calendar month. 

4. The Temporary Marihuana Event Organizer shall submit for approval a zoning 

application for a Temporary Marihuana Event which shall include permission from the 

property owner, and provide hours of operation, detailed narrative of the event, operational 

plan, security and safety plan and safety measures. 

5. The Temporary Marihuana Event Organizer shall submit for approval a site plan 

identifying pedestrian and vehicular parking areas. 

41 



2.559 Primary (Medical Marihuana) Caregiver or Caregiver. 

"Primary Caregiver" or "Caregiver" means a person who is at least 21 years old and who has 

agreed to assist with a Qualifying patient's medical use of marihuana and who has not been 

convicted of any felony within the past 10 years, has never been convicted of a felony involving 

illegal drugs or a felony that is an assaultive crime as defined in section 9a of chapter X of the 

code of criminal procedure, 1927 PA 175, MCL 770.9a, and holds a current and valid registration 

with the State of Michigan in accordance with the Michigan Medical Marihuana Act, Initiated Law 

1 of 2008, MCL 333.26421 et seq. ("MMMA"), and any applicable City permit. A registered 

caregiver shall comply at all limes complies with the MMMA, the rules promulgated thereunder, 

this ordinance, and applicable City ordinances. The term "Qualifying patient" means qualifying 

patient under the MMMA. 

A. General Provisions. 

1. A registered primary caregiver, operating in compliance with the MMA, the rules 

promulgated thereunder, the requirements of this ordinance and applicable City ordinances, 

shall be permitted only in zoning districts IP-1 and M-1 by special exception. The City makes 

the following findings in support of its determination that the regulation of primary caregivers 

as permitted in zoning districts IP-1 and M-1 by special exception is consistent with the 

purposes and intent of the MMMA: 

a. The MMMA's protections are limited to individuals suffering from serious or debilitating 

medical conditions or symptoms, to the extent that the individuals' marijuana use is 

carried out in compliance with the provisions of the MMMA, including the provisions 

related to the operations of registered primary caregivers. 

b. The MMMA's definition of "medical use" of marijuana includes the "transfer" of 

marijuana "to treat or alleviate a registered qualifying patient's debilitating medical 

condition or symptoms associated with the debilitating medical condition," but only if 

such "transfer" is performed by a registered primary caregiver who is connected with 

the same qualifying patient through the registration process established by the 

Department of Licensing and Regulatory Affairs, and who is otherwise operating in 

strict compliance with the MMMA and the MMMA General Rules. 

42 



c. The MMMA provides that a registered primary caregiver may assist no more than five 

qualifying patients with their medical use of marijuana. 

d. By permitting the operations of registered primary caregivers by special exception in 

zoning districts IP-1 and M-1 , promotes the MMMA's purpose of ensuring that (i) a 

registered primary caregiver is not assisting more than five qualifying patients with 

their medical use of marijuana, and (ii) a registered primary caregiver does not 

unlawfully expand its operations beyond five qualifying patients, so as to become an 

illegal commercial grow operation. 

2. Consumption, smoking, and inhalation of marihuana and/or alcohol shall be prohibited 

on the premises of a primary caregiver, and a sign shall be posted on the premises of each 

facility indicating that consumption is prohibited on the premises. 

3. The premises shall be open for inspection and/or investigation at any time by City 

investigators during the stated hours of operation and at such other times as anyone is 

present on the premises. The premises shall be open for inspection and/or investigation at 

any time by the City Fire Department or Building Department. If the inspection or 

investigations indicate non-compliance with the City's Municipal Code, Building Code, Fire 

Code and/or Zoning Code, then upon order from the City Building Official, City Code 

Enforcement or Fire Marshal the operations shall be suspended until property owner or 

operator brings the premises into compliance. 

4. Acquisition, possession, cultivation, use, delivery or distribution of marijuana by the 

primary caregiver, shall be conducted indoors. A registered primary caregiver may keep and 

cultivate, in an "enclosed, locked facility" (as that term is defined by the MMMA), up to 12 

marijuana plants for each registered qualifying patient with whom the registered primary 

caregiver is connected through the registration process established by the Department of 

Licensing and Regulatory Affairs, and up to 12 additional marijuana plants for personal use, 

if the primary caregiver is also registered as a qualifying patient under the MMMA. 

5. The primary caregiver shall maintain a log book and/or database identifying by date the 

amount of marihuana and the number of marihuana plants on the premises which shall not 

exceed the amount permitted under the MMMA. This log shall be available to law 

enforcement personnel to confirm that the primary caregiver does not have more marihuana 

43 



than authorized at the location and shall not be used to disclose more information than is 

reasonably necessary to verify the lawful amount of marihuana at the facil ity. 

6. The primary caregiver shall, at all times, comply with the MMMA and the rules and 

regulations of the Department of Licensing and Regulatory Affairs-Bureau of Marihuana 

Regulations ("LARA"), as amended from time to time. 

B. Security. 

1. The primary caregiver facility shall continuously monitor the entire premises on which ii 

is operated with surveillance systems that include security cameras that operate 24 hours 

a day, seven days a week. The video recordings shall be maintained in a secure, off-site 

location for a period of 30 days, and must be coordinated with the Oakland County Sheriffs 

Department. 

2. Any usable marihuana remaining on the premises of a primary caregiver while the 

marihuana facility is not in operation shall be secured in a safe permanently affixed to the 

premises. 

C. Space Separation. 

1. Unless permitted by the MMMA, public areas of the primary caregiver facility must be 

separated from restricted or nonpublic areas of the primary caregiver facility by permanent 

barrier. 

2. Unless permitted by the MMMA, no marihuana Is permitted to be stored or displayed in 

an area accessible to the general public. 

D. Nuisance Prohibited. 

1. Primary caregiver facilities shall be free from Infestation by insects, rodents, birds, or 

vermin of any kind. 

2. Primary caregiver facilities shall produce no products other than usable marihuana 

intended for human consumption. 

44 



3. No primary caregiver facility shall be operated in a manner creating noise, dust, 

vibration, glare, fumes, or odors detectable to normal senses beyond the boundaries of the 

property on which the marihuana grower is operated. 

E. Licensing. 

1. The state license and city permit required by this chapter shall be prominently displayed 

on the premises of a primary caregiver facility. 

2. Primary caregiver uses are not permitted outside the IP-1 and M-1 zoning districts. 

3. Except for the primary caregiver, no other person shall deliver marijuana to the qualifying 

patient. 

F. Disposal of Waste. 

1. Disposal of marihuana shall be accomplished in a manner that prevents its acquisition 

by any person who may not lawfully possess it and otherwise in conformance with State 

law. 

2. Litter and waste shall be properly removed and the operating systems for waste 

disposal are maintained in an adequate manner as approved by the City so that they do not 

constitute a source of contamination in areas where marihuana is exposed. 

3. That portion of the structure where the storage of any chemicals such as herbicides, 

pesticides, and fertilizers shall be subject to inspection and approval by the local Fire 

Department to ensure compliance with the Michigan Fire Protection Code. 

G. Signage. 

1. It shall be prohibited to display any signs that are inconsistent with State and local 

laws and regulations. 

2. II shall be prohibited to use advertising material that is misleading, deceptive, or false, 

or that is designed to appeal to minors or in violation of LARA regulations. 

3. It shall be prohibited to use the symbol or image of a marihuana leaf in any exterior 

building signage. 

45 



4. No registered primary caregiver shall place or maintain, or cause to be placed or 

maintained, an advertisement of marihuana in any form or through any medium: 

a. Within 1,000 feet of the real property comprising a public or private elementary, 

vocational, or secondary school; and 

b. Within 100 feet of a public or private youth center, public swimming pool or a 

church or other structure in which religious services are conducted. 

H. Building Design. 

1. Floors, walls, and ceilings shall be constructed in such a manner that they may 

adequately be cleaned and kept clean and in good repair. 

2. Any buildings, fixtures, and other facilities shall be maintained in a sanitary condition. 

3. All necessary building, electrical, plumbing, and mechanical permits shall be obtained 

for any portion of the structure in which electrical wiring, lighting, and/or watering devices 

that support the cultivation, growing, or harvesting of marihuana are located. 

I. Site Design 

Primary caregivers seeking approval from the City shall comply with the following site design 

standards. These standards are for the public health, safety, aesthetics, and well-being of the 

business, patrons, and surrounding residential neighborhoods. 

1. Landscaping. The applicant shall establish the required landscape buffer and required 

landscaping from Chapter 4 within any buffer between the proposed adult-use 

marihuana, including bufferyards adjacent or across the street from properties zoned R-

1, R-1a, R-1b, and R-2 where there are existing non-conformities. Existing buildings and 

utility boxes are exempt from this bufferyard and landscaping requirement. Where 

underground and overhead utility lines exist, appropriate landscaping shall be installed 

to not interfere with the public utility lines. 

2. Window and Window Coverings. Pursuant to MCL 333.27961 , establishments may 

not allow cultivation, processing, sale, or display of marihuana or marihuana accessories 

46 



to be visible from a public place outside of the marihuana establishment without the use 

of binoculars, aircraft, or other optical aids. 

a. Generally, no more than 60% of the total window area may be opaque in 

appearance. However, the Planning Commission may approve an increase above 

60% in total window area, which may be opaque in appearance if necessary for 

the Establishment to comply with this section and MCL 333.27961 . 

b. While opaque windows are authorized pursuant to the requirements of this 

section, such opacity shall only be accomplished by blackening or other means, 

such as covering behind or in front of the window and shall not be accomplished 

by the boarding of windows. The boarding of windows shall only be authorized 

under the following circumstances: (1) severe weather conditions which 

necessitate the boarding of windows to avoid damage to the Establishment or (2) 

if necessary for the duration of short-term construction, not to exceed a ninety (90) 

day period. 

c. In the event the Planning Commission determines that architectural profiles as 

depicted on submitted plans is inadequate for purposes of aesthetics, the Planning 

Commission may require Developer provide alternative architectural elements in 

lieu of clear, transparent windows, including but not limited to, changes in lighting, 

landscaping, projections or recesses on a wall plane. Boarding, blacking out,JQy 

use of any color or shade), or opaqueness of windows is not considered clear, 

transparent or translucent. 

Amend Article 3 Special Purpose - Zoning District is amended to add Chapter 12 Adult 
Use Marihuana Business Districts 

3.1201 Intent. 

The purpose of the Adult-Use Marihuana Business Overlay Districts is to provide for the 

placement of adult-use marihuana business establishments and related uses as authorized in 

accordance with the Michigan Regulation and Taxation of the Marihuana Act, Initiated Law 1 of 

2018, MCL 333.27951 et seq. ("MRTMA") and the City's Adult-Use Marihuana Business 

Ordinance, so as to protect the public health, safety, and welfare of residents of the City and to 

minimize potential adverse impacts on adjacent property owners and neighborhoods. 

47 



3.1202 Adult-Use Marihuana Business Overlay District Uses. 

Except as otherwise provided or restricted by this ordinance, the City's Adult-Use Marihuana 

Business Ordinance and the regulations promulgated thereunder, the following adult-use 

marihuana business uses are authorized in the Adult-Use Marihuana Business Overlay Districts, 

provided the development also meets the design and building standards set forth in Section 

3.1212 and Article 2, Chapter 5, Development Standards for Specific Uses: 

A. Retailer; 

B. Social Equity Retailer; 

C. Safety compliance facility; 

D. Secure transporter; 

E. Grower; 

F. Processor; 

G. Class A Marihuana Microbusiness; 

H. Designated Consumption Establishment; 

I. Temporary Marihuana Event. 

3.1203 Adult-Use Marihuana Business Overlay District Permitted Accessory Uses. 

A. Off-street parking, loading and unloading as required per Section 4.307; and 

B. Any use that is not incidental to the permitted principal use. 

3.1204 Adult-Use Marihuana Business Overlay District Requiring Site Plan Review. 

All adult-use Marihuana business uses are subject to site plan review set forth in Section 6.202. 

3.1205 Licensing. 

All operators of adult-use marihuana businesses listed in Section 3.1202 must obtain State of 

Michigan license and applicable City of Pontiac permits, including not but limited to, adult-use 

marihuana businesses, building, and zoning. 

48 



3.1206 Standards for Approval. 

For consideration of adult-use marihuana businesses uses by the Planning Commission, the 

Commission shall review each application for the purpose of determining that each adult-use 

marihuana business on its location will: 

A. Not impact surrounding residential neighborhoods. 

B. Provide easy access for persons with accessible parking. 

C. Be adequately served by utilities with sufficient capacity. 

D. Corridors and streets have the capacity to accommodate Adult-Use Marihuana Business 

Overlay District's potential increases in traffic volumes. 

E. Demonstrate a safe and secure environment and uphold the public welfare of the community. 

F. Not add unintended or impromptu costs to City and municipal services. 

G. Comply with Section 6.303, Standards for Approval. 

3.1207 Adult-Use Marihuana Business Overlay District Location Description. 

Adult-Use Marihuana Business Overlay District boundaries are established on the Adult-Use 

Marihuana Business Overlay District maps. These overlay districts are part of the City of Pontiac 

Zoning Map. The Adult-Use Marihuana Business Overlay District maps may be a single sheet or 

composed of several map sheets and shall be kept on record in the City of Pontiac Clerk and 

Building Safety offices. 

The adult-use marihuana businesses uses permitted in the Adult-Use Marihuana 

Business Overlay District must meet the following requirements: 

A. East Walton Overlay District (Overlay District 1). All properties along Walton Blvd. and 

streets north of Walton Blvd., but not including areas north of Collier Road between the west side 

49 



of Telegraph Road to Fuller Street, including those contained within Overlay Map 1 for this Adult

Use Marihuana Business Overlay District. 

1. Not more than eight (8) permits to operate an Adult-Use Marihuana Retailer and/or 

Adult-Use Marihuana Social Equity Retailer shall be awarded in this Overlay District No. 1. 

See Overlay Map 1 for this Adult-Use Marihuana Business Overlay District. 

B. Cesar Chavez District (Overlay District 2). All properties along Cesar Chavez, starting 

from the Kennett Road Landfill and areas south to Cesar Chavez to W. Montcalm St. 

1. Not more than seven (7) licenses to operate an Adult-Use Marihuana Retailer and/or 

Adult-Use Marihuana Social Equity Retailer shall be awarded in this Overlay District No. 2. 

See Overlay Map 2 for this Adult-Use Marihuana Business Overlay District. 

C. C-2-Downtown Overlay District (Overlay District 3). All properties within C-2-Downtown 

District. 

1. Not more than seven (7) permits to operate an Adult-Use marihuana retailer and/or Adult

Use Marihuana Social Equity Retailer shall be awarded in this Overlay District No. 3. See 

Overlay Map 3 for this Adult-Use Marihuana Business Overlay District. 

2. In addition, Designated Consumption Establishments shall be limited to~ Downtown 

Adult-Use Marihuana Business Overlay District, with three Designated Consumption 

Establishments permitted north of Huron Street and three Designated Consumption 

Establishments permitted south of Huron Street. 

D. Woodward Gateway Overlay District (Overlay District 4). All Properties located along 

Woodward Avenue that are depicted within Overlay Map 4 (Starting from South of Turk Street 

and ending at Central Avenue on the Northeast side of Woodward Avenue) and are adjacent to 

the M-1 (Limited Industrial) or M-2 (General Industrial) Zoning Districts. 

1. Not more than two (2) licenses to operate an Adult-Use Marihuana Retailer and/or Adult

Use Marihuana Social Equity Retailer shall be awarded in this Overlay District No. 4. See 

Overlay Map 4 for this Adult-Use Marihuana Business Overlay District. 

The overlay district is a regulatory tool to implement the establishment of adult-use marihuana 

businesses in the City of Pontiac. An overlay district is applied over one or more previously 

50 



established zoning districts, establishing additional or stricter regulations, standards and criteria 

for adult-use marihuana business uses in addition to those of the underlying zoning district. 

3.1208 Buffer Distance Restrictions. 

A. As measured from each property line of the adult-use marihuana business to the closest 

Property line of the land use described below, proximity of any proposed adult-use marihuana 

businesses shall not be less than: 

1. One thousand (1,000) feet from an operational public or private school; 

2. Five hundred (500) feet from an operational commercial childcare organization (non

home occupation) that is licensed and registered with the State of Michigan Department of 

Health and Human Services or its successor agency; 

3. Five hundred (500) feet from a public park; 

4. Except in the G4-Downtown Overlay District (OVERLAY No. 3). All properties within G-

2-Downtown District, in all other overlay rustfiGtdistricts, a proposed adult-use marihuana 

businesses shall not be less than Five hundred (500) feet from a religious institution that is 

defined as tax exempted by the Oakland County Assessor; and 

B. If a parcel lot of the Adult-Use Marihuana establishment does not meet the minimum buffer 

distance as set forth in Section 3.1208A of this Ordinance, an Adult-Use marihuana retailer and/or 

Adult-Use Marihuana Social Equity Retailer shall be prohibited at that location. 

3.1209 Co-Location. 

A. Consistent with the Michigan Regulation and Taxation of the Marihuana Act, Initiated Law 1 

of 2018, MCL 333.27951 et seq. ("MRTMA") and rules promulgated by the Department, the City's 

Adult-Use Marihuana Ordinance, and except as other provided in the zoning ordinance, any 

combination of growers, processors, marihuana retailers, social equity retailers, Class A 

Microbusinesses, and designated consumption establishments may operate as separate adult

use marihuana businesses at the same physical location. 

51 



B. Consistent with the MRTMA and rules promulgated by the Department, applicants for class 

C growers permits shall be allowed to receive multiple such permits and operate under each 

permit in a single establishment. 

3.121 O Building Design, Area, Height, Bulk, and Placement. 

A. Four-sided Architecture: All Building Fa<;ades visible from an adjacent Lot or Street shall 

be constructed with the same building material quality and compatible architectural variety 

on all Building Fa<;ades in a compatible context to the rest of the building. 

B. Building and design improvements must comply with the underlying zoning requirements of 

Article 2, Chapter 4, Private Frontage Design Standards, and the specific uses development 

standards outlined in Article 2, Chapter 5. 

C. If the provisions of the Adult-Use Marihuana Business Overlay District are silent on building 

and design requirements, the requirements of the underlying district shall apply. 

D. If the building and design requirements of the Adult-Use Marihuana Business Overlay District 

conflict with the requirements of the underlying district, then the building and design requirements 

of the Adult-Use Marihuana Business Overlay District shall supersede the underlying district 

regulations. 

E. Odor shall be managed through the installation of activated carbon filters on exhaust outlets 

to the building exterior from any rooms used for production, processing, testing, packaging, 

selling, research and warehousing. Negative air pressure shall be maintained within the rooms. 

F. An alternative odor control system may be approved by the Pontiac Building Official based 

on a report by a registered mechanical engineer licensed by the State of Michigan, demonstrating 

that the alternative system will control odor equally or better than the required activated carbon 

filtration system. 

G. Generators must be installed to operate the air filter system in case of power outage or 

failure. 

H. Exterior lighting fixtures including neon, LED, flashing lights, or similarly noxious or obtrusive 

lighting or effects shall be prohibited, including lighting device with intermittent fading, flashing, 

52 



blinking, rotating or strobe light illumination on any adult-use marihuana business building, 

structure or property. 

I. Luminous tube lighting (e.g., neon, rope lighting) shall not be used to outline or frame doors, 

building elevators and/or windows. 

J. Luminous tube and exposed bulb fluorescent lighting is prohibited as an architectural detail 

on all building/structures (e.g., along the roof line, eaves) and on all building facades. 

K. Exterior site lighting must be installed in site parking areas, egress, and ingress areas. 

Lighting must be compliant with Article 4, Chapter 5. 

L. It shall be prohibited to display any signs that are inconsistent with State or local law, and 

Article 5. 

M. It shall be prohibited to use the symbol or image of a marihuana leaf or the medical "green 

cross" symbol in any exterior building signage. 

N. The following sign language is not permitted on any adult-use marihuana business building 

use: Marihuana, Marijuana, Cannabis, Ganja, Dope, Roach, Hash, Reefer or any other 

word/phrase with similar likeness. 

0. Window signs that occupy not more than ten percent of the inside surface of the window 

area of each floor level of a business or building are permitted. 

3.1211 Alternative Design Standards Applicable to Adult-Use Marihuana Retail and Social 

Equity Retail Establishments in Woodward Gateway Overlay District 

Due to Woodward Gateway Overlay District's standing as a strategic corridor for growth and 

development in the City the District's status as the "Gateway" (i.e. entry) to the City of Pontiac, 

additional standards shall apply in this District as set forth herein to provide adequate screening 

from adjacent properties and maintain the character and quality of Developments located at the 

entryway to the City. To minimize impact on residential homes located in the District, Adult-Use 

Retailers and social-equity retailers in this District shall only be authorized if adjacent to the M-1 

(Limited Industrial) or M-2 (General Industrial) Zoning Districts. 

53 



In the event that a design standard set forth in this section conflicts with any alternative design 

standards set forth in this Chapter, the design standards set forth herein shall be applied to the 

Woodward Gateway Overlay District. Nothing is this Section shall be construed as negating the 

requirement for Adult-Use Retailer and social-equity retailer establishments located in the 

Woodward Gateway Overlay District to comply with any regulations set forth in this Chapter that 

do not otherwise conflict with this Section. 

For the reasons set forth herein, the additional design standards set forth in this Section shall 

apply to Adult-Use Marihuana Retailers and social-equity retailers located in the Woodward 

Gateway District: 

A. A five (5) foot bufferyard shall be maintained on all sides of the parcel and shall conform 

to the following standards: 

1. The bufferyard may be interrupted only to provide for roads or driveways for 

vehicular access. 

2. Grass, ground cover, or other suitable live plant material shall be planted over the 

entire bufferyard area, except that paving may be used in areas of intensive 

pedestrian circulation. 

3. A minimum of two (2) deciduous canopy trees shall be planted for each one 

hundred (100) lineal feet, or portion thereof, of required bufferyard length. 

Alternatively, one (1) deciduous canopy tree and four (4) evergreen trees shall be 

planted for each one hundred (100) lineal feet, or portion thereof, of required 

bufferyard length. Deciduous canopy trees and/or evergreen trees set forth under 

this Section shall meet the minimum caliper requirements as set forth under the 

City of Pontiac's Zoning Ordinance, Article 4, Chapter 4. 

4. For the purpose of determining required plant material, required bufferyard area 

length shall be measured along the exterior periphery of the bufferyard area. 

5. Parking Lot Landscaping Requirements: 

a. Any premises having a parking lot or lots with an area of 6,000 square feet or 

greater shall provide landscape areas within the interior of the parking lot. 

b. Interior landscaping shall provide coverage of 8% of the parking lot surface 

area. 

54 



c. Landscaped areas shall be placed within the perimeter of a parking lot. The 

perimeter of a parking lot is defined by placing a simple geometric shape around 

the external edges of the lot. Landscaping areas located In the corners or 

otherwise set in from the edge of the parking lot where such area would otherwise 

be paved are considered to be within the parking lot and may be included as a part 

of the required landscaping. 

d. Required parking or paving setbacks, screening, bufferyard, or other 

landscaping required by this ordinance shall not be utilized to meet any other 

requirement of these landscaping provisions. 

e. A minimum of 1 canopy tree, 1 understory tree, and 2 shrubs shall be installed 

for every 300 square feet of landscaped area. 

f. The use of concrete, asphalt or other paved surface inside the required 

landscape areas shall be prohibited. 

g. All landscaped areas shall be designed and located to standards acceptable 

to the Planning Commission that clearly define internal streets, traffic lanes and 

parking areas and maintain intersection sight distance. In addition: 

1) Landscaped areas within a parking lot shall have a minimum width 

of 9 feet. 

2) Raised concrete curbing shall be placed around the perimeter of all 

landscaped areas located within a parking lot. Up to two (2) gaps each of 12 

inches or less are permitted per landscaped area to allow for the drainage of 

stormwater into landscape islands for the purposes of irrigation. 

3.1212 Review Authority and Establishment. 

A. The Planning Commission shall be the special exception and site plan review authority for 

the permitted adult-use marihuana business uses in the Adult-Use Marihuana Business Overlay 

Districts. 

B. Adult-use marihuana business uses must be in accordance with the Special Exception permit 

review standards contained in Article 6, Chapter 3. 

55 



C. A special exception permit for adult-use marihuana business uses requires public notice of 

500 feet from the proposed adult-use marihuana business. 

D. All permitted adult-use marihuana businesses uses must be in accordance with the uses and 

development standards outlined in Article 2. 

E. Within the Adult-Use Marihuana Business Overlay Districts all requirements of the underlying 

districts remain in effect, except where these regulations provide an alternative to such 

requirements. 

Amend Article 4 Chapter 2; Section 4.206, Keeping of Household Animals or Pets. 

C. Permitted and Special Exception Uses. Refer'to Table 2. 1 for permitted and special exception 
uses in the IP-1 district. 

Amend Article 4 Chapter 3; Section 4.303, Minimum Parking Requirements 

B. Minimum Parking Required. The minimum number of off-street parking spaces shall be 
determined in accordance with the following Table 8. For the list of uses that are included in each 
category, refer to +abl~ Table 2.1 or the use definition categories in Article 7, Chapter 2. 

Article 7 - Definitions - amend to Add Chapter 2 Definitions, and Chapter 3, General 
Definitions as follows: 

Article 7 - Chapter 2 Definitions 

7.202 Commercial, Office and Service Uses. 

[Add] "Designated Consumption Establishment" means a licensed marihuana establishment 

authorized to permit individuals 21 years of age and older to consume marihuana products on the 

licensed commercial premises. 

[Add] "Class A Microbusiness" means a licensed and City-permitted marihuana establishment 

authorized to operate at a single location and cultivate not more than 300 mature marihuana 

plants; package marihuana; purchase marihuana concentrate and marihuana-infused products 

from licensed marihuana processors; sell or transfer marihuana and marihuana-infused products 

to individuals 21 years of age and older; and transfer marihuana to a safety compliance facility for 

testing in accordance with MRTMA and the City's Adult-Use Marihuana Ordinance 

56 



[Add] "Marihuana Retailer'' or "Social Equity Retailer" means a licensed and City-permitted 

marihuana establishment that purchases marihuana from a grower or processor and sells, 

supplies, or provides marihuana to marihuana establishments and to individuals who are 21 years 

of age or older in accordance with MRTMA and the City's Adult-Use Marihuana Business 

Ordinance. 

[Amend] "Safety compliance facility" means a safety compliance facility as defined by the MRTMA 

and the administrative Marihuana Rules, including R 420.107 as amended, that takes or receives 

marihuana from a licensed grower, processor, retailer, social equity retailer, or Class A 

Microbusiness, collects random samples, tests the marihuana for contaminants, potency, and for 

tetrahydrocannabinol and other cannabinoids, and returns the test results, and may return 

the marihuana to a licensed grower, processor, retailer, social equity retailer, or Class A 

Microbusiness. 

[Amend] "Secure transporter'' means a marihuana-related business located in this State that 

stores marihuana and transports marihuana between adult-use marihuana businesses for a fee. 

A secure transporter shall comply at all times with the MRTMA and the rules promulgated 

thereunder. 

7.203 Industrial Uses. 

[Add]-G-2 Downtown Adult-Use Marihuana Business Overlay District. See Map 3. 

[Add] Cesar Chavez Adult-Use Marihuana Business Overlay District. See Map 2. 

(Amend] Grower. A commercial entity that cultivates, dries, trims, or cures, and packages 

marihuana for sale to a processor, 9f provisioning center, or marihuana retailer. As used in this 

ordinance, grower shall include class A growers, class B growers, and class C growers, and as 

further regulated by either MMFLA or MRTMA as to the number of plants that each class is 

authorized to grow in accordance with the grower's state license and City permit. 

[Add) "Primary Caregiver" or "Caregiver". Is a person who is at least 21 years old and who 

acquires, possesses, cultivates, uses, delivers or distributes marihuana to treat or alleviate a 

debilitating medical condition and has agreed to assist with a qualified patient's medical use of 

marihuana, who has not been convicted of any felony within the past 10 years, has never been 

convicted of a felony involving illegal drugs or a felony that is an assaultive crime as defined in 

57 



section 9a of chapter X of the code of criminal procedure, 1927 PA 175, MCL 770.9a, and holds 

a current and valid registration with the State of Michigan in accordance with the Michigan Medical 

Marihuana Act, Initiated Law 1 of 2008, MCL 333.26421 et seq. ("MMMA"), and any applicable 

City permit. 

[Amend] K. Processor. Commercial entity that purchases marihuana from a grower and that 

extracts resin from the marihuana or creates a marihuana-infused product for sale and transfer in 

package form to a provisioning center, or marihuana retailer, including social-equity retailer. 

[Amend] Q. Safety Compliance Facility. A safety compliance facility as defined by the MRTMA 

and the administrative Marihuana Rules, including R 420.107 as amended, that takes or receives 

marihuana from a licensed grower, processor, retailer, social equity retailer, or Class A 

Microbusiness, collects random samples, tests the marihuana for contaminants, potency, and for 

tetrahydrocannabinol and other cannabinoids, and returns the test results, and may return 

the marihuana to a licensed grower, processor, retailer, social equity retailer, or Class A 

Microbusiness. 

[Amend] S. Secure Transporter. A commercial entity located in this State that 

stores marihuana and transports marihuana between medical marihuana facilities for a fee, 

marihuana retailer, or microbusiness Class A. 

[Add] Walton Blvd. Adult-Use Marihuana Business Overlay District. See Map 1. 

(Add) Woodward Gateway Overlay District. See Map 4. 

Article 7 - General Definitions, Chapter 3 

[Add] MRTMA. The Michigan Regulation and Taxation of the Marihuana Act, Initiated Law 1 of 

2018, being Sections 333.27951 to 333.27967 of the Michigan Compiled Laws, and the 

administrative rules promulgated thereunder. 

[Add] Marihuana Business. Are the following adult-use marihuana establishments, whether 

operated for profit or not for profit: (a) grower, (b) safety compliance facility, (c) processor, (d) retailer, 

(e) social~quity retailer, (f) secure transporter, (g} Class A microbusiness, (h) Designated 

Consumption Establishment, (i) marihuana event organizer or 0) temporary marihuana event. 

58 



STATE OF MICHIGAN 

COUNTY OF OAKLAND 

CITY OF PONTIAC 

ORDINANCE NO. 

ZONING ORDINANCE MAP AMENDMENT 

.-j Formatted: Centered, Space After: O pt 

.-j Formatted: Centered, Space After: 0 pt 

.-j Formatted: Centered 

AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND APPENDIX B OF THE MUNICIPAL CODE OF THE CITY OF 

PONTIAC, AMENDING ARTICLE 2, SECTION 2.103 ZONING MAP, TO CREATE FOUR 14) 

ADULT-USE MARIHUANA OVERLAY DISTRICTS LOCATED IN THE CITY OF PONTIAC, 

SPECIFICALLY TO BE KNOWN AS FOLLOWS: ADULT-USE MARIHUANA EAST WAL TON 

OVERLAY DISTRICT. ADULT-USE MARIHUANA CESAR CHAVEZ OVERLAY DISTRICT, 

ADULT-USE MARIHUANA DOWNTOWN OVERLAY DISTRICT, AND ADULT-USE 

MARIHUANA WOODWARD GATEWAY OVERLAY DISTRICT. 

.-j Formatted: Space After: 0 pt 

THE CITY OF PONTIAC ORDAINS: 

Section 1. Amendments. 

That the Zoning Map of the City of Pontiac. said map being incorporated by reference in 

the Zoning Ordinance for the City of Pontiac pursuant to Article 2. is hereby amended. changed. 

and altered so that hereafter the zoning classifications for the below-described areas shall include 

four (4) Adult Use Marihuana Overlay Districts (AUMODsl as described herein: 

(1) Adult-Use Marihuana East Walton Overlay District (Overlay District 1 ). (See Map 

1. below). which includes all properties along Walton Blvd. and streets north of Walton 

Blvd .• but not including areas north of Collier Road between the west side of Telegraph 

Road to Fuller Street. subject to all other locational requirements and regulations on 

adult-use marihuana facilities set forth in the City of Pontiac Zoning Ordinance as to 

the East Walton Overlay District. 

59 



(2) Adult-Use Marihuana Cesar Chavez Overlay District (Overlay District 2), (See 

Map 2, below) which includes all properties along Cesar Chavez, starting from the 

Kennett Road Landfill and areas south to Cesar Chavez to W. Montcalm St., subject 

to all other locational requirements and regulations on adult-use marihuana facilities 

as set forth in the City of Pontiac Zoning Ordinance as to the Cesar Chavez Overlay 

District. 

(3) Adult-Use Marihuana Downtown Overlay District (Overlay District 3), {See Map 

3, below), which includes all properties within the Downtown District as depicted in 

Map 3, subject to all other locational requirements and regulations on adult-use 

marihuana facilities as set forth in the City of Pontiac Zoning Ordinance as to the 

Downtown Overlay District. 

(4) Adult-Use Marihuana Woodward Gateway Overlay District (Overlay District 4), 

(See Map 4, below), which includes all Properties located along Woodward Avenue 

that are depicted within Overlay Map 4 (Starting from South of Turk Street and ending 

at Central Avenue on the Northeast side of Woodward Avenue), that are adjacent to 

the M-1 (Limited Industrial) or M-2 (General Industrial) Zoning Districts and subject to 

all other locational requirements and regulations on adult-use marihuana facilities as 

set forth in the City of Pontiac Zoning Ordinance as to the Woodward Gateway Overlay 

District. 

60 



Map#1 
Adult-Use Marihuana 

Walton Blvd. Overlay District Map 

61 

N 

·+· s 



Map#2 Adult-Use Marihuana 
Cesar Chavez Overlay District Map 

-~-"1, 

·-:-:.-::::-~:.::...· 

~ 

1 
\ \ ""~ g 0,, 
~ l ~i.,. 
-'-I 

~\ I 

E:::==fl-· 

r--

~ 
--===----=====----Feet 

500 1,000 2,000 3,000 4,000 

62 



Map #3 Adult-Use Marihuana 
Downtown Overlay District Map 

~ -i I -
~~ ' 

~ ~ ~~~==~~~~ ' 
~ ~ -, 

II 

+· s 

I 
L_. 

~ 
( 

--== ~---=====-----Feet 
0 340 680 1,360 2,040 2,720 

63 



Map#4 Adult-Use Marihuana 
Woodward Avenue Overlay District Map 

Rapid St 

Rockwell Ave 

Fisher Ave 
1/) 

1 w ,wnsonAve 

~ 

Harrlson1Ave SI 
I 

1 Hughes Ave "Tl 

~ I ,r 
s· 
:0 
o. I • 

Montana Ave 

Nevada Ave 

Wyoming Ave 

0 300 eoo 1,200 1,800 2,400 =:::Jl-----======-----Feet 
Collage St 

-0 

0 i 
X "' a 
!1 P,arM?I ~ 

!I) !I) 

!I) 

1/) 

l ;¥ 

1 
!; 

'< \ 

g 
~ 

\ 
8 
C: Apex Or i£ 
SI 

;i; 
"' 2: 
" ~ 0. !!? 

X ~ ~ " .. 
j i 
? Nebraska'Ave > .. Ii 

E Wilson Ave 
1/) 

~ 
Midway Ave [ 

South Blvd,W 

HillsmontAve 

64 

I 
,/ NebraskaAve 
w 

!I) 

Ferry Ave 

Irwin Ave 

South Blvd!:~ 

< 



Section 2. Repealer and Severability. 

All other parts and provisions of the Zoning Ordinance shall remain in effect. amended only as 

provided above. If any section. clause. or provision of this Ordinance shall be declared to be 

unconstitutional. void. illegal. or ineffective by any Court of competent jurisdiction. such section. 

clause or provision declared to be unconstitutional. void or illegal shall thereby cease to be a part 

of this Ordinance but the remainder of this Ordinance shall stand and be in full force and effect. 

Section 3. Effective Date 

The foregoing amendment to the City of Pontiac Zoning Map was approved and adopted by the 

City Council on • 2023. after a public hearing as required pursuant to the 

Michigan Act 110 of 2006. as amended. The Ordinance shall be effective on 

• 2023. which date is the eighth day after publication of a Notice of 

Adoption and Posting of the Zoning Map Amendment in a publication in a newspaper of general 

circulation in the zoning district as required by Section 401 of Act 11 O of 2006, as amended. 

However. this effective date shall be extended as necessary to comply with the requirements of 

Section 402 of Act 110. as amended. 

ORDINANCE DECLARED ADOPTED. 

= ============---{ Formatted: Space After: 0 pt 

-I Formatted: Indent: Left: 4", Space After: 0 pt 

---{ Formatted: Space After: 0 pt 

Tim GFeimel. MavoF 

Citv of Pontiac. Michigan 

65 



CERTIFICATION ----{ Formatted: Centered 

The foregoing is a true and complete copy of an Ordinance adopted by the City Council+--( Formatted: Line spacing: 1.s lines 

of the City of Pontiac, County Oakland, State of Michigan. at a regular meeting of the City Council 

held on day of , 2023, and public notice of said meeting was 

given pursuant to and in accordance with the requirements of Act No. 267 of the Public Acts of 

1976, as amended, being the Open Meetings Act. and the minutes of said meeting have been or 

will be made available as required by said Act. 

Members Present: ----{ Formatted: Space Before: 12 pt ===,!_!_~='-"-------------- ------ --------
Members Absent: 

_ _ _,,ltc....!,!wcs,a,,_s_,me!!><o.?:ve~d,,___,b,..,y'-"'M,.,ee.2m"'b"'e"-r ___________ _,,a'-'n""d--'s"-'u.,p"'p"'o"-'rt""e""d--'b"-'yL...eM'-"e~m'-'b""e"-!.r---j Formatted: Line spacing: 1.5 lines 

to adopt the Ordinance. 

Members voting yes: 

Members voting no: 

Members abstaining: 

The Ordinance was declared adopted by the Mayor and has been recorded with the City 

of Pontiac. 

----{ Formatted: Space After: 0 pt 

Garland Doyle, City Clerk 

City of Pontiac, Michigan 

ADOPTED: 

PUBLISHED: 

EFFECTIVE: 

66 



#3b 

ORDINANCE 



Resolution of the Pontiac City Council 
To Approve Zoning Ordinance Amendments to Regulate Adult-Use 
Marihuana Businesses and create Designated Adult-Use Marihuana 

Overlay Districts 

PeN1n1 
The HEART of Oakland Count 

Resolution to Approve Zoning Ordinance Amendments to Regulate Adult-Use Marihuana 
Businesses and create three (3) Designated Adult-Use Marihuana Overlay Districts 

At a meeting of the City Council ("Council") of the City of Pontiac, County of Oakland, State of 
Michigan (the "City") at a meeting held on March 7, 2023, at 47450 Woodward Ave, Pontiac, MI 
48342 at 6:00 p.m., there were: 

PRESENT: ___________ ___ ___________ _ 

ABSENT: 

The following preambles and resolution were offered by ________ and seconded by 

WHEREAS, before the City Council for consideration is an Ordinance to amend the City of Pontiac 
Zoning Ordinance to authorize Adult-Use Marihuana Businesses in designated overlay Districts; 
specifically, including the following Adult-Use Marihuana Overlay Districts (AUMODs): (1) 
Downtown Overlay District; (2) Cesar E. Chavez Overlay District; and (3) East Walton Overlay 
District. 

WHEREAS, the proposed Ordinance amendments also include adoption of amendment to the City's 
Zoning Map to create the aforementioned AUMODs, excluding the Woodward Gateway Overlay 
District. 

WHEREAS, the proposed Ordinance amendments also include reasonable zoning regulations on the 
operations of Primary Caregivers. 

WHEREAS, the City Council finds it is in the best interest for the health, safety, and welfare, to 
approve the amendments to the Zoning Ordinance as presented without the Woodward Overlay 
District. 



Now Therefore, Be It Resolved that the first reading of an Ordinance Amendment to the City's 
Zoning Ordinance, including amendments to Article 2, Article 3, Article 4, Article 7, and adoption of 
the amendments to the City of Pontiac Zoning Map. 

A roll call vote on the foregoing resolution was taken, the result of which is as follows: 

YES: 

NO: 

ABSTAIN: 

THE RESOLUTION WAS THEREUPON DECLARED ADOPTED. 

CERTIFICATION 

I, the undersigned, the duly qualified and acting Clerk of the City of Pontiac, Michigan, do hereby 
certify that the foregoing is a true and complete copy of a resolution adopted by the City of Pontiac 
City Council at a regular meeting held on March 7, 2023, the original of which is on file in my office, 
and that such meeting was conducted and public notice thereof was given pursuant to and in 
compliance with Act No. 267, Michigan Public Acts of 1976, as amended, and that minutes of such 
meeting were kept and are available as required by such Act. 

By: _ _ ______________ _ 

Dated: March_, 2023 Its: City Clerk 



CITY OF PONTIAC 

ORDINANCE NO. # __ _ 

AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE CITY OF PONTIAC ZONING ORDINANCE TO INCLUDE 
ADULT-USE MARIHUANA BUSINESSES IN DESIGNATED OVERLAY DISTRICTS AND 
USES TO INCLUDE: 

ARTICLE 2, CHAPTER 1, SECTION 2.101, TABLE 1 ZONING DISTRICTS, SPECIAL 
PURPOSE ZONING DISTRICTS; 

ARTICLE 2, CHAPTER 2, SECTION 2.203; SECTION 2.204; SECTION 2.205; and SECTION 
2.303, TABLE 2.1-USES PERMITTED WITHIN ADULT-USE MARIHUANA OVERLAY 
DISTRICTS; AND PRIMARY CAREGIVERS OR CAREGIVERS USE PERMITTED IN ZONING 
DISTRICTS IP-1 AND MP-1 BY SPECIAL EXCEPTION; 

ARTICLE 2, CHAPTER 3, SECTION 2.304; SECTION 2.305; SECTION 2.306; SECTION 2.307; 
SECTION 2.308; SECTION 2.309; SECTION 2.310; SECTION 2.311; SECTION 2.312; 
SECTION 2.313; SECTION 2.314, TO AMEND TABLE 2 REFERENCE TO TABLE 2.1 

ARTICLE 2 CHAPTER 4; SECTION 2.403; TO AMEND TABLE 2 REFERENCE TO TABLE 2.1 

ARTICLE 2 CHAPTER 4; SECTION 2.501; TO AMEND TABLE 2 REFERENCE TO TABLE 2.1 

ARTICLE 2, CHAPTER 5 - DEVELOPMENT STANDARDS FOR SPECIFIC USES TO ADD 
SECTIONS 2.551 Adult-Use Marihuana Grower Establishments; 2.552 Adult-Use Marihuana 
Processor; 2.553 Adult-Use Marihuana Retailer; Social Equity Retailer; 2.554 Adult-Use 
Class A Microbusiness; 2.555 Adult-Use Marihuana Designated Consumption 
Establishment; 2.556 Adult-Use Marihuana Safety Compliance Facility; 2.557 Adult-Use 
Marihuana Secure Transporter; 2.558 Temporary Marihuana Event; AND 2.559 Primary 
Caregiver or Caregiver; 

ARTICLE 3, SPECIAL PURPOSE ZONING DISTRICTS TO ADD CHAPTER 12-ADULT-USE 
MARIHUANA BUSINESS OVERLAY DISTRICTS; AND 

ARTICLE 4, SECTION 2, SECTION 4.206; TO AMEND TABLE 2 REFERENCE TO TABLE 2.1 

ARTICLE 4, SECTION 3, SECTION 4.303; TO AMEND TABLE 2 REFERENCE TO TABLE 2.1 

ARTICLE 7 DEFINITIONS TO ADD CHAPTER 2 AND CHAPTER 3, Article 7 - Definitions. 



THE CITY OF PONTIAC ORDAINS: 

Article 2, Chapters 1 and 2, Section 2.101 Table 1 and Section 2.303 Table 2, Zoning 
Districts to add: 

Abbreviation General Zoning Districts Abbreviation Special Purpose 
Zonina Districts 

To Remain To Remain The Same -- --
The Same -- --

AUMOD Adult-Use 
Marihuana 
Overlav District 

Amend Article 2, Chapter 2, Section 2.203, Permitted Uses By District: 

A. Uses Permitted in Each District. Except for Adult-Use Marihuana Business uses, Table 
2 lists the permitted uses in each district. Table 2.1 and Table 2.2 lists the permitted Adult-Use 
Marihuana Business uses in each Adult-Use Marihuana Overlay Districts as defined in this 
ordinance. Refer to Article 7, Chapter 2 for definitions of all uses listed in the following Table 2. 1 
and Table 2.2. In addition, Primary Caregivers shall be permitted by special exception in IP-1 and 
MP-1 Zoning Districts. 

B. Development Standards Applicable to Uses. Whenever a specific development standard 
is included for a particular use in Table 2.1 or Table 2.2, any development must comply with the 
requirements of the referenced section. All development standards are listed in Article 2, 
Chapter 5. 

C. Footnotes. Refer to the footnotes to the table of permitted uses in Section 2.205. Footnotes 
applicable to each zoning district or category of zoning districts are listed in parentheses in the 
heading of Table 2.1 and Table 2.2. 

D. Special Purpose Zoning Districts Not Listed in Table 2.1. Refer to Article 3 for the uses 
and development standards applicable in the special purpose zoning districts. Special purpose 
zoning districts are not listed in Table 2, and include the PURD Planned Unit Residential District, 
R-5 Manufactured Housing District, R-O Recreation-Open Space District, P-1 Parking District, G
O-T Government Office Technology District, C-C Civic Center District, MUD - Mixed Use District, 
TC Town Center District, and SP Special Purpose District. 

Amend Article 2, Section 2, Section 2.204 Zoning District Design Standards 

The following Table 2.1 lists the uses that may be permitted in each zoning district, provided that 
the development also meets the design and building standards set forth for each district in 
Chapters 3 through 6 of this 0, along with all other development standards contained in this 
Ordinance. For instance, while multiple family apartment buildings may be permitted in various 
zoning districts, each zoning district will have different standards for building bulk, location, and 
design. The customized design standards set forth in each zoning district are tailored to the 
existing and intended character of each zoning district and are further intended to prevent 
contextually inappropriate development from occurring within the City. 

2 



Amend Article 2, Chapter 2, Section 2.205 to add Subsection eQ: 

eQ. The maximum allowable number of Adult-Use Marihuana Retailers in the City of Pontiac 
shall be eighteen (18) and the maximum number of Adult-Use Marihuana Social Equity Retailers 
shall be six (6). The maximum number of Marihuana Retail permits in each Adult-Use Marihuana 
Overlay District (AUMOD) shall be as set forth in Table 2.2, Adult Marihuana Uses by Overlay 
District, Including Limits Per Overlay District. 

Amend Article 2, Chapter 2, Section 2.303 Table 2.1 (Uses Permitted by District) and Table 
2.2 (Adult Marihuana Uses By Overlay District). 

Not more than six (6) (Marihuana) Retailers are to be located in any one of the three Downtown 
Adult-Use Marihuana Business Overlay Districts; Social Equity Retailers authorized by City 
ordinance are allowed in any one of the three (3) Downtown Adult-Use Marihuana Business 
Overlay Districts; not more than five (5) Class A Microbusinesses are allowed across all Adult
Use Marihuana Business Overlay Districts; and not more than six (6) Designated Consumption 
Establishments shall be allowed in the G-2-Downtown Adult-Use Marihuana Business Overlay 
District with three (3) Designated Consumption Establishments permitted north of Huron Street 
and three (3) Designated Consumption Establishments permitted south of Huron Street; Grower, 
Safety Compliance Facility, Secure Transporter, are allowed in the East Walton Boulevard and 
Cesar E. Chavez Adult-Use Marihuana Business Overlay Districts; Temporary Marihuana Events 
shall be allowed only in the G4-Downtown Adult-Use Marihuana Business Overlay District; and 
Primary Caregivers or Caregivers, shall be located by special exception approval in the IP-1 and 
MP-1 Zoning Districts 

Table 2.1 Uses Permitted by District 

Commercial, Office, and Service Uses 

Residential Industrial 
Commercial Districts 

Districts Districts 

R-1 R-2 R-3 C-0 C-1 C-2 C-3 C-4 M-1 M-2 IP-1 

Aault-Yse-Mafil'l11llflll Designate Section 

Consumption 2.555 

beuAgeEstablishment 

Adult-Use Marihuana Grower Section 

Facility 2.551 
I 

Adult-Use Marihuana Class A Section 

Microbusiness 2.S54 

Section 
Adult-Use Marihuana Processor 

: 2.552 

3 



Adult-Use Marihuana Retailer or I I Section 

Social Equity Retailer I I 2.553 
I I 

Adult-Use Marihuana Safety Section 

Compliance Facility ! 2.556 

Adult-Use Marihuana Secure Section 
X X X X X 

Transporter 2.557 

R-1 R-2 R-3 C-0 C-1 C-2 C-3 C-4 M-1 M-2 IP-1 

Adult-Use Marihuana Temporary Section 

Marihuana Event I 2.558 
I 

X X Section 
Caregiver 

2.559 

Table 2.2, Adult Marihuana Uses By Overlay District, Including Limits Per Overlay District 

Downtown 

Overlay 

(District 3) 

AGH!t--Yse 
0 

MafiluiaRaDesignated 
3- N of Huron 

Consumption 
3-S of Huron 

be1:mgeEstablishment 

Adult-Use Marihuana Grower 

Facility 

Adult-Use Marihuana Class A 

Microbusiness (across all 

districts) 0 

Adult-Use Marihuana 

Processor 

4 

Cesar E. 

Chavez 

Overlay 

(District 2) 

0 

3 

0 

0 

3 

Section 2.555 

Section 2.551 

Section 2.554 

Section 2.552 



0 
Adult-Use Marihuana Retailer 

0 
Section 2.553 

6 6 . 

Adult-Use Marihuana Social 0 Equity Retailer 0 0 Section 2.553 

2 2 2 

Adult-Use Marihuana Safety 

Compliance Facility 
0 0 Section 2.5S6 

Adult-Use Marihuana Secure 
0 0 

Section 2.557 

Transporter 

Adult-Use Marihuana Section 2.558 

Temporary Marihuana Event # 

o = Special Exception Permit required. Applicants must have a conditionally approved Adult-Use 
Marihuana Business Permit from the City of Pontiac. 

# = Temporary Use Permitted with the Proper City of Pontiac Permitting with any necessary Building and 
Zoning Approvals. 

Note: If a number is listed in Table 2.2, that is the maximum allowed in that overlay district. If a number is 
not listed, there is no limitation per Overlay District, but applicants must receive proper Adult-Use 
Marihuana permits from the City. 

Amend Article 2 Chapter 3; Section 2.304 R-1, R-1A, R-18 One Family Dwelling Districts 

C. Permitted and Special Exception Uses. Refer to Table 2. 1 for permitted and special 
exception uses in the R-1 district. 

Amend Article 2 Chapter 3; Section 2.305 R-2, Two Family Dwelling Districts 

C. Permitted and Special Exception Uses. Refer to Table 2. 1 for permitted and special 
exception uses in the R-2 district. 

Amend Article 2 Chapter 3; Section 2.306 R-3, Multi-Family Dwelling Districts 

C. Permitted and Special Exception Uses. Refer to Table 2. 1 for permitted and special 
exception uses in the R-3 district. 

5 



Amend Article 2 Chapter 3; Section 2.307 C-0, Residential Office District 

C. Permitted and Special Exception Uses. Refer to Table 2. 1 for permitted and special 
exception uses in the C-0 district. 

Amend Article 2 Chapter 3; Section 2.308 C-1, Local Business/Residential Mixed-Use 
District. 

C. Permitted and Special Exception Uses. Refer to Table 2. 1 for permitted and special 
exception uses in the C-1 district. 

Amend Article 2 Chapter 3; Section 2.309 C-2, Downtown Mixed-Use District 

C. Permitted and Special Exception Uses. Refer to Table 2.1 for permitted and special 
exception uses in the C-2 district. 

Amend Article 2 Chapter 3; Section 2.310 C-3 Corridor Commercial Mixed-Use District. 

C. Permitted and Special Exception Uses. Refer to Table 2. 1 for permitted and special 
exception uses in the C-3 district. 

Amend Article 2 Chapter 3; Section 2.311 C-4 Suburban Business District. 

C. Permitted and Special Exception Uses. Refer to Table 2. 1 for permitted and special 
exception uses in the C-4 district. 

Amend Article 2 Chapter 4; Section 2.311 M-1, Limited Industrial District 

C. Permitted and Special Exception Uses. Refer to Table 2. 1 for permitted and special 
exception uses in the M-1 district. 

Amend Article 2 Chapter 4; Section 2.311 M-2, Limited Industrial District 

C. Permitted and Special Exception Uses. Refer to Table 2. 1 for permitted and special 
exception uses in the M-2 district. 

Amend Article 2 Chapter 4; Section 2.311 IP-1, Industrial Park District 

C. Permitted and Special Exception Uses. Refer to Table 2. 1 for permitted and special 
exception uses in the IP-1 district. 

Amend Article 2 Chapter 4; Section 2.403 Permitted Private Frontage Layouts 

Table 4. Permitted Private Frontage Layouts by Zoning District 

Footnote A: Community, Education, and Institution Uses listed in Table 2.1. Uses Permitted by 
District are exempt from the private frontage requirements and need only comply with the setback 
requirements for the zoning district in which they are located. 

6 



Amend Article 2 Chapter 4; Section 2.501 Mixed Use Building - Residential with Non
Residential 

B. Permitted Uses. Non-residential uses permitted in a mixed-use building are limited to those 
that are permitted in the district by Table 2.1. Uses Permitted by District. Special exception 
approval is required if a particular use that is proposed within a mixed-use building is listed as a 
special exception use in Table 2.1. 

Amend Article 2, Chapter 5 - Development Standards for Specific Uses is amended to add 
SECTIONS 2.551 Adult-Use Marihuana Grower Establishments; 2.552 Adult-Use Marihuana 
Processor; 2.553 Adult-Use Marihuana Retailer; Social Equity Retailer; 2.554 Adult-Use 
Class A Microbusiness; 2.555 Adult-Use Marihuana Designated Consumption 
Establishment; 2.556 Adult-Use Marihuana Safety Compliance Facility; 2.557 Adult-Use 
Marihuana Secure Transporter; 2.558 Temporary Marihuana Event; AND 2.559 Primary 
Caregiver or Caregiver: 

2.551 Adult-Use Marihuana Grower Establishments. 

"Adult-Use Marihuana Grower" means a licensed and City-permitted marihuana establishment 

that cultivates, dries, trims, or cures and packages marihuana for sale to a processor or marihuana 

retailer, as defined in the Michigan Regulation and Taxation of the Marihuana Act ("MRTMA"). As 

used in this ordinance, growers shall include class A growers, class B growers, and class C 

growers. 

"Class A marihuana grower" means a grower licensed to grow not more than 100 marihuana 

plants. 

"Class B marihuana grower" means a grower licensed to grow not more than 500 marihuana 

plants. 

"Class C marihuana grower" means a grower licensed to grow not more than 2,000 marihuana 

plants. 

A. General Provisions. 

1. Consumption, smoking, and inhalation of marihuana and/or alcohol shall be prohibited 

on the premises of a marihuana grower facility, and a sign shall be posted on the premises 

of each facility indicating that consumption is prohibited on the premises. 

2. The premises shall be open for inspection and/or investigation at any time by City 

investigators during the stated hours of operation and at such other times as anyone is 

present on the premises. The premises shall be open for inspection and/or investigation at 

7 



any time by the City Fire Department or Building Department. If the inspection or 

investigations indicate non-compliance with the City's Municipal Code, Building Code, Fire 

Code and/or Zoning Code, then upon order from the City Building Official, City Code 

Enforcement or Fire Marshal the operations shall be suspended until the property owner or 

operator brings the premises into compliance. 

3. All activity related to the marihuana growing shall be done indoors. 

4. Any marihuana grower establishment shall maintain a log book and/or database 

identifying by date the amount of marihuana and the number of marihuana plants on the 

premises which shall not exceed the amount permitted under the grower license issued by 

the State of Michigan. This log shall be available to law enforcement personnel to confirm 

that the marihuana grower does not have more marihuana than authorized at the location 

and shall not be used to disclose more information than is reasonably necessary to verify 

the lawful amount of marihuana at the facility. A grower establishment shall enter all 

transactions, current inventory, and other information as required by the State into the 

statewide monitoring system as required by law. 

5. The marihuana grower facility shall, at all times, comply with the MRTMA and the rules 

and regulations of the Department of Licensing and Regulatory Affairs-Bureau 

of Marihuana Regulations ("LARA"), as amended from time to time. 

B. Security. 

1. The marihuana grower facility shall continuously monitor the entire premises on which 

it is operated with surveillance systems that include security cameras that operate 24 hours 

a day, seven days a week. The video recordings shall be maintained in a secure, off-site 

location for a period of 30 days, and must be coordinated with the Oakland County Sheriff's 

Department. 

2. Any usable marihuana remaining on the premises of a marihuana grower while the 

marihuana facility is not in operation shall be secured in a safe permanently affixed to the 

premises. 

8 



C. Space Separation. 

1. Unless permitted by the MRTMA, public areas of the marihuana grower facility must be 

separated from restricted or nonpublic areas of the grower facility by a permanent barrier. 

2. Unless permitted by the MRTMA, no marihuana Is permitted to be stored or displayed 

in an area accessible to the general public. 

D. Nuisance Prohibited. 

1. Marihuana grower establishments shall be free from Infestation by insects, rodents, 

birds, or vermin of any kind. 

2. Marihuana grower establishments shall produce no products other than usable 

marihuana intended for human consumption. 

3. No marihuana grower shall be operated in a manner creating noise, dust, vibration, 

glare, fumes, or odors detectable to normal senses beyond the boundaries of the property 

on which the marihuana grower is operated. 

E. Licensing. 

1. The state license and city permit required by this chapter shall be prominently displayed 

on the premises of a marihuana grower facility. 

2. Marihuana grower uses are not permitted outside the Cesar Chavez and Walton Blvd. 

Adult-Use Marihuana Business Overlay Districts. 

F. Disposal of Waste. 

1. Disposal of marihuana shall be accomplished in a manner that prevents its acquisition 

by any person who may not lawfully possess it and otherwise in conformance with State 

law. 

2. Litter and waste shall be properly removed and the operating systems for waste 

disposal shall be maintained in an adequate manner as approved by the City so that they 

do not constitute a source of contamination in areas where marihuana is exposed. 

9 



3. That portion of the structure where chemicals, such as herbicides, pesticides, and 

fertilizers are stored shall be subject to inspection and approval by the local Fire Department 

to ensure compliance with the Michigan Fire Protection Code. 

G. Signage. 

1. It shall be prohibited to display any signs that are inconsistent with State and local 

laws and regulations. 

2. It shall be prohibited to use advertising material that is misleading, deceptive, or false, 

or that is designed to appeal to minors or in violation of LARA regulations. 

3. It shall be prohibited to use the symbol or image of a marihuana leaf in any exterior 

building signage. 

4. No licensed marihuana grower shall place or maintain, or cause to be placed or 

maintained, an advertisement of marihuana in any form or through any medium: 

a. Within 1,000 feet of the real property comprising a public or private elementary, 

vocational, or secondary school; and 

b. Within 100 feet of a public or private youth center, public swimming pool or a 

church or other structure in which religious services are conducted. 

H. Co-Location. 

1. There shall be no accessory uses permitted within the same grower establishment 

location, other than a processor, retailer, social equity retailer, Class A microbusiness, or 

designated consumption establishment, provided all said uses are in conformance with this 

zoning ordinance, the City's Adult-Use Marihuana Business ordinance, the Michigan 

Regulation and Taxation of the Marihuana Act, Initiated Law 1 of 2018, MCL 333.27951 et 

seq. ("MRTMA") and state and local regulations promulgated thereunder. 

2. Multiple class C licenses may be stacked in the same grower establishment as defined 

by the MRTMA and shall only be considered as one establishment for the purposes of this 

subsection. A separate application fee is required to be paid for each class C license. 

10 



I. Building Design. 

1. Floors, walls, and ceilings shall be constructed in such a manner that they may 

adequately be cleaned and kept clean and in good repair. 

2. Any buildings, fixtures, and other facilities shall be maintained in a sanitary condition. 

3. All necessary building, electrical, plumbing, and mechanical permits shall be obtained 

for any portion of the structure in which electrical wiring, lighting, and/or watering devices 

that support the cultivation, growing, or harvesting of marihuana are located. 

J. Site Design 

Grower marihuana businesses seeking approval from the City of Pontiac shall comply with the 

following site design standards, even if the site is the location of an existing business. These 

standards are for the public health, safety, aesthetics, and well-being of the business, patrons, 

and surrounding residential neighborhoods. 

1. Landscaping. The applicant shall establish the required landscape buffer and required 

landscaping from Chapter 4 within any buffer between the proposed adult-use 

marihuana, including bufferyards adjacent or across the street from properties zoned R-

1, R-1 a, R-1 b, and R-2 where there are existing non-conformities. Existing buildings and 

utility boxes are exempt from this bufferyard and landscaping requirement. Where 

underground and overhead utility lines exist, appropriate landscaping shall be installed 

to not interfere with the public utility lines. 

2. Site Lighting. An adult-use marihuana site shall meet all the required lighting standards 

of Chapter 5. Additionally, exterior lighting fixtures including neon, LED, flashing lights, 

or similarly noxious or obtrusive lighting or effects shall be prohibited. Each site shall 

have a minimum lighting standard of 0.5 Foot-candles Average Maintained: Measured 

at grade in all parking and loading areas and pedestrian pathways. Actual site 

measurement compliance shall not drop below a minimum of 0.3 foot-candles at any 

one location. For design purposes, the light loss factor (LLF) shall be calculated at: 

a. 0.7 LLF for Incandescent, Metal Halide, and Mercury Vapor lamp sources. 

b. 0.8 LLF for Fluorescent and Sodium lamp sources. 

11 



c. 0.9 LLF for Light Emitting Diode (LED) lamp sources. 

3. Window and Window Coverings. Pursuant to MCL 333.27961 , establishments may 

not allow cultivation, processing, sale, or display of marihuana or marihuana accessories 

to be visible from a public place outside of the marihuana establishment without the use 

of binoculars, aircraft, or other optical aids. 

a. Generally, no more than 60% of the total window area may be opaque in 

appearance. However, the Planning Commission may approve an increase above 

60% in total window area, which may be opaque in appearance if necessary for 

the Establishment to comply with this section and MCL 333.27961. 

b. While opaque windows are authorized pursuant to the requirements of this 

section, such opacity shall only be accomplished by blackening or other means, 

such as covering behind or in front of the window, and shall not be accomplished 

by the boarding of windows. The boarding of windows shall only be authorized 

under the following circumstances: (1) severe weather conditions which 

necessitate the boarding of windows to avoid damage to the Establishment or (2) 

if necessary for the duration of short-term construction, not to exceed a ninety (90) 

day period. 

c. In the event the Planning Commission determines that architectural profiles as 

depicted on submitted plans is inadequate for purposes of aesthetics, the Planning 

Commission may require the Developer provide alternative architectural elements 

in lieu of clear, transparent windows, including but not limited to, changes in 

lighting, landscaping, projections or recesses on a wall plane. Boarding, blacking 

out, (by use of any color or shade). or opaqueness of windows is not considered 

clear, transparent or translucent. 

2.552 Adult-Use Marihuana Processor. 

"Processor" means a licensed and City-permitted marihuana facility authorized to purchase or 

obtain marihuana from a grower establishment and who processes the marihuana and sells or 

transfers it in packaged form to a retailer, social equity retailer, class A microbusiness, or another 

processor. 

12 



A. General Provisions. 

1. The processor shall comply at all limes and in all circumstances with the MRTMA, and 

the general rules of LARA, as they may be amended from time to lime. 

2. Consumption, smoking, and inhalation of marihuana and/or alcohol shall be prohibited 

on the premises of a marihuana processor, and a sign shall be posted on the premises of 

each marihuana processor indicating that consumption is prohibited on the premises. 

3. The premises shall be open for inspection and/or investigation at any time by City 

investigators during the stated hours of operation and at such other times as anyone is 

present on the premises. The premises shall be open for inspection and/or investigation at 

any time by the City Fire Department or Building Department. If the inspection or 

investigations indicate non-compliance with the City's Municipal Code, Building Code, Fire 

Code and/or Zoning Code, then upon order from the City Building Official, City Code 

Enforcement or Fire Marshal the operations shall be suspended until property owner or 

operator brings the premises into compliance. 

4. Any processor facility shall maintain a log book and/or database identifying by date the 

amount of marihuana and the number of marihuana products on the premises which shall 

not exceed the amount permitted under the processor license issued by the State of 

Michigan. This log shall be available to law enforcement personnel to confirm that the 

processor does not have more marihuana than authorized at the location and shall not be 

used to disclose more information than is reasonably necessary to verify the lawful amount 

of marihuana at the facility. A processor shall enter all transactions, current inventory, and 

other information as required by the State into the statewide monitoring system as required 

by law. 

5. Processor facilities shall not produce any products other than those marihuana -infused 

products allowed by the MRTMA and the rules promulgated thereunder. 

B. Security. 

13 



1. The marihuana processor facility shall continuously monitor the entire premises on 

which it is operated with surveillance systems that include security cameras that operate 24 

hours a day, seven days a week. The video recordings shall be maintained in a secure, off

site location for a period of 30 days, and must be coordinated with the Oakland County 

Sheriffs Department. 

2. Any usable marihuana, and marihuana products, remaining on the premises of a 

marihuana processor while the marihuana facility is not in operation shall be secured in a 

safe permanently affixed to the premises. 

3. All marihuana, and marihuana products, shall be contained within the building in an 

enclosed, locked facility in accordance with the MRTMA, as amended. 

C. Space Separation. 

1. Unless permitted by the MRTMA, public areas of the marihuana processor facility must 

be separated from restricted or nonpublic areas of the processor facility by a permanent 

barrier. 

2. Unless permitted by the MRTMA, no marihuana is permitted to be stored or displayed 

in an area accessible to the general public. 

D. Nuisance Prohibited. 

1. Processor facilities shall be free from infestation by insects, rodents, birds, or vermin of 

any kind. 

2. No marihuana processor shall be operated in a manner creating noise, dust, vibration, 

glare, fumes, or odors detectable to normal senses beyond the boundaries of the property 

on which the marihuana processor is operated. 

E. Licensing. 

1. The state license and city permit required by this chapter shall be prominently displayed 

on the premises of a marihuana processor facility. 

14 



2. Marihuana processor uses are not permitted outside the Cesar Chavez and Walton 

Blvd. Adult-Use Marihuana Business Overlay Districts. 

F. Disposal of Waste. 

1. Disposal of marihuana shall be accomplished in a manner that prevents its acquisition 

by any person who may not lawfully possess it and otherwise in conformance with State 

law. 

2. Litter and waste shall be properly removed and the operating systems for waste 

disposal are maintained in an adequate manner as approved by the City so that they do not 

constitute a source of contamination in areas where marihuana is exposed. 

G. Signage. 

1. It shall be prohibited to display any signs that are inconsistent with State and local laws 

and regulations. 

2. It shall be prohibited to use advertising material that is misleading, deceptive, or false, 

or that is designed to appeal to minors or in violation of LARA regulations. 

3. It shall be prohibited to use the symbol or image of a marihuana leaf in any exterior 

building signage. 

4. No licensed marihuana processor shall place or maintain, or cause to be placed or 

maintained, an advertisement of marihuana in any form or through any medium: 

a. Within 1,000 feet of the real property comprising a public or private elementary, 

vocational, or secondary school; and 

b. Within 100 feet of a public or private youth center, public swimming pool or a 

church or other structure in which religious services are conducted. 

H. Co-Location. 

15 



1. There shall be no accessory uses permitted within the same processor facility location 

other than those associated with a grower, adult-use marihuana retailer, social equity 

retailer, Class A microbusiness, or designated consumption establishment, provided all said 

uses are in conformance with this zoning ordinance, City's Adult-Use Marihuana Business 

ordinance, the Michigan Regulation and Taxation of the Marihuana Act, Initiated Law 1 of 

2018, MCL 333.27951 et seq. ("MRTMA") and state and local regulations promulgated 

thereunder. 

2. The dispensing of marihuana at the processor facility shall be prohibited. 

I. Building Design. 

1. Floors, walls, and ceilings shall be constructed in such a manner that they may 

adequately be cleaned and kept clean and in good repair. 

2. Any buildings, fixtures, and other facilities shall be maintained in a sanitary condition. 

J. Site Design 

Processor business seeking approval from the City of Pontiac shall comply with the following site 

design standards, even if the site is the location of an existing business. These standards are for 

the public health, safety, aesthetics, and well-being of the business, patrons, and surrounding 

residential neighborhoods. 

1. Landscaping. The applicant shall establish the required landscape buffer and required 

landscaping from Chapter 4 within any buffer between the proposed adult-use 

marihuana, including bufferyards adjacent or across the street from properties zoned R-

1, R-1 a, R-1 b, and R-2 where there are existing non-conformities. Existing buildings and 

utility boxes are exempt from this bufferyard and landscaping requirement. Where 

underground and overhead utility lines exist. appropriate landscaping shall be installed 

to not interfere with the public utility lines. 

2. Site Lighting. An adult-use marihuana processor site shall meet all the required lighting 

standards of Chapter 5. Additionally, exterior lighting fixtures including neon, LED, 

flashing lights, or similarly noxious or obtrusive lighting or effects shall be prohibited. 

Each site shall have a minimum lighting standard of 0.5 Foot-candles Average 

16 



Maintained: Measured at grade in all parking and loading areas and pedestrian 

pathways. Actual site measurement compliance shall not drop below a minimum of 0.3 

foot-candles at any one location. For design purposes, the light loss factor (LLF) shall 

be calculated at: 

a. 0.7 LLF for Incandescent, Metal Halide, and Mercury Vapor lamp sources. 

b. 0.8 LLF for Fluorescent and Sodium lamp sources. 

c. 0.9 LLF for Light Emitting Diode (LED) lamp sources. 

3. Window and Window Coverings. Pursuant to MCL 333.27961 , establishments may 

not allow cultivation, processing, sale, or display of marihuana or marihuana accessories 

to be visible from a public place outside of the marihuana establishment without the use 

of binoculars, aircraft, or other optical aids. 

a. Generally, no more than 60% of the total window area may be opaque in 

appearance. However, the Planning Commission may approve an increase above 

60% in total window area, which may be opaque in appearance if necessary for 

the Establishment to comply with this section and MCL 333.27961. 

b. While opaque windows are authorized pursuant to the requirements of this 

section, such opacity shall only be accomplished by blackening or other means, 

such as covering behind or in front of the window, and shall not be accomplished 

by the boarding of windows. The boarding of windows shall only be authorized 

under the following circumstances: (1) severe weather conditions which 

necessitate the boarding of windows to avoid damage to the Establishment or (2) 

if necessary for the duration of short-term construction, not to exceed a ninety (90) 

day period. 

c. In the event the Planning Commission determines that architectural profiles as 

depicted on submitted plans is inadequate for the purpose of aesthetics, the 

Planning Commission may require Developer provide alternative architectural 

elements in lieu of clear, transparent windows, including but not limited to, changes 

in lighting, landscaping, projections or recesses on a wall plane. Boarding, blacking 

17 



out7 (by use of any color or shade), or opaqueness of windows is not considered 

clear, transparent or translucent. 

2.553 Adult-Use Marihuana Retailer; Social Equity Retailer. 

"Retailer" and "Social Equity Retailer" means a licensed and City-permitted marihuana 

establishment that purchases marihuana from a grower or processor and sells, supplies, or 

provides marihuana to marihuana establishments and to individuals who are 21 years of age or 

older in accordance with MRTMA and the City's Adult-Use Marihuana Business Ordinance. 

A. General Provisions. 

1. Consumption. smoking, and inhalation of marihuana and/or alcohol shall be prohibited 

on the premises of a Retailer or Social Equity Retailer, and a sign shall be posted on the 

premises indicating that consumption is prohibited on the premises. 

2. Retailer or Social Equity Retailers shall be closed for business between the hours of 

9~:00 p.m. and 7:00 a.m .• with the exception of Retailer or Social Equity Retailers operating 

in the-G-a Downtown Overlay District. which shall be closed for business between the hours 

of 2:00 am and 7:00 a.m. 

3. The premises of a Retailer or Social Equity Retailer shall be open for inspection and/or 

investigation at any time by City investigators during the stated hours of operation and at 

such other times as anyone is present on the premises. The premises shall be open for 

inspection and/or investigation at any time by the City Fire or Building Department. If the 

inspection or investigations indicate non-compliance with the City's Municipal Code, 

Building Code, Fire Code and/or Zoning Code. then upon order from the City Building 

Official, City Code Enforcement or Fire Marshal the operations shall be suspended until 

property owner or operator brings the premises into compliance. 

4. Any retailer or social-equity retailer shall maintain a log book and/or database identifying 

by date the amount of marihuana and the number of marihuana products on the premises 

which shall not exceed the amount permitted under the processor license issued by the 

State of Michigan. This log shall be available to law enforcement personnel to confirm that 

the processor does not have more marihuana than authorized at the location and shall not 

be used to disclose more information than is reasonably necessary to verify the lawful 

18 



amount of marihuana at the facility. A retailer or social-equity retailer shall enter all 

transactions, current inventory, and other information as required by the State into the 

statewide monitoring system as required by law. 

B. Security. 

1. Retailer and Social Equity Retailer shall continuously monitor the entire premises on 

which they are operated with surveillance systems that include security cameras that 

operate 24 hours a day, seven days a week. The video recordings shall be maintained in a 

secure, off-site location for a period of 30 days, and must be coordinated with the Oakland 

County Sheriffs Department. 

2. Any usable marihuana remaining on the premises of a Retailer or Social Equity Retailer 

while not in operation shall be secured in a safe permanently affixed to the premises. 

C. Space Separation. 

1. Unless permitted by the MRTMA public areas of the Retailer or Social Equity must be 

separated from restricted or nonpublic areas of the retailer by a permanent barrier. 

2. Unless permitted by the MRTMA, no marihuana is permitted to be stored or displayed 

in an area accessible to the general public. 

3. Marihuana may be displayed in a sales area only if permitted by the MRTMA. 

D. Nuisance Prohibited. No Retailer or Social Equity shall be operated in a manner creating 

noise, dust, vibration, glare, fumes, or odors detectable to normal senses beyond the boundaries 

of the property on which the Marihuana Retailer is operated. 

E. Licensing. 

1. The state license and city permit required by this chapter shall be prominently displayed 

on the premises of a Retailer or Social Equity Retailer. 

2. The number of Adult-Use Retailers and/or Adult-Use Marihuana Social Equity Retailers 

which may be established in each of the following Adult-Use Marihuana Business Overlay 

Districts shall be governed by Table 2.2 as set forth in Article 2, Chapter 2, Section 2.303: 

19 



a. East Walton Overlay District (Overlay District 1). All properties along Walton 

Blvd. and streets north of Walton Blvd., but not including areas north of Collier Road 

between the west side of Telegraph Road to Fuller Street, including those contained 

within Overlay Map 1 for this Adult-Use Marihuana Business Overlay District. 

b. Cesar Chavez District (Overlay District 2). All properties along Cesar Chavez, 

starting from the Kennett Road Landfill and areas south to Cesar Chavez to W. 

Montcalm St. 

c. C-2--Downtown Overlay District (Overlay District 3). All properties within 

Downtown District located inside of the Woodward Avenue Loop. 

3. Except as otherwise permitted by state law, and the City Adult-Use Marihuana Business 

Ordinance, Retailers and Social Equity Retailers are not permitted within the same locations 

as non-marihuana uses. 

F. Disposal of Waste. Disposal of marihuana shall be accomplished in a manner that prevents 

its acquisition by any person who may not lawfully possess it and otherwise in conformance with 

State law. 

G. Signage. 

1. It shall be prohibited to display any signs that are inconsistent with local laws or 

regulations or State law. 

2. II shall be prohibited to use advertising material that is misleading, deceptive, or false, 

or that is designed to appeal to minors or in violation of LARA regulations. 

3. II shall be prohibited to use the symbol or image of a marihuana leaf in any exterior 

building signage. 

4. No licensed Marihuana Retailer or Social Equity Retailer shall place or maintain, or 

cause to be placed or maintained, an advertisement of marihuana in any form or through 

any medium: 

a. Within 1,000 feet of the real property comprising a public or private elementary, 

vocational, or secondary school; and 

20 



b. Within 100 feet of a public or private youth center, public swimming pool or a 

church or other structure in which religious services are conducted. 

H. Co-Location. There shall be no accessory uses permitted within the same Retailer or Social 

Equity Retailer establishment other than a grower, processor, Class A microbusiness, or 

designated consumption establishment, provided all said uses are in conformance with this 

Zoning Ordinance, City's Adult-Use Marihuana Business ordinance, the Michigan Regulation and 

Taxation of the Marihuana Act, Initiated Law 1 of 2018, MCL 333.27951 et seq. ("MRTMA") and 

state and local regulations promulgated thereunder. 

I. Site Design. 

Retailers and Social Equity Retailers seeking approval from the City of Pontiac shall comply with 

the following site design standards, even if the site is the location of an existing business. These 

standards are for the public health, safety, aesthetics, and well-being of the business, patrons, 

and surrounding neighborhoods. 

1. Four-sided Architecture. All Building Fayades visible from an adjacent Lot or Street 

shall be constructed with the same building material quality and compatible architectural variety on 

all Building Fayades in a compatible context to the rest of the building. 

2. Landscaping. The applicant shall establish the required landscape buffer and 

required landscaping from Chapter 4 within any buffer between the proposed adult-use 

marihuana, including bufferyards adjacent or across the street from properties zoned R-1, 

R-1 a, R-1 b, and R-2 where there are existing non-conformities. Existing buildings and utility 

boxes are exempt from this bufferyard and landscaping requirement. Where underground 

and overhead utility lines exist, appropriate landscaping shall be installed to not interfere 

with the public utility lines. In the-G-i Downtown Adult-Use Marihuana Business Overlay 

Districts, only, the following additional landscaping requirements shall apply: 

a. All available areas for green space on a parcel containing an Adult-Use Retail 

Facility shall be covered with landscape material for 100 percent of the area. 

b. Landscaping shall be compatible with existing landscape buckets located in the 

Downtown Adult-Use Marihuana Business Overlay District. 

21 



3. Site Lighting. An adult-use marihuana site shall meet all the required lighting 

standards of Chapter 5. Additionally, exterior lighting fixtures including neon, LED, flashing 

lights, or similarly noxious or obtrusive lighting or effects shall be prohibited. Each site shall 

have a minimum lighting standard of 0.5 Foot-candles Average Maintained: Measured at 

grade in all parking and loading areas and pedestrian pathways. Actual site measurement 

compliance shall not drop below a minimum of 0.3 foot-candles at any one location. For 

design purposes, the light loss factor (LLF) shall be calculated at: 

a. 0.7 LLF for Incandescent, Metal Halide, and Mercury Vapor lamp sources. 

b. 0.8 LLF for Fluorescent and Sodium lamp sources. 

c. 0.9 LLF for Light Emitting Diode (LED) lamp sources. 

4. Drive-Throughs. Drive throughs and drive through, walk-up window service, and 

curbside service shall be a prohibited use for any "Retailer" or "Social Equity Retailer" 

establishment. 

5. Window and Window Coverings. Pursuant to MCL 333.27961, establishments may 

not allow cultivation, processing, sale, or display of marihuana or marihuana accessories 

to be visible from a public place outside of the marihuana establishment without the use 

of binoculars, aircraft, or other optical aids. 

a. Generally, no more than 60% of the total window area may be opaque in 

appearance. However, the Planning Commission may approve an increase above 

60% in total window area, which may be opaque in appearance if necessary for 

the Establishment to comply with this section and MCL 333.27961. 

b. While opaque windows are authorized pursuant to the requirements of this 

section, such opacity shall only be accomplished by blackening or other means, 

such as covering behind or in front of the window, and shall not be accomplished 

by the boarding of windows. The boarding of windows shall only be authorized 

under the following circumstances: (1) severe weather conditions which 

necessitate the boarding of windows to avoid damage to the Establishment or (2) 

if necessary for the duration of short-term construction, not to exceed a ninety (90) 

day period. 

22 



c. In the event the Planning Commission determines that architectural profiles as 

depicted on submitted plans is inadequate for purposes of aesthetics, the Planning 

Commission may require Developer provide alternative architectural elements in 

lieu of clear, transparent windows, including but not limited to, changes in lighting, 

landscaping, projections or recesses on a wall plane. Boarding, blacking out,..@L 

use of any color or shade), or opaqueness of windows is not considered clear, 

transparent or translucent. 

2.554 Adult-Use Class A Microbusiness. 

"Class A Microbusiness" means a licensed and City-permitted marihuana establishment 

authorized to operate at a single location and cultivate not more than 300 mature marihuana 

plants; package marihuana; purchase marihuana concentrate and marihuana-infused products 

from licensed marihuana processors; sell or transfer marihuana and marihuana-infused products 

to individuals 21 years of age and older; and transfer marihuana to a safety compliance facility for 

testing in accordance with MRTMA and the City's Adult-Use Marihuana Ordinance. 

A. General Provisions. 

1. Class A Microbusiness shall be closed for business, and no sale or other distribution 

of marihuana in any form shall occur upon the premises between the hours of 10:00 p.m. 

and 7:00 a.m. 

2. Consumption, smoking, and inhalation of marihuana and/or alcohol shall be prohibited 

on the premises of a Class A Microbusiness, and a sign shall be posted on the premises of 

each Class A Microbusiness indicating that consumption is prohibited on the premises. 

3. The premises shall be open for inspection and/or investigation at any time by City 

investigators during the stated hours of operation and at such other times as anyone is 

present on the premises. The premises shall be open for inspection and/or investigation at 

any time by the City Fire Department or Building Department. If the inspection or 

investigations indicate non-compliance with the City's Municipal Code, Building Code, Fire 

Code and/or Zoning Code, then upon order from the City Building Official, City Code 

Enforcement, or Fire Marshal the operations shall be suspended until the property owner or 

operator brings the premises into compliance. 

23 



4. Any Class A Microbusiness shall maintain a log book and/or database identifying by 

date the amount of marihuana and the number of marihuana products on the premises 

which shall not exceed the amount permitted under the processor license issued by the 

State of Michigan. This log shall be available to law enforcement personnel to confirm that 

the processor does not have more marihuana than authorized at the location and shall not 

be used to disclose more information than is reasonably necessary to verify the lawful 

amount of marihuana at the facility. A Class A Microbusiness shall enter all transactions, 

current inventory, and other information as required by the State into the statewide 

monitoring system as required by law. 

B. Security. 

1. Class A Microbusiness shall continuously monitor the entire premises on which they 

are operated with surveillance systems that include security cameras that operate 24 hours 

a day, seven days a week. The video recordings shall be maintained in a secure, off-site 

location for a period of 30 days, and must be coordinated with the Oakland County Sheriffs 

Department. 

2. Any usable marihuana remaining on the premises of a Class A Microbusiness while the 

Marihuana Retailer is not in operation shall be secured in a safe permanently affixed to the 

premises. 

C. Space Separation. 

1. Unless permitted by the MRTMA public areas of the Class A Microbusiness must be 

separated from restricted or nonpublic areas of the retailer by a permanent barrier. 

2. Unless permitted by the MRTMA, no marihuana is permitted to be stored or displayed 

in an area accessible to the general public. 

3. Marihuana may be displayed in a sales area only if permitted by the MRTMA. 

D. Nuisance Prohibited. No Class A Microbusiness shall be operated in a manner creating 

noise, dust, vibration, glare, fumes, or odors delectable to normal senses beyond the boundaries 

of the property on which the Class A Microbusiness is operated. 

24 



E. Drive-Through. Drive-throughs and drive-through, walk-up window service, and curbside 

service on the premises of a Class A Microbusiness shall not be permitted. 

F. Licensing. 

1. The state license and city permit required by this chapter shall be prominently displayed 

on the premises of a Class A Microbusiness. 

2. Class A Microbusiness is a Special Land Use {also referred to as Special Exception 

under this Ordinance) and no more than five (5) Class A Microbusinesses shall be permitted 

by the City. 

3. Except as otherwise permitted by state law, and the City's Adult-Use Marihuana 

Business Ordinance, Class A Microbusiness are not permitted within the same 

establishment location as non-marihuana uses. 

G. Disposal of Waste. Disposal of marihuana shall be accomplished in a manner that prevents 

its acquisition by any person who may not lawfully possess ii and otherwise in conformance with 

State law. 

H. Signage. 

1. It shall be prohibited to display any signs that are inconsistent with local laws or 

regulations or State law. 

2. It shall be prohibited to use advertising material that is misleading, deceptive, or false, 

or that is designed to appeal to minors or in violation of LARA regulations. 

3. It shall be prohibited to use the symbol or image of a marihuana leaf in any exterior 

building signage. 

4. No licensed Class A Microbusiness shall place or maintain, or cause to be placed or 

maintained, an advertisement of marihuana in any form or through any medium: 

25 



a. Within 1,000 feet of the real property comprising a public or private elementary, 

vocational, or secondary school; and 

b. Within 100 feet of a public or private youth center, public swimming pool or a 

church or other structure in which religious services are conducted. 

I. Co-Location. There shall be no accessory uses permitted within the same Class A 

Microbusiness establishment location other than a grower, processor, adult-use marihuana 

retailer, social equity retailer, or designated consumption establishment, provided all said 

uses are in conformance with this Zoning Ordinance, City's Adult-Use Marihuana Business 

ordinance, the Michigan Regulation and Taxation of the Marihuana Act, Initiated Law 1 of 

2018, MCL 333.27951 et seq. ("MRTMA") and state and local regulations promulgated 

thereunder. . 

J. Site Design. 

Any adult-use marihuana business seeking approval from the City of Pontiac shall comply with 

the following site design standards, even if the site is the location of an existing business. These 

standards are for the public health, safety, aesthetics, and well-being of the business, patrons, 

and surrounding residential neighborhoods. 

1. Four-sided Architecture. All Building Fac;ades visible from an adjacent Lot or Street 

shall be constructed with the same building material quality and compatible architectural 

variety on all Building Fac;ades in a compatible context to the rest of the building. 

2. Landscaping. The applicant shall establish the required landscape buffer and required 

landscaping from Chapter 4 within any buffer between the proposed adult-use 

marihuana, including bufferyards adjacent or across the street from properties zoned R-

1, R-1 a, R-1 b, and R-2 where there are existing non-conformities. Existing buildings and 

utility boxes are exempt from this bufferyard and landscaping requirement. Where 

underground and overhead utility lines exist, appropriate landscaping shall be installed 

to not interfere with the public utility lines. 

3. Site Lighting. An adult-use marihuana site shall meet all the required lighting standards 

of Chapter 5. Additionally, exterior lighting fixtures including neon, LED, flashing lights, 

or similarly noxious or obtrusive lighting or effects shall be prohibited. Each site shall 

have a minimum lighting standard of 0.5 Foot-candles Average Maintained: Measured 

26 



at grade in all parking and loading areas and pedestrian pathways. Actual site 

measurement compliance shall not drop below a minimum of 0.3 foot-candles at any 

one location. For design purposes, the light loss factor (LLF) shall be calculated at: 

a. 0.7 LLF for Incandescent, Metal Halide, and Mercury Vapor lamp sources. 

b. 0.8 LLF for Fluorescent and Sodium lamp sources. 

c. 0.9 LLF for Light Emitting Diode (LED) lamp sources. 

4. Window and Window Coverings. Pursuant to MCL 333.27961, establishments may 

not allow cultivation, processing, sale, or display of marihuana or marihuana accessories 

to be visible from a public place outside of the marihuana establishment without the use 

of binoculars, aircraft, or other optical aids. 

a. Generally, no more than 60% of the total window area may be opaque in 

appearance. However, the Planning Commission may approve an increase above 

60% in total window area, which may be opaque in appearance if necessary for 

the Establishment to comply with this section and MCL 333.27961. 

b. While opaque windows are authorized pursuant to the requirements of this 

section, such opacity shall only be accomplished by blackening or other means, 

such as covering behind or in front of the window, and shall not be accomplished 

by the boarding of windows. The boarding of windows shall only be authorized 

under the following circumstances: (1) severe weather conditions which 

necessitate the boarding of windows to avoid damage to the Establishment or (2) 

if necessary for the duration of short-term construction, not to exceed a ninety (90) 

day period. 

c. In the event the Planning Commission determines that architectural profiles as 

depicted on submitted plans is inadequate for purposes of aesthetics, the Planning 

Commission may require Developer provide alternative architectural elements in 

lieu of clear, transparent windows, including but not limited to, changes in lighting, 

landscaping, projections or recesses on a wall plane. Boarding, blacking out,JQy 

use of any color or shade). or opaqueness of windows is not considered clear, 

transparent or translucent. 

27 



2.555 Adult-Use Designated Consumption Establishment. 

"Designated Consumption Establishment" means a marihuana-related business authorized to 

permit individuals 21 years of age and older to consume marihuana and marihuana products on 

the licensed commercial premises located in the G-2----Downtown Overlay District No. 3. in 

accordance with MRTMA and the City's Adult-Use Marihuana Ordinance. 

A. General Provisions. 

1. Designated Consumption Establishment shall be closed for business, and no 

consumption of marihuana in any form shall occur upon the premises between the hours of 

2:00 a.m. and 7:00 a.m. 

2. Consumption of marihuana in any form at a Designated Consumption Establishment 

shall occur indoors. A Designated Consumption Establishment shall post signage on any 

outdoor areas, including patios, decks, and green space, indicating that smoking and other 

consumption of marihuana is prohibited. 

3. Tobacco smoking and/or alcohol shall be prohibited on the premises of a Designated 

Consumption bGoo~Establishment, and a sign shall be posted on the premises of each 

Designated Consumption bmillg&Establishment indicating that tobacco smoking and/or 

alcohol is prohibited on the premises. 

4. The premises shall be open for inspection and/or investigation at any time by City 

investigators during the stated hours of operation and at such other times as anyone is 

present on the premises. The premises shall be open for inspection and/or investigation at 

any time by the City Fire Department or Building Department. If the inspection or 

investigations indicate non-compliance with the City's Municipal Code, Building Code, Fire 

Code and/or Zoning Code, then upon order from the City Building Official, City Code 

Enforcement or Fire Marshal the operations shall be suspended until property owner or 

operator brings the premises into compliance. 

5. Any Designated Consumption Establishment shall maintain a log book and/or database 

identifying by date the amount of marihuana and the number of marihuana products on the 

premises which shall not exceed the amount permitted under the processor license issued 

28 



by the State of Michigan. This log shall be available to law enforcement personnel to confirm 

that the processor does not have more marihuana than authorized at the location and shall 

not be used to disclose more information than is reasonably necessary to verify the lawful 

amount of marihuana at the facility. A Designated Consumption Establishment shall enter 

all transactions, current inventory, and other information as required by the State into the 

statewide monitoring system as required by law. 

B. Security. 

1. Designated Consumption Establishment shall continuously monitor the entire premises 

on which they are operated with surveillance systems that include security cameras that 

operate 24 hours a day, seven days a week. The video recordings shall be maintained in a 

secure, off-site location for a period of 30 days, and must be coordinated with the Oakland 

County Sheriffs Department. 

2. Any usable marihuana remaining on the premises of a Designated Consumption 

Establishment while the Designated Consumption ~Establishment is not in operation 

shall be secured in a safe permanently affixed to the premises. 

C. Nuisance Prohibited. No Designated Consumption Establishment shall be operated in a 

manner creating noise, dust, vibration, glare, fumes, or odors detectable to normal senses beyond 

the boundaries of the property on which the Designated Consumption Establishment is operated. 

D. Licensing. 

1. The state license and city permit required by this chapter shall be prominently displayed 

on the premises of a Designated Consumption Establishment. 

2. A Designated Consumption Establishment is Special Land Use and shall be limited to 

G-2 Downtown Adult-Use Marihuana Business Overlay District as identified in the City 

zoning ordinance and on the City Zoning Map, with three Designated Consumption 

Establishments permitted north of Huron Street, and three Designated Consumption 

Establishments permitted south of Huron Street. 

29 

r 



3. Except as otherwise permitted by state law, and the City's Adult-Use Marihuana 

Business Ordinance, Designated Consumption Establishments are not permitted within the 

same facility locations as non-marihuana uses. 

E. Disposal of Waste. Disposal of marihuana shall be accomplished in a manner that prevents 

its acquisition by any person who may not lawfully possess it and otherwise in conformance with 

State law. 

F. Signage. 

1. II shall be prohibited to display any signs that are inconsistent with local laws or 

regulations or State law. 

2. It shall be prohibited to use advertising material that is misleading, deceptive, or false, 

or that is designed to appeal to minors or in violation of LARA regulations. 

3. It shall be prohibited to use the symbol or image of a marihuana le~f in any exterior 

building signage. 

4. No licensed Designated Consumption Establishment shall place or maintain, or cause 

to be placed or maintained, an advertisement of marihuana in any form or through any 

medium: 

a. Within 1,000 feet of the real property comprising a public or private elementary, 

vocational, or secondary school; and 

b. Within 100 feet of a public or private youth center, public swimming pool or a 

church or other structure in which religious services are conducted. 

G. Co-Location. There shall be no accessory uses permitted within the same Designated 

Consumption Establishment location other than a grower, processor, adult-use marihuana 

retailer, or social equity retailer, provided all said uses are in conformance with this Zoning 

Ordinance, City's Adult-Use Marihuana Business ordinance, the Michigan Regulation and 

Taxation of the Marihuana Act, Initiated Law 1 of 2018, MCL 333.27951 et seq. ("MRTMA") and 

state and local regulations promulgated thereunder. 

30 



H. Site Design. 

Any adult-use marihuana business seeking approval from the City of Pontiac shall comply with 

the following site design standards, even if the site is the location of an existing business. These 

standards are for the public health, safety, aesthetics, and well-being of the business, patrons, 

and surrounding residential neighborhoods. 

1. Four-sided Architecture. All Building Fa,;;ades visible from an adjacent Lot or Street 

shall be constructed with the same building material quality and compatible architectural 

variety on all Building Fa,;;ades in a compatible context to the rest of the building. 

2. Landscaping. The applicant shall establish the required landscape buffer and required 

landscaping as set forth in Chapter 4 within any buffer between the proposed adult-use 

marihuana, including bufferyards adjacent or across the street from properties zoned R-

1, R-1 a, R-1 b, and R-2 where there are existing non-conformities. Existing buildings and 

utility boxes are exempt from this bufferyard and landscaping requirement. Where 

underground and overhead utility lines exist, appropriate landscaping shall be installed 

to not interfere with the public utility lines. In th~ Downtown Adult-Use Marihuana 

Business Overlay District, only, the following additional landscaping requirements shall 

apply: 

a. All available areas for green space on a parcel containing an Adult-Use Retail 

Facility shall be covered with landscape material for 100 percent of the area. 

b. Landscaping shall be compatible with existing landscape buckets located in the 

G-2-Downtown Adult-Use Marihuana Business Overlay District. 

3. Site Lighting. An adult-use marihuana site shall meet all the required lighting standards 

of Chapter 5. Additionally, exterior lighting fixtures including neon, LED, flashing lights, 

or similarly noxious or obtrusive lighting or effects shall be prohibited. Each site shall 

have a minimum lighting standard of 0.5 Foot-candles Average Maintained: Measured 

at grade in all parking and loading areas and pedestrian pathways. Actual site 

measurement compliance shall not drop below a minimum of 0.3 foot-candles at any 

one location. For design purposes, the light loss factor (LLF} shall be calculated at: 

a. 0. 7 LLF for Incandescent, Metal Halide, and Mercury Vapor lamp sources. 

31 



b. 0.8 LLF for Fluorescent and Sodium lamp sources. 

c. 0.9 LLF for Light Emitting Diode (LED) lamp sources. 

4. Window and Window Coverings. Pursuant to MCL 333.27961, establishments may 

not allow cultivation, processing, sale, or display of marihuana or marihuana accessories 

to be visible from a public place outside of the marihuana establishment without the use 

of binoculars, aircraft, or other optical aids. 

a. Generally, no more than 60% of the total window area may be opaque in 

appearance. However, the Planning Commission may approve an increase above 

60% in total window area, which may be opaque in appearance if necessary for 

the Establishment to comply with this section and MCL 333.27961. 

b. While opaque windows are authorized pursuant to the requirements of this 

section, such opacity shall only be accomplished by blackening or other means, 

such as covering behind or in front of the window and shall not be accomplished 

by the boarding of windows. The boarding of windows shall only be authorized 

under the following circumstances: (1) severe weather conditions which 

necessitate the boarding of windows to avoid damage to the Establishment or (2) 

if necessary for the duration of short-term construction, not to exceed a ninety (90) 

day period. 

c. In the event the Planning Commission determines that architectural profiles as 

depicted on submitted plans is inadequate for purposes of aesthetics, the Planning 

Commission may require Developer provide alternative architectural elements in 

lieu of clear, transparent windows, including but not limited to, changes in lighting, 

landscaping, projections or recesses on a wall plane. Boarding, blacking out,...{QY 

use of any color or shade). or opaqueness of windows is not considered clear, 

transparent or translucent 

2.556 Adult-Use Marihuana Safety Compliance Facility. 

"Safety compliance facility" means a safety compliance facility as defined by the MRTMA and the 

administrative Marihuana Rules, including R 420.107 as amended that takes or receives 

marihuana from a licensed grower, processor, retailer, social equity retailer, or Class A 

32 



Microbusiness, collects random samples, tests the marihuana for contaminants, potency, and for 

tetrahydrocannabinol and other cannabinoids, and returns the test results, and may return 

the marihuana to licensed grower, processor, retailer, social equity retailer, or Class A 

Microbusiness. 

A. General Provisions. 

1. Consumption, smoking, and inhalation of marihuana and/or alcohol shall be prohibited 

on the premises of a marihuana safety compliance facility, and a sign shall be posted on 

the premises of each marihuana safety compliance facility indicating that consumption is 

prohibited on the premises. 

2. The premises shall be open for inspection and/or investigation at any time by City 

investigators during the stated hours of operation and at such other times as anyone is 

present on the premises. The premises shall be open for inspection and/or investigation at 

any time by the City Fire Department or Building Department. If the inspection or 

investigations indicate non-compliance with the City's Municipal Code, Building Code, Fire 

Code and/or Zoning Code, then upon order from the City Building Official, City Code 

Enforcement or Fire Marshal the operations shall be suspended until property owner or 

operator brings the premises into compliance. 

3. Any marihuana safety compliance facility shall maintain a log book and/or a database 

accurately identifying all transactions, current inventory, and other information by date and 

source. A safety compliance facility shall enter all transactions, current inventory, and other 

information as required by the State into the statewide monitoring system as required by 

law. 

B. Security. 

1. The marihuana safety compliance facility shall continuously monitor the entire premises 

on which it is operated with surveillance systems that include security cameras that operate 

24 hours a day, seven days a week. The video recordings shall be maintained in a secure, 

33 



off-site location for a period of 30 days, and must be coordinated with the Oakland County 

Sheriffs Department. 

2. Any usable marihuana remaining on the premises of a marihuana safety compliance 

facility while the marihuana safety compliance facility is not in operation shall be secured in 

a safe permanently affixed to the premises. 

3. All marihuana shall be contained within the building in an enclosed, locked facility in 

accordance with the MRTMA, as amended. 

C. Space Separation. 

1. Unless permitted by the MRTMA, public areas of the marihuana safety compliance 

facility must be separated from restricted or nonpublic areas of the safety compliance facility 

by a permanent barrier. 

2. Unless permitted by the MRTMA, no marihuana is permitted to be stored or displayed 

in an area accessible to the general public. 

D. Nuisance Prohibited. No marihuana safety compliance facility shall be operated in a 

manner creating noise, dust, vibration, glare, fumes, or odors detectable to normal senses beyond 

the boundaries of the property on which the marihuana safety compliance facility is operated. 

E. Licensing. 

1. The state license and city permit required by this chapter shall be prominently displayed 

on the premises of a marihuana safety compliance facility. 

2. Marihuana safety compliance facility uses are permitted in the Cesar Chavez, Walton 

Blvd., and G4-Downtown Adult-Use Marihuana Business Overlay Districts. 

F. Disposal of Waste. 

1. Disposal of marihuana shall be accomplished in a manner that prevents its acquisition 

by any person who may not lawfully possess it and otherwise in conformance with State 

law. 

34 



2. Litter and waste shall be properly removed and the operating systems for waste 

disposal are maintained in an adequate manner as approved by the City so that they do not 

constitute a source of contamination in areas where marihuana is exposed. 

G. Signage. 

1. It shall be prohibited to display any signs that are inconsistent with State and local laws 

and regulations. 

2. It shall be prohibited to use advertising material that is misleading, deceptive, or false, 

or that is designed to appeal to minors or in violation of LARA regulations. 

3. It shall be prohibited to use the symbol or image of a marihuana leaf in any exterior 

building signage. 

4. No licensed marihuana safety compliance facility shall place or maintain, or cause to 

be placed or maintained, an advertisement of marihuana in any form or through any 

medium: 

a. Within 1,000 feet of the real property comprising a public or private elementary, 

vocational, or secondary school; and 

b. Within 100 feet of a public or private youth center, public swimming pool or a 

church or other structure in which religious services are conducted. 

H. Building Design. 

1. Floors, walls and ceilings shall be constructed in such a manner that they may 

adequately be cleaned and kept clean and in good repair. 

2. Any buildings, fixtures and other facilities shall be maintained in a sanitary condition. 

2.557 Adult-Use Marihuana Secure Transporter. 

"Secure transporter" means a marihuana-related business located in the City that 

stores marihuana and transports marihuana between adult-use marihuana businesses for a fee. 

A secure transporter shall comply at all times with the MRTMA and the rules promulgated 

thereunder. 

35 



A. General Provisions. 

1. Consumption and/or use of marihuana shall be prohibited at an establishment of a 

secure transporter. 

2. A vehicle used by a secure transporter is subject to administrative inspection by a law 

enforcement officer at any point during the transportation of marihuana to determine 

compliance with all State and local laws, rules, regulations and ordinances. 

3. The premises of a secured transporter located within the City shall be open for 

inspection and/or investigation at any time by City investigators during the stated hours of 

operation and at such other times as anyone is present on the premises. The premises shall 

be open for inspection and/or investigation at any time by the City Fire Department. If the 

inspection or investigations indicate non-compliance with the City's Municipal Code, 

Building Code, Fire Code and/or Zoning Code, then upon order from the City Building 

Official, City Code Enforcement or Fire Marshal the operations shall be suspended until 

property owner or operator brings the premises into compliance. 

4. A secure transporter licensee and each stakeholder shall not have an interest in a 

grower, processor, retailer, social equity retailer, Class A Microbusiness, Designated 

Consumption Establishment, or safety compliance facility and shall not be a registered 

qualifying patient or a registered primary caregiver. 

5. Any secure transporter shall maintain a log book and/or database identifying each 

transaction by date, the amount of marihuana and the number of marihuana products being 

transported and the source. This log shall be available to law enforcement personnel to 

inspect. A secure transporter shall enter all transactions, current inventory, and other 

information as required by the State into the statewide monitoring system as required by 

law. 

B. Secure Storage. 

1. Storage of marihuana by a secure transporter shall comply with the following: 

a. The storage facility shall not be used for any other commercial purpose. 

b. The storage facility shall not be open or accessible to the general public. 

36 



c. The storage facility shall be maintained and operated so as to comply with all State 

and local rules, regulations and ordinances. 

2. All marihuana stored within the facility shall be stored within enclosed, locked facilities 

in accordance with the MRTMA, as amended. 

C. Sanitation. All persons working in direct contact with marihuana being stored by a secure 

transporter shall conform to hygienic practices while on duty, including but not limited to: 

1. Maintaining adequate personal cleanliness. 

2. Washing hands thoroughly in adequate hand-washing areas before starting work and 

at any other time when the hands may have become soiled or contaminated. 

3. Refrain from having direct contact with marihuana if the person has or may have an 

illness, open lesion, including boils, sores, or infected wounds, or any other abnormal source 

of microbial contamination, until the condition is corrected. 

D. Disposal of Waste. 

1. Disposal of marihuana shall be accomplished in a manner that prevents its acquisition 

by a person who may not lawfully possess it and otherwise in conformance with State law. 

2. Litter and waste shall be properly removed and the operating systems for waste 

disposal are maintained in an adequate manner as approved by the City so that they do not 

constitute a source of contamination in areas where marihuana is exposed. 

E. Transport Driver. 

1. A secure transporter shall comply with all of the following: 

a. Each driver transporting marihuana must have a chauffeur's license issued by the 

State. 

b. Each employee who has custody of marihuana or money that is related to 

a marihuana transaction shall not have been convicted of or released from 

incarceration for a felony under the laws of this State, any other state, or the United 

States within the past five years. 

37 



c. Each vehicle shall always be operated with a two-person crew with at least one 

individual remaining with the vehicle during the transportation of marihuana. 

2. A route plan and manifest shall be entered into the statewide monitoring system, and a 

copy shall be carried in the transporting vehicle and presented to a law enforcement office 

upon request. 

3. The marihuana shall be transported by one or more sealed containers and not be 

accessible while in transit. 

4. A secure transporter vehicle shall not bear markings or other indication that ii is carrying 

marihuana or a marihuana-infused product. 

F. Signage. 

1. It shall be prohibited to display any signs that are inconsistent with local laws or 

regulations or State law. 

2. It shall be prohibited to use advertising material that is misleading, deceptive, or false, 

or that is designed to appeal to minors or in violation of LARA regulations. 

3. It shall be prohibited to use the symbol or image of a marihuana leaf in any exterior 

building signage. 

4. No licensed marihuana secure transporter shall place or maintain, or cause to be placed 

or maintained, an advertisement of marihuana in any form or through any medium: 

a. Within 1,000 feet of the real property comprising a public or private elementary, 

vocational, or secondary school; and 

b. Within 100 feet of a public or private youth center, public swimming pool or a 

church or other structure in which religious services are conducted. 

G. Licensing. 

1. The state license and city permit required by this chapter shall be prominently displayed 

on the premises of a marihuana secure transporter use. 

38 



2. Marihuana secure transporter uses are permitted in the Cesar Chavez, Walton Blvd., 

and-G-2 Downtown Adult-Use Marihuana Business Overlay Districts and in the C-1, C-2, C-

3, C-4, M-1 and M-2 zoning districts outside the Adult-Use Marihuana Business Overlay 

Districts. 

3. Marihuana secure transporters are not permitted within the same facility with other 

adult-use marihuana business uses. 

H. Site Design 

Any adult-use marihuana business seeking approval from the City of Pontiac shall comply with 

the following site design standards, even if the site is the location of an existing business. These 

standards are for the public health, safety, aesthetics, and well-being of the business, patrons, 

and surrounding residential neighborhoods. 

1. Four-sided Architecture. All Building Fac;:ades visible from an adjacent Lot or Street 

shall be constructed with the same building material quality and compatible architectural 

variety on all Building Fac;:ades in a compatible context to the rest of the building. 

2. Landscaping. The applicant shall establish the required landscape buffer and required 

landscaping from Chapter 4 within any buffer between the proposed adult-use 

marihuana, including bufferyards adjacent or across the street from properties zoned R-

1, R-1 a, R-1 b, and R-2 where there are existing non-conformities. Existing buildings and 

utility boxes are exempt from this bufferyard and landscaping requirement. Where 

underground and overhead utility lines exist, appropriate landscaping shall be installed 

to not interfere with the public utility lines. 

3. Site Lighting. An adult-use marihuana site shall meet all the required lighting standards 

of Chapter 5. Additionally, exterior lighting fixtures including neon, LED, flashing lights, 

or similarly noxious or obtrusive lighting or effects shall be prohibited. Each site shall 

have a minimum lighting standard of 0.5 Foot-candles Average Maintained: Measured 

at grade in all parking and loading areas and pedestrian pathways. Actual site 

measurement compliance shall not drop below a minimum of 0.3 foot-candles at any 

one location. For design purposes, the light loss factor (LLF) shall be calculated at: 

a. 0.7 LLF for Incandescent, Metal Halide, and Mercury Vapor lamp sources. 

b. 0.8 LLF for Fluorescent and Sodium lamp sources. 

39 



c. 0.9 LLF for Light Emitting Diode (LED) lamp sources. 

4. Window and Window Coverings. Pursuant to MCL 333.27961 , establishments may 

not allow cultivation, processing, sale, or display of marihuana or marihuana accessories 

to be visible from a public place outside of the marihuana establishment without the use 

of binoculars, aircraft, or other optical aids. 

a. Generally, no more than 50% of the total window area may be opaque in 

appearance. However, the Planning Commission may approve an increase above 

50% in total window area, which may be opaque in appearance if necessary for 

the Establishment to comply with this section and MCL 333.27961 . 

b. While opaque windows are authorized pursuant to the requirements of this 

section, such opacity shall only be accomplished by blackening or other means, 

such as covering behind or in front of the window and shall not be accomplished 

by the boarding of windows. The boarding of windows shall only be authorized 

under the following circumstances: (1) severe weather conditions which 

necessitate the boarding of windows to avoid damage to the Establishment or (2) 

if necessary for the duration of short-term construction, not to exceed a ninety (90) 

day period. 

c. In the event the Planning Commission determines that architectural profiles as 

depicted on submitted plans is inadequate for purposes of aesthetics, the Planning 

Commission may require Developer provide alternative architectural elements in 

lieu of clear, transparent windows, including but not limited to, changes in lighting, 

landscaping, projections or recesses on a wall plane. Boarding, blacking out,_{Qy 

use of any color or shade), or opaqueness of windows is not considered clear, 

transparent or translucent. 

2.558 Temporary Marihuana Event. 

"Temporary Marihuana Event" means a temporary license held by a Temporary Marihuana Event 

Organizer for an event where the onsite sale or consumption of marihuana products, or both, are 

authorized to permit individuals 21 years of age and older to consume marihuana products on the 

premises indicated on the state license during the dates indicated on the state license. 

A. General Provisions. 

40 



1. Use or consumption of alcohol shall be prohibited on the premises of a Temporary 

Marihuana Event, and signs shall be posted at the Temporary Marihuana Event indicating 

that alcohol consumption is prohibited on the premises. 

2. The premises or location of the Temporary Marihuana Event shall be open for 

inspection and/or investigation at any time by City investigators, including City Fire 

Department, Building Department or other law enforcement agencies. If the inspection or 

investigations indicate non-compliance with the City's Municipal Code, Building Code, Fire 

Code and/or Zoning Code, then upon order from the City Building Official, City Code 

Enforcement or Fire Marshal the event shall be suspended until Temporary Marihuana 

Event Organizer brings the premises into compliance. 

3. Temporary Marihuana Event shall maintain a log book and/or a database identifying by 

date the amount of marihuana on the premises and from which particular source. A 

Temporary Marihuana Event shall enter all transactions, current inventory, and other 

information as required by the State into the statewide monitoring system as required by 

law. 

B. Licensing. 

1. The state license and city permit required by this chapter shall be prominently displayed 

on the premises of the Temporary Marihuana Event. 

2. Temporary Marihuana Events are only permitted in the---G-2 Downtown Adult-Use 

Marihuana Business Overlay District. 

3. The hours of operation of a Temporary Marihuana Event shall be from 7:00 am to 10:00 

pm. A single Temporary Marihuana Event may not exceed a maximum 2-day period. The 

total days that Temporary Marihuana Events may take place shall not exceed 4-days total 

in any calendar month. 

4. The Temporary Marihuana Event Organizer shall submit for approval a zoning 

application for a Temporary Marihuana Event which shall include permission from the 

property owner, and provide hours of operation, detailed narrative of the event, operational 

plan, security and safety plan and safety measures. 

41 



5. The Temporary Marihuana Event Organizer shall submit for approval a site plan 

identifying pedestrian and vehicular parking areas. 

2.559 Primary (Medical Marihuana) Caregiver or Caregiver. 

"Primary Caregiver" or "Caregiver'' means a person who is at least 21 years old and who has 

agreed to assist with a Qualifying patient's medical use of marihuana and who has not been 

convicted of any felony within the past 1 O years, has never been convicted of a felony involving 

illegal drugs or a felony that is an assaultive crime as defined in section 9a of chapter X of the 

code of criminal procedure, 1927 PA 175, MCL 770.9a, and holds a current and valid registration 

with the State of Michigan in accordance with the Michigan Medical Marihuana Act, Initiated Law 

1 of 2008, MCL 333.26421 et seq. ("MMMA"), and any applicable City permit. A registered 

caregiver shall comply at all times complies with the MMMA, the rules promulgated thereunder, 

this ordinance, and applicable City ordinances. The term "Qualifying patient" means qualifying 

patient under the MMMA. 

A. General Provisions. 

1. A registered primary caregiver, operating in compliance with the MMA, the rules 

promulgated thereunder, the requirements of this ordinance and applicable City ordinances, 

shall be permitted only in zoning districts IP-1 and MP-1 by special exception. The City 

makes the following findings in support of its determination that the regulation of primary 

caregivers as permitted in zoning districts IP-1 and MP-1 by special exception is consistent 

with the purposes and intent of the MMMA: 

a. The MMMA's protections are limited to individuals suffering from serious or 

debilitating medical conditions or symptoms, to the extent that the individuals' 

marijuana use is carried out in compliance with the provisions of the MMMA, 

including the provisions related to the operations of registered primary caregivers. 

b. The MMMA's definition of "medical use" of marijuana includes the "transfer'' 

of marijuana "to treat or alleviate a registered qualifying patient's debilitating 

medical condition or symptoms associated with the debilitating medical condition," 

but only if such "transfer'' is performed by a registered primary caregiver who is 

connected with the same qualifying patient through the registration process 

established by the Department of Licensing and Regulatory Affairs, and who is 

42 



otherwise operating in strict compliance with the MMMA and the MMMA General 

Rules. 

c. The MMMA provides that a registered primary caregiver may assist no 

more than five qualifying patients with their medical use of marijuana. 

d. By permitting the operations of registered primary caregivers by special 

exception in zoning districts IP-1 and MP-1 , promotes the MMMA's purpose of 

ensuring that (i) a registered primary caregiver is not assisting more than five 

qualifying patients with their medical use of marijuana, and (ii) a registered primary 

caregiver does not unlawfully expand its operations beyond five qualifying patients, 

so as to become an illegal commercial grow operation. 

2. Consumption, smoking, and inhalation of marihuana and/or alcohol shall be prohibited 

on the premises of a primary caregiver, and a sign shall be posted on the premises of each 

facility indicating that consumption is prohibited on the premises. 

3. The premises shall be open for inspection and/or investigation at any time by City 

investigators during the stated hours of operation and at such other times as anyone is 

present on the premises. The premises shall be open for inspection and/or investigation at 

any time by the City Fire Department or Building Department. If the inspection or 

investigations indicate non-compliance with the City's Municipal Code, Building Code, Fire 

Code and/or Zoning Code, then upon order from the City Building Official, City Code 

Enforcement or Fire Marshal the operations shall be suspended until property owner or 

operator brings the premises into compliance. 

4. Acquisition, possession, cultivation, use, delivery or distribution of marijuana by the 

primary caregiver, shall be conducted indoors. A registered primary caregiver may keep and 

cultivate, in an "enclosed, locked facility" (as that term is defined by the MMMA), up to 12 

marijuana plants for each registered qualifying patient with whom the registered primary 

caregiver is connected through the registration process established by the Department of 

Licensing and Regulatory Affairs, and up to 12 additional marijuana plants for personal use, 

if the primary caregiver is also registered as a qualifying patient under the MMMA. 

5. The primary caregiver shall maintain a log book and/or database identifying by date the 

amount of marihuana and the number of marihuana plants on the premises which shall not 

43 



exceed the amount permitted under the MMMA. This log shall be available to law 

enforcement personnel to confirm that the primary caregiver does not have more marihuana 

than authorized at the location and shall not be used to disclose more information than is 

reasonably necessary to verify the lawful amount of marihuana at the facility. 

6. The primary caregiver shall, at all times, comply with the MMMA and the rules and 

regulations of the Department of Licensing and Regulatory Affairs-Bureau of Marihuana 

Regulations ("LARA"), as amended from time to time. 

B. Security. 

1. The primary caregiver facility shall continuously monitor the entire premises on which it 

is operated with surveillance systems that include security cameras that operate 24 hours 

a day, seven days a week. The video recordings shall be maintained in a secure, off-site 

location for a period of 30 days, and must be coordinated with the Oakland County Sheriffs 

Department. 

2. Any usable marihuana remaining on the premises of a primary caregiver while the 

marihuana facility is not in operation shall be secured in a safe permanently affixed to the 

premises. 

C. Space Separation. 

1. Unless permitted by the MMMA, public areas of the primary caregiver facility must be 

separated from restricted or nonpublic areas of the primary caregiver facility by permanent 

barrier. 

2. Unless permitted by the MMMA, no marihuana Is permitted to be stored or displayed in 

an area accessible to the general public. 

D. Nuisance Prohibited. 

1. Primary caregiver facilities shall be free from Infestation by insects, rodents, birds, or 

vermin of any kind. 

2. Primary caregiver facilities shall produce no products other than usable marihuana 

intended for human consumption. 

44 



3. No primary caregiver facility shall be operated in a manner creating noise, dust, 

vibration, glare, fumes, or odors detectable to normal senses beyond the boundaries of the 

property on which the marihuana grower is operated. 

E. Licensing. 

1. The state license and city permit required by this chapter shall be prominently displayed 

on the premises of a primary caregiver facility. 

2. Primary caregiver uses are not permitted outside the IP-1 and MP-1 zoning districts. 

3. Except for the primary caregiver, no other person shall deliver marijuana to the qualifying 

patient. 

F. Disposal of Waste. 

1. Disposal of marihuana shall be accomplished in a manner that prevents its acquisition 

by any person who may not lawfully possess it and otherwise in conformance with State 

law. 

2. Litter and waste shall be properly removed and the operating systems for waste 

disposal are maintained in an adequate manner as approved by the City so that they do not 

constitute a source of contamination in areas where marihuana is exposed. 

3. That portion of the structure where the storage of any chemicals such as herbicides, 

pesticides, and fertilizers shall be subject to inspection and approval by the local Fire 

Department to ensure compliance with the Michigan Fire Protection Code. 

G. Signage. 

1. It shall be prohibited to display any signs that are inconsistent with State and local 

laws and regulations. 

2. It shall be prohibited to use advertising material that is misleading, deceptive, or false, 

or that is designed to appeal to minors or in violation of LARA regulations. 

3. It shall be prohibited to use the symbol or image of a marihuana leaf in any exterior 

building signage. 

45 



4. No registered primary caregiver shall place or maintain, or cause to be placed or 

maintained, an advertisement of marihuana in any form or through any medium: 

a. Within 1,000 feet of the real property comprising a public or private elementary, 

vocational, or secondary school; and 

b. Within 100 feet of a public or private youth center, public swimming pool or a 

church or other structure in which religious services are conducted. 

H. Building Design. 

1. Floors, walls, and ceilings shall be constructed in such a manner that they may 

adequately be cleaned and kept clean and in good repair. 

2. Any buildings, fixtures, and other facilities shall be maintained in a sanitary condition. 

3. All necessary building, electrical, plumbing, and mechanical permits shall be obtained 

for any portion of the structure in which electrical wiring, lighting, and/or watering devices 

that support the cultivation, growing, or harvesting of marihuana are located. 

I. Site Design 

Primary caregivers seeking approval from the City shall comply with the following site design 

standards. These standards are for the public health, safety, aesthetics, and well-being of the 

business, patrons, and surrounding residential neighborhoods. 

1. Landscaping. The applicant shall establish the required landscape buffer and required 

landscaping from Chapter 4 within any buffer between the proposed adult-use 

marihuana, including bufferyards adjacent or across the street from properties zoned R-

1, R-1 a, R-1 b, and R-2 where there are existing non-conformities. Existing buildings and 

utility boxes are exempt from this bufferyard and landscaping requirement. W here 

underground and overhead utility lines exist. appropriate landscaping shall be installed 

to not interfere with the public utility lines. 

2. Window and Window Coverings. Pursuant to MCL 333.27961, establishments may 

not allow cultivation, processing, sale, or display of marihuana or marihuana accessories 

46 



to be visible from a public place outside of the marihuana establishment without the use 

of binoculars, aircraft, or other optical aids. 

a. Generally, no more than 60% of the total window area may be opaque in 

appearance. However, the Planning Commission may approve an increase above 

60% in total window area, which may be opaque in appearance if necessary for 

the Establishment to comply with this section and MCL 333.27961 . 

b. While opaque windows are authorized pursuant to the requirements of this 

section, such opacity shall only be accomplished by blackening or other means, 

such as covering behind or in front of the window, and shall not be accomplished 

by the boarding of windows. The boarding of windows shall only be authorized 

under the following circumstances: (1) severe weather conditions which 

necessitate the boarding of windows to avoid damage to the Establishment or (2) 

if necessary for the duration of short-term construction, not to exceed a ninety (90) 

day period. 

c. In the event the Planning Commission determines that architectural profiles as 

depicted on submitted plans is inadequate for purposes of aesthetics, the Planning 

Commission may require Developer provide alternative architectural elements in 

lieu of clear, transparent windows, including but not limited to, changes in lighting, 

landscaping, projections or recesses on a wall plane. Boarding, blacking out,JQy 

use of any color or shade}. or opaqueness of windows is not considered clear, 

transparent or translucent. 

Amend Article 3 Special Purpose - Zoning District is amended to add Chapter 12 Adult 
Use Marihuana Business Districts 

3.1201 Intent. 

The purpose of the Adult-Use Marihuana Business Overlay Districts is to provide for the 

placement of adult-use marihuana business establishments and related uses as authorized in 

accordance with the Michigan Regulation and Taxation of the Marihuana Act, Initiated Law 1 of 

2018, MCL 333.27951 et seq. ("MRTMA") and the City's Adult-Use Marihuana Business 

Ordinance, so as to protect the public health, safety, and welfare of residents of the City and to 

minimize potential adverse impacts on adjacent property owners and neighborhoods. 

47 



3.1202 Adult-Use Marihuana Business Overlay District Uses. 

Except as otherwise provided or restricted by this ordinance, the City's Adult-Use Marihuana 

Business Ordinance and the regulations promulgated thereunder, the following adult-use 

marihuana business uses are authorized in the Adult-Use Marihuana Business Overlay Districts, 

provided the development also meets the design and building standards set forth in Section 

3.1212 and Article 2, Chapter 5, Development Standards for Specific Uses: 

A. Retailer; 

B. Social Equity Retailer; 

C. Safety compliance facility; 

D. Secure transporter; 

E. Grower; 

F. Processor; 

G. Class A Marihuana Microbusiness; 

H. Designated Consumption Establishment; 

I. Temporary Marihuana Event. 

3.1203 Adult-Use Marihuana Business Overlay District Permitted Accessory Uses. 

A. Off-street parking, loading and unloading as required per Section 4.307; and 

B. Any use that is not incidental to the permitted principal use. 

3.1204 Adult-Use Marihuana Business Overlay District Requiring Site Plan Review. 

All adult-use Marihuana business uses are subject to site plan review set forth in Section 6.202. 

3.1205 Licensing. 

All operators of adult-use marihuana businesses listed in Section 3.1202 must obtain State of 

Michigan license and applicable City of Pontiac permits, including not but limited to, adult-use 

marihuana businesses, building, and zoning. 

48 



3.1206 Standards for Approval. 

For consideration of adult-use marihuana businesses uses by the Planning Commission, the 

Commission shall review each application for the purpose of determining that each adult-use 

marihuana business on its location will: 

A. Not impact surrounding residential neighborhoods. 

B. Provide easy access for persons with accessible parking. 

C. Be adequately served by utilities with sufficient capacity. 

D. Corridors and streets have the capacity to accommodate Adult-Use Marihuana Business 

Overlay District's potential increases in traffic volumes. 

E. Demonstrate a safe and secure environment and uphold the public welfare of the community. 

F. Not add unintended or impromptu costs to City and municipal services. 

G. Comply with Section 6.303, Standards for Approval. 

3.1207 Adult-Use Marihuana Business Overlay District Location Description. 

Adult-Use Marihuana Business Overlay District boundaries are established on the Adult-Use 

Marihuana Business Overlay District maps. These overlay districts are part of the City of Pontiac 

Zoning Map. The Adult-Use Marihuana Business Overlay District maps may be a single sheet or 

composed of several map sheets and shall be kept on record in the City of Pontiac Clerk and 

Building Safety offices. 

The adult-use marihuana businesses uses permitted in the Adult-Use Marihuana 

Business Overlay District must meet the following requirements: 

A. East Walton Overlay District (Overlay District 1). All properties along Walton Blvd. and 

streets north of Walton Blvd., but not including areas north of Collier Road between the west side 

49 



of Telegraph Road to Fuller Street, including those contained within Overlay Map 1 for this Adult

Use Marihuana Business Overlay District. 

1. Not more than eight (8) permits to operate an Adult-Use Marihuana Retailer and/or 

Adult-Use Marihuana Social Equity Retailer shall be awarded in this Overlay District No. 1. 

See Overlay Map 1 for this Adult-Use Marihuana Business Overlay District. 

B. Cesar Chavez District (Overlay District 2). All properties along Cesar Chavez, starting 

from the Kennett Road Landfill and areas south to Cesar Chavez to W. Montcalm St. 

1. Not more than seven (7) licenses to operate an Adult-Use Marihuana Retailer and/or 

Adult-Use Marihuana Social Equity Retailer shall be awarded in this Overlay District No. 2. 

See Overlay Map 2 for this Adult-Use Marihuana Business Overlay District. 

C. G-2-Downtown Overlay District (Overlay District 3). All properties within G-2-Downtown 

District. 

1. Not more than seven (7) permits to operate an Adult-Use marihuana retailer and/or 

Adult-Use Marihuana Social Equity Retailer shall be awarded in this Overlay District No. 3. 

See Overlay Map 3 for this Adult-Use Marihuana Business Overlay District. 

2. In addition, Designated Consumption Establishments shall be limited to-G--2 Downtown 

Adult-Use Marihuana Business Overlay District, with three Designated Consumption 

Establishments permitted north of Huron Street and three Designated Consumption 

Establishments permitted south of Huron Street. 

The overlay district is a regulatory tool to implement the establishment of adult-use marihuana 

businesses in the City of Pontiac. An overlay district is applied over one or more previously 

established zoning districts, establishing additional or stricter regulations, standards and criteria 

for adult-use marihuana business uses in addition to those of the underlying zoning district. 

3.1208 Buffer Distance Restrictions. 

A. As measured from each property line of the adult-use marihuana business to the closest 

Property line of the land use described below, proximity of any proposed adult-use marihuana 

businesses shall not be less than: 

50 



1. One thousand (1,000) feet from an operational public or private school; 

2. Five hundred (500) feet from an operational commercial childcare organization (non

home occupation) that is licensed and registered with the State of Michigan Department of 

Health and Human Services or its successor agency; 

3. Five hundred (500) feet from a public park; 

4. Except in the G-2-Downtown Overlay District (OVERLAY No. 3). All properties within G-

2-Downtown District, in all other overlay aistfiGldistricts, a proposed adult-use marihuana 

businesses shall not be less than Five hundred (500) feet from a religious institution that is 

defined as tax exempted by the Oakland County Assessor; and 

B. If a parcel lot of the Adult-Use Marihuana establishment does not meet the minimum buffer 

distance as set forth in Section 3.1208A of this Ordinance, an Adult-Use marihuana retailer and/or 

Adult-Use Marihuana Social Equity Retailer shall be prohibited at that location. 

3.1209 Co-Location. 

A. Consistent with the Michigan Regulation and Taxation of the Marihuana Act, Initiated Law 1 

of 2018, MCL 333.27951 et seq. ("MRTMA") and rules promulgated by the Department, the City's 

Adult-Use Marihuana Ordinance, and except as other provided in the zoning ordinance, any 

combination of growers, processors, marihuana retailers, social equity retailers, Class A 

Microbusiness, and designated consumption establishments may operate as separate adult-use 

marihuana businesses at the same physical location. 

B. Consistent with the MRTMA and rules promulgated by the Department, applicants for class 

C growers permits shall be allowed to receive multiple such permits and operate under each 

permit in a single establishment. 

3.1210 Building Design, Area, Height, Bulk, and Placement. 

A. Four-sided Architecture. All Building Fa9ades visible from an adjacent Lot or Street shall be 

constructed with the same building material quality and compatible architectural variety on all 

Building Fa9ades in a compatible context to the rest of the building. 

51 



B. Building and design improvements must comply with the underlying zoning requirements of 

Article 2, Chapter 4, Private Frontage Design Standards, and the specific uses development 

standards outlined in Article 2, Chapter 5. 

C. If the provisions of the Adult-Use Marihuana Business Overlay District are silent on building 

and design requirements, the requirements of the underlying district shall apply. 

D. If the buildin~ and design requirements of the Adult-Use Marihuana Business Overlay District 

conflict with the requirements of the underlying district, then the building and design requirements 

of the Adult-Use Marihuana Business Overlay District shall supersede the underlying district 

regulations. 

E. Odor shall be managed through the installation of activated carbon filters on exhaust outlets 

to the building exterior from any rooms used for production, processing, testing, packaging, 

selling, research and warehousing. Negative air pressure shall be maintained within the rooms. 

F. An alternative odor control system may be approved by the Pontiac Building Official based 

on a report by a registered mechanical engineer licensed by the State of Michigan, demonstrating 

that the alternative system will control odor equally or better than the required activated carbon 

filtration system. 

G. Generators must be installed to operate the air filter system In case of power outage or 

failure. 

H. Exterior lighting fixtures including neon, LED, flashing lights, or similarly noxious or obtrusive 

lighting or effects shall be prohibited, including lighting device with intermittent fading, flashing , 

blinking, rotating or strobe light illumination on any adult-use marihuana business building, 

structure or property. 

I. Luminous tube lighting (e.g., neon, rope lighting) shall not be used to outline or frame doors, 

building elevators, and/or windows. 

J. Luminous tube and exposed bulb fluorescent lighting is prohibited as an architectural detail 

on all building/structures (e.g., along the roof line, eaves) and on all building facades. 

K. Exterior site lighting must be installed in site parking areas, egress, and ingress areas. 

Lighting must be compliant with Article 4, Chapter 5. 

52 



L. It shall be prohibited to display any signs that are inconsistent with State or local law, and 

Article Q-

M. It shall be prohibited to use the symbol or image of a marihuana leaf or the medical "green 

cross" symbol in any exterior building signage. 

N. The following sign language is not permitted on any adult-use marihuana business building 

use: Marihuana, Marijuana, Cannabis, Ganja, Dope, Roach, Hash, Reefer or any other 

word/phrase with similar likeness. 

0. Window signs that occupy not more than ten percent of the inside surface of the window 

area of each floor level of a business or building are permitted. 

3.1211 Review Authority and Establishment. 

A. The Planning Commission shall be the special exception and site plan review authority for 

the permitted adult-use marihuana business uses in the Adult-Use Marihuana Business Overlay 

Districts. 

B. Adult-use marihuana businesses uses must be in accordance with the Special Exception 

permit review standards contained in Article 6, Chapter 3. 

C. A special exception permit for adult-use marihuana business uses requires public notice of 

500 feet from the proposed adult-use marihuana business. 

D. All permitted adult-use marihuana businesses uses must be in accordance with the uses and 

development standards outlined in Article 2. 

E. Within the Adult-Use Marihuana Business Overlay Districts all requirements of the underlying 

districts remain in effect, except where these regulations provide an alternative to such 

requirements. 

Amend Article 4 Chapter 2; Section 4.206, Keeping of Household Animals or Pets. 

C. Permitted and Special Exception Uses. Refer to +able---2 Table 2. 1 for permitted and special 

exception uses in the IP-1 district. 

53 



Amend Article 4 Chapter 3; Section 4.303, Minimum Parking Requirements 

B. Minimum Parking Required. The minimum number of off-street parking spaces shall be 

determined in accordance with the following Table 8. For the list of uses that are included in each 

category, refer to +abla-2 Table 2. 1 or the use definition categories in Article 7, Chapter 2. 

Article 7 - Definitions - amend to Add Chapter 2 Definitions, and Chapter 3, General 
Definitions as follows: 

Article 7 - Chapter 2 Definitions 

7.202 Commercial, Office and Service Uses. 

[Add) "Designated Consumption Establishment" means a licensed marihuana establishment 

authorized to permit individuals 21 years of age and older to consume marihuana products on the 

licensed commercial premises. 

[Add) "Class A Microbusiness" means a licensed and City-permitted marihuana establishment 

authorized to operate at a single location and cultivate not more than 300 mature marihuana 

plants; package marihuana; purchase marihuana concentrate and marihuana-infused products 

from licensed marihuana processors; sell or transfer marihuana and marihuana-infused products 

to individuals 21 years of age and older; and transfer marihuana to a safety compliance facility for 

testing in accordance with MRTMA and the City's Adult-Use Marihuana Ordinance 

[Add) "Marihuana Retailer" or "Social Equity Retailer" means a licensed and City-permitted 

marihuana establishment that purcnases marihuana from a grower or processor and sells, 

supplies, or provides marihuana to marihuana establishments and to individuals who are 21 years 

of age or older in accordance with MRTMA and the City's Adult-Use Marihuana Business 

Ordinance. 

[Amend] "Safety compliance facility" means a safety compliance facility as defined by the MRTMA 

and the administrative Marihuana Rules, including R 420.107 as amended, that takes or receives 

marihuana from a licensed grower, processor, retailer, social equity retailer, or Class A 

Microbusiness, collects random samples, tests the marihuana for contaminants, potency, and for 

tetrahydrocannabinol and other cannabinoids, and returns the test results, and may return the 

54 



marihuana to a licensed grower, processor, retailer, social equity retailer, or Class A 

Microbusiness. [Amend] "Secure transporter'' means a marihuana-related business located in this 

State that stores marihuana and transports marihuana between adult-use marihuana businesses 

for a fee. A secure transporter shall comply at all times with the MRTMA and the rules promulgated 

thereunder. 

7.203 Industrial Uses. 

[Add]-G-2 Downtown Adult-Use Marihuana Business Overlay District. See Map 3. 

[Add] Cesar Chavez Adult-Use Marihuana Business Overlay District. See Map 2. 

[Amend] Grower. A commercial entity that cultivates, dries, trims, or cures, and packages 

marihuana for sale to a processor, GF provisioning center, or marihuana retailer. As used in this 

ordinance, grower shall include class A growers, class B growers, and class C growers, and as 

further regulated by either MMFLA or MRTMA as to the number of plants that each class is 

authorized to grow in accordance with the grower's state license and City permit. 

[Add] "Primary Caregiver" or "Caregiver". Is a person who is at least 21 years old and who 

acquires, possesses, cultivates, uses, delivers or distributes marihuana to treat or alleviate a 

debilitating medical condition and has agreed to assist with a qualified patient's medical use of 

marihuana, who has not been convicted of any felony within the past 1 O years, has never been 

convicted of a felony involving illegal drugs or a felony that is an assaultive crime as defined in 

section 9a of chapter X of the code of criminal procedure, 1927 PA 175, MCL 770.9a, and holds 

a current and valid registration with the State of Michigan in accordance with the Michigan Medical 

Marihuana Act, Initiated Law 1 of 2008, MCL 333.26421 et seq. ("MMMA"), and any applicable 

City permit. 

[Amend] K. Processor. Commercial entity that purchases marihuana from a grower and that 

extracts resin from the marihuana or creates a marihuana -infused product for sale and transfer 

in package form to a provisioning center, or marihuana retailer, including social-equity retailer. 

[Amend] Q. Safety Compliance Facility. A safety compliance facility as defined by the MRTMA 

and the administrative Marihuana Rules, including R 420.107 as amended, that takes or receives 

marihuana from a licensed grower, processor, retailer, social equity retailer, or Class A 

Microbusiness, collects random samples, tests the marihuana for contaminants, potency, and for 

55 



tetrahydrocannabinol and other cannabinoids, and returns the test results, and may return the 

marihuana to a licensed grower, processor, retailer, social equity retailer, or Class A 

Microbusiness. 

[Amend] S. Secure Transporter. A commercial entity located in this State that 

stores marihuana and transports marihuana between medical marihuana facilities for a fee, 

marihuana retailer, or microbusiness Class A. 

[Add] Walton Blvd. Adult-Use Marihuana Business Overlay District. See Map 1. 

[Add] Woodward Gateway Overlay District. See Map 4. 

Article 7 - General Definitions, Chapter 3 

[Add] MRTMA. The Michigan Regulation and Taxation of the Marihuana Act, Initiated Law 1 of 

2018, being Sections 333.27951 to 333.27967 of the Michigan Compiled Laws, and the 

administrative rules promulgated thereunder. 

[Add] Marihuana Business. Are the following adult-use marihuana establishments, whether 

operated for profit or not for profit: (a) grower, (b) safety compliance facility, (c) processor, (d) retailer, 

(e) social-equity retailer, (f) secure transporter, (g) Class A microbusiness, (h) Designated 

Consumption Establishment, (i) marihuana event organizer or 0) temporary marihuana event. 

56 



STATE OF MICHIGAN 

COUNTY OF OAKLAND 

CITY OF PONTIAC 

ORDINANCE NO. 

ZONING ORDINANCE MAP AMENDMENT 

Formatted: Centered, Space After: 0 pt, Line spacing: 
1.5 lines 

AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND APPENDIX B OF THE MUNICIPAL CODE OF THE CITY OF---( Formatted: Line spacing: 1.s lines 

PONTIAC, AMENDING ARTICLE 2, SECTION 2.103-ZONING MAP, TO CREATE THREE {3) 

ADULT-USE MARIHUANA OVERLAY DISTRICTS LOCATED IN THE CITY OF PONTIAC, 

SPECIFICALLY TO BE KNOWN AS FOLLOWS: ADULT-USE MARIHUANA EAST WAL TON 

OVERLAY DISTRICT: ADULT-USE MARIHUANA CESAR CHAVEZ OVERLAY DISTRICT: AND 

ADULT-USE MARIHUANA DOWNTOWN OVERLAY DISTRICT. 

THE CITY OF PONTIAC ORDAINS: 

Section 1. Amendments. 

That the Zoning Map of the City of Pontiac. said map being incorporated by reference in th~ Formatted: Line spacing: 1.s lines 

Zoning Ordinance for the City of Pontiac pursuant to Article 2. is hereby amended. changed. and 

altered so that hereafter the zoning classifications for the below-described areas shall include three 

(3) Adult Use Marihuana Overlay Districts (AUMODsl as described herein: 

(1) Adult-Use Marihuana East Walton Overlay District (Overlay District 1 l. (See Map 1. 

below). which includes all properties along Walton Blvd. and streets north of Walton Blvd .. 

but not including areas north of Collier Road between the west side of Telegraph Road to 

Fuller Street. subject to all other locational requirements and regulations on adult-use 

marihuana facilities set forth in the City of Pontiac Zoning Ordinance as to the East Walton 

Overlay District. 

57 

Formatted: Indent: Left: 0.5", No bullets or 
numbering, Tab stops: Not at 0.5'' 



2 Adult-Use Marihuana Cesar Chavez Overla District Overla District 2 

2. below) which includes all properties along Cesar Chavez. starting from the Kennett 

Road Landfill and areas south to Cesar Chavez to W. Montcalm St.. subject to all other 

locational requirements and regulations on adult-use marihuana facilities as set forth in 

the City of Pontiac Zoning Ordinance as to the Cesar Chavez Overlay District. 

(3) Adult-Use Marihuana Downtown Overlay District (Overlay District 3), (See Map 3, 

below). which includes all properties within the Downtown District as depicted in Map 3, 

subject to all other locational requirements and regulations on adult-use marihuana 

facilities as set forth in the City of Pontiac Zoning Ordinance as to the Downtown Overlay 

District. 

58 

Formatted: Line spacing: 1.5 lines 



Map #
1 

Adult-Use Marihuana 
Walton Blvd. Overlay District Map 

'I 

'!: 
' . ~ 

.JII I \_-'i!'--,'-''"""''7i":7, I ~ · ~ 

59 

I 

,. I 

N 

·+· s 



Map#2 

·-

·:;:::-_::=.:...~ 

~ 
I 

Adult-Use Marihuana 
Cesar Chavez Overlay District Map 

\ I . 
~ I ~'(Q 

" .!,\ 

~\ 

W+
11 

E 
--===-----=====---•Feet S O 500 1,000 2,000 3,000 4,000 

60 



Map#3 Adult-Use Marihua~a 
· tract Map 

61 

,· 

~ 

' 

I 
1 __ - . 

l~ =<-/ 
l . 



Section 2. Repealer and Severability. --j Formatted: Line spacing: 1.5 lines 

All other parts and provisions of the Zoning Ordinance shall remain in effect. amended only as 

provided above. If any section, clause, or provision of this Ordinance shall be declared to be 

unconstitutional, void. illegal. or ineffective by any Court of competent jurisdiction, such section. clause 

or provision declared to be unconstitutional, void or illegal shall thereby cease to be a part of this 

Ordinance but the remainder of this Ordinance shall stand and be in full force and effect. 

Section 3. Effective Date 

The foregoing amendment to the City of Pontiac Zoning Map was approved and adopted by the City 

Council on , 2023, after a public hearing as required pursuant to the Michigan 

Act 110 of 2006, as amended. The Ordinance shall be effective on • 2023, 

which date is the eighth day after publication of a Notice of Adoption and Posting of the Zoning Map 

Amendment in a publication in a newspaper of general circulation in the zoning district as required by 

Section 401 of Act 110 of 2006, as amended. However. this effective date shall be extended as 

necessary to comply with the requirements of Section 402 of Act 110, as amended. 

ORDINANCE DECLARED ADOPTED. 

---------------------= ============---i Formatted: Space After: 0 pt 

TiRl GreiRlel, Mayer 

Gil¥ ef Pentiac, Michigan 

62 



CERTIFICATION ---I Formatted: Centered 

The foregoing is a true and complete copy of an Ordinance adopted by the City Council of the---( Formatted: Line spacing: 1.s lines 

City of Pontiac. County Oakland. State of Michigan. at a regular meeting of the City Council held on 

day of • 2023. and public notice of said meeting was given pursuant 

to and in accordance with the requirements of Act No. 267 of the Public Acts of 1976. as amended, 

being the Open Meetings Act. and the minutes of said meeting have been or will be made available 

as required by said Act. 

Members Present: 

Members Absent: 

It was moved by Member and supported by Member 

to adopt the Ordinance. 

Members voting yes: 

Members voting no: 

Members abstaining: 

The Ordinance was declared adopted by the Mayor and has been recorded with the City of 

Pontiac. 

---I Formatted: Space After: 0 pt 

Garland Doyle. City Clerk 

City of Pontiac. Michigan 

ADOPTED: 

PUBLISHED: 

EFFECTIVE: 

63 



#4 

0 DINANCE 



CITY OF PONilAC 

ORDINANCE NO. #.....,____._ 

AN ORDINANCE TO ALLOW ADUL T"USE MARIHLIANA ESTABLISHMENTS TO OPERATE IN 
THE CITY OF PONTIAC PURSUANT TO THE MICHIGAN REGULATION AND TAXATION OF 
MARIHUANA ACTt INITJATED LAW 1 OF 2018, MCL 333,27951 ET SEQ.; TO PROVIDE FOR 
STANDAtWS AND PROCEDURES TO PERMIT AND REGULATS ADULT"USE MARIHUANA 
ESTABLISHMENTS: TO PROVIDE FOR THE IMPOSITION OF PERMIT APPLICATION FEES 
AND RENEWAL FEES; AND TO IMPOSE CONDITIONS FOR THE OPERATION OF ADULTt
USE MAR(HUANA ESTABUSHMENTS. 

THE crrv OF PONTIAC ORDAINS: 

ARTICLE __ , ADULT "IUSE MARlHUANA BUSINESS LICENSING 

sec. 01/Titte. 

The lltle of lhls ordinance shall be the "City of Pohtlaa Adult-Use Marlhuaha auslness 

Ordinance," · 

Sac. 02. ~urpose and Intent. 

A Purpose,i The pur~ose of this Ordinance Is lo establish standards and procedures 

for the Issuance, regu\atlon 1 renewal, suspension, and revocation of business licenses for adult ... 

use rnarlhuana establishments lh acaordanoe with the Michigan Regufat\on qnd 1a~atlon of 

. Marlhuana Act. ln\Uated Law 1 of 20181 MCL 333.27951 el seq, (11MRTMA") so as to protect the 

public bealth, safely, and welfare of res1dents of the City by setting forth the manner In which 

adult-use marlhuana businesses oan be operated In lhe Clty, Further the purpose of thfs 

Ordinance Is to: 

(1) Proteol the health, welfare and safety of the public through reasonable re{;lulatlons on 

adult--use marlhuana buslness operallons as IL relates to noise, odor, alr and waler quality, food 

safety, public safely, security forthe establishments and Its personnelt and other health and safety 

concerns: 

(2) Protect resldeqllat zoned properties and neighborhoods by limiting the looaUon and lhe 

concentration of types of Marijuana Businesses to specific areas of the City; 

(3) Establish appllcatlon and license fees to defray and recover the City's costs for 

administering and enforcing this ordinance; 



IY 

(4) Recognfi:e that the City of Pontiac has been Identified by the State of Mloh\gan's 

Cannabis Regulatory A9enoy as a city that has been dlsproportlonately Impacted by mar\huana 

prohl~ltlon and enforcement E\hd that social equity In the marlhuana Industry Is 11ecessary to 

address the historical disproportionate Impact of marlhuana prohlbltlon and enforcement upon 

Pontiac residents and to posltlvely lmpact the Pontiac community; 

(5) Mlnlmlze the adverse effects from growing, processing, dlspensln9 and stora9e of 

tnarlhuana: 

(6) Minimize the adverse effects frotn excessive consumption and use of mc\rlhuanaj 

(7) Coordinate w\th stale laws and regutaUons addressln~ Mar\huana Businesses; a.nd 

(8) 10 restrict the Issuance of Marlhuana Business permits only to those l~dlvlduals and 

entitles that demonstrate an Intent and ability to fuJly comply with this Ordinance and the laws of 

the Clty and the State of Mlchl9an, 

B. Legislative Intent. This ordinance authorli:es the establlshment of aduJt .. use 

rnar1huana businesses within the City of Pontiac consistent w\lh the provisions of MRTMA, eubjeol 

to the foltowlng: 

(1) Use, dlstrlbutton, oulllvatlch, prcductlon1 possessloh, and transportation of 

rnarlhuana r~malns Illegal under federal l&W, and melrlhuana remains classlfied aa a 11controlled 

substance11 by federal law, Nothing In this ordinance Is Intended to promote or condone the 

production, distribution, or posseeslon of marlhuana In violation of any applloable law, Nothing In 

this ordinance Is Intended to grant Immunity from any crlmlnal proseautlon under state or federal 

law, This· ordinance does not protect the owners of properties on whloh a marlhuana commercial 

operation Is oacurrln~ frorn prosecution or from having their property seized by federal law 
enforcement authorities. 

(2) This ordinance Is to be construed to protect the publlo health, safety ahd welf~re 

over commercial adult .. use marlhuana business 1nterests, The operation of a permitted adult ... use 

marlhuana business In the City Is a revocable prlvtlege and not a right In the Clty1 Nothing In this 

ordinance ls to be construed to grant a property right for an Individual or business entity lo engage, 

obtain, or have renewed a Clty .. lssued permit to en9age In the use, distribution. ault\vatlon, 

produotlon1 possesslon 1 transportation or sale of adult.-use marlhuana as a commercial enterprise 

2 



In the City. The City determines that the commerclallzallon of marlhuana Is a 11olosely re~ulated 

Industry'' as that term ls used In U,s, supreme Court jurisprudence, 

(3) Any lnd\vlduat or business entity which purports to have engaged In the use1 

dlstrlbutlon1 cultivation, productloh, possesslon 1 lrahsportatlon or sale of marlhuana as a 

commercial enterprise In the City without obtaining the required aulhorlz.allon required by this 

ordinance Is deemed lo be an Illegally esla'pllshed nuisance. and 'as such le not entltled to legal 

nonconformfng status under this ordinance, the Olly zoning ordinance, or state statutory or 

common raw, 

(4) Nothing In this ordinance ls Intended to grant Immunity from criminal or civil 

prosecutlon, penalty or sanction for the cultlvatlon 1 manufacture, possession, use, sale, 

distribution or transport of marlhuana In any form that Is not In strict compliance wllh the MRTMA 

and the Marlhuana Tracking Act1 and all applicable .admlnlstra~lve rules promulgated by the State 

of Michigan regarding the commerctallzallon of marlhuana. Strlat compllance with all applicable 

stale laws and regulations ls a requirement for the Issuance or renewal of any permit Issued under 

lhls or~lnanoe1 and noncompllanoe with a11y app\loable state law or regulation Is grounds for the 

revocation or nonrenewal of any permit Issued under this ordinance, 

C, Jndemnlficatlon of the City. 

( 1) By accepting a permit lesued pursuant lo thts ordinance, the holder walves and 

releases the Clty1 Its officers, elected offlolals, and employees from any llablllty for lnJ~rles, 

damages or llabllltles of any klnd that result from any arrest or prosecution of marlhuana buslne~s 

owner$, operators, employees, ollenl$ or customers for a vlolallon of slate or federal laws, rules 

or regulations. 

(2) By accepting a permll Issued pursuant to thls ardlnance1 the holder agrees to 

Indemnify, defend and hold harmless the City, Its officers, elected offlolals, employees1 and 

Insurers, against all llabl!lty, cla1ms or demands arlslng on account of any clahn of dlmlnutlon of 

property value by a property owner whose property Is localed In proximity to a lloensed operating 

marlhuana business arising out of, claimed to have arisen out of, or In any manner connected 

With the operation of a marlhuana business or any clalm based on an alleged Injury to business 

or property by reason of a claimed vlolatlon of the federal Racketeer Influenced and Corrupt 

organizations Act (RICO), 1 B U,s.o. § 1964(c), 

3 

-
f 



D, Resetvatlon. 

(1) The Clty of Pontiac shall not waive or constrain, In any manner, the right and 

prerogative of the City of Pontiac lo reject any and all appllcatlons1 to reject an appllcatlon not 

accompanlsd with the required documentation or data required by the application, or to reject an 

application which Is any way lncomplele1 Irregular, not responsive or not respohslble, 

(2) The Olly of Pontiac shall not waive or constrain, ln any manner, the right and 

prerogative of the City of Pont\a,c to amend or repeal this ordinance In any manner, lnotudlng 1 but · 

nol llmlted to, the complete prohibition of ahY type of adult .. use marlhuana business or llmltlng the 

number and types of adult--use marlhuana buslheflses authorized to operate In the City. 

(3) Nolhlhg ln this ordinance Is to be construed to grant or grandfather ahy marlhuana 

business a vested right, Ucense, permit or privilege for continued operations wlthln the Clty, 

Sec. 03. Definitions. 

Unless defined by this ordinance, any term used In this Section that Is defined by the MRTMA, or 

the Administrative Rules promulgated by the Mlchfgati Department of Licensing and Regu,atory 

Affairs address\ng rnarlhuana shall have the deflnltlon given In MRTMA and In the Rules. 

As used tn this Section, the following terms shalt have the meanln9s indicated; 

11Appllcant" means a person who applies for a Clly~lssued permit to operate a Marlhuana Business In 
accordance with the terms of thfa Ordinance ahd the City zoning ordinance, Wrth respect to disclosures 

In an application for a permit lssued pursuant to this Ordinance for purposes of lnellglblllly for a permit 

and the transfer of an Interest In an ls.sued permit. the term 11appllcanl11 Includes a managerial employee 
•, 

of the appllaant1 any person who hotds any direct or Indirect ownership Interest In the Marlhuanq 

Business. and the following true parties of Interest for each type of applicant: 

( 1) For an lndlvldual or sole proprietorship: the proprietor and spouse, 

(2) For a partnership and limited llablllty partnership: all partners and their spouses, 

(3) For a limited partnership and llmlled llabll\ly llmlted par1nershlp: all general and llmlted 

partners1 and their spouses. 



(4) For a limited llablllty company: all members and managers. a~d their spouses, 

(6) For .a pr.lvately held corporation: aU corporate officers or persons wfth equivalent tltles 

and their spouses, all directors ahd their spouses, and all stockholders, and their spouses. 

(6) for a publloly held corporation: all corporate officers or per(ionswlth equtv~leht titles and 

thefr ~pauses, all directors and their spouses, and all stockholdera1 and their spouses, 

(7) l=or a multnevel ownarahlp enterprise: any enttty or peraon tha.t receives or has the right 

to receive gross or net profits frohl the enterprise during any full or partial calendar or fiscal year, 

(8) For a nonpront corporat[on: all Individuals and ~ntltles with membership or shareholder 

r)ghta ln aocordance with the ~rtloles of Incorporation or the bylaws and their spouses, 

(9) For a trust: all trustees1 any lndlvldual or body able to conlrol and direct affalre of the . 

trust, and eny beneficiary who receives or has the right to receive the gross or net profit 

dlstrlbuUons or the trust during any full or partial calendar or fiscal year, and their spouses1 

11Appllcallon11 means the form(s) provided by the City, accompanied with the nonrefundable 

applloallon fee per each permit requested, 

11Clty 11 means the City of Pontiac, Michigan, 

°Class A rnarlhwanq grower' maans a grower licensed lo grow not more . than 100 

marlhuana plants. 

11Class A Mlorobuslness'' means a marlhuana establishment authortzed lo operate at a stngle 

looatlon and oulllv~le not mare than MO rnature marlhuana pla.nts; package marlhuanaj purchase 

marlhuana concentrate and rnarlhuana .. )nfused products from llcensed marlhuana processors; 

aell or transfer marlhuana and marlhuaM .. lnfused products lo Individuals 21 years of age and 

olderj and transfer hlarlhuana to a safety compliance facility for lestln~. 

I 

11CJass l3 marlhuana grower0 means a grower llcansed to grow not more than SOO 

marlhuana plants, 

110lasa C marlhuana srower'' means a grower lloenaed to grow not more than 2,000 

rnarlhuana plants. 



11Co~Locale11 or 11co .. Locatlon11 means any combination of growers, processors1 relallers, soclal 

equity retallers, designated consumption, and Class A mlcrobuslness establishments that may 

operate as separate marlhuana bus[hesses at the same physical location. 

11cultlvate 11 means to propagate, breed 1 grow, harvest, dry, cure, or separate parts of the 

marlhuana plant by manual or mechanical means. 

"Department" means the state of Michigan Department of Ucenslng and Regulatory Affairs 

(LARA)1 lnctudtng without llmltaUon, the Cannabis Regulatory Agency, or Its successor agency, 

11Deslgnated Consumptlon Establlshment II means a marlhuana .. retated busJness authorized to 

permlt Individuals 21 years of age and older to consume marlhuana products on the licensed 

.commerolal premises located In the 0~2 bowntown overlay Pfstrlct No, s,· 

"Disqualifying convlctlon 11 means a conviction that makes an appllcant JnellgJble to receive a 

llcense under MRTMA and the Rules. 

11Equlvatent license" means any of the following state operating llcenses when held by a slngle 

licensee: 

(1) Grower licenses of any class under both the Medical Marlhuana Facltltles 

Licensing Act, MCL 333.271'01 et. seq. ("MMFLN) and MRTMA, 

(2) Processor )lcenses under both the MMFLA and MRTMA, 

(3) Secure transporter llcense.s under both the MMFLA and MRTMA, 

(4) Safely compliance facility llcenses under both the MMFLA and MRTMA 

(6) A provlslonlng center license under the MMFLA and a retaller establishment 

[foense under the MRTMA. 

11Grower11 means a llcens~e establishment that cultivates, dries, trims, or cures and packages 

marlhuana for sale or transfer to a processor, retaller, or another grower, 

"Industrial Hemp" means the term as defined al MCL 333,27963 (c), 

6 



1tlcense11 means a license that Is Issued by the Department under MRTMA that allows the 

llcensee to operate an adu\t .. use m~rlhuana establishment In the City. 

11Marlhuana11 means the term as defined at MCL 333,2.7953, For purposes of th\s Ordinance 

rnarlhuana does not Include lndustrlal hemp, 

"Mar)huana accessorles11 means the term as defined at MCL 333.27953 (g). 

'
1Marlht.tana concentrate'! meahs the resin extracted from any part of the plant of the genus 

cannabis. 

"Marlhuan~ Business" means the followlng adu\t .. use marlhuana establlshmen'ts, whether o~eraled 

for prom or not for profit: (a) grower, (b) safety compllance faclllty> (c) processor, (d) retailer, (e) 

soclaf .. equlty retaller, (f) secure transporter, (g) Class A mlorobuslness, (h) designated consumption 

establlshment. (I) marJhuana event organizer or O) temporary marlhuana event 

"Marlhuana eslabllshmenl" means E\ locatton at which a permlttee Is permitted to operate under 

this Ordinance ~nd MRTMA. 

"Marlhuana Event Organizer'' means a person licensed to apply for a temporary marlhuana event 

license, 

"Marlhuana .. lnfuaed Product'' means a topfcal formulatlon, tincture, beverage, edible substance, 

or similar produol conlalnlng marlhuana and other Ingredients and that (s Intended for human 

consumption. 

"Marlhuana Tracking Acl11 or 11M,A" means Public Act 282 of 20161 MCL 333127901 1 et seq., as 

amended and all future amendments. 

"Michigan Regulatlon and raxatlon or Marlhuana Act11 or 1'MRTMA" means, Initialed law 1 or 2018, 

MCL 333,27951, et. seq" as amended and all future amendments, 

11Permlt" mef:\ns the permit Issued pursuant to this ordinance authorizing the operation of a 

Marlh'uana Business In the City, 

11Permlttee" me°'ns a person who receives and holds a permit to opera.ta a Marlhuana Business 

Issued by the City under this ordinance. 

7 



11Person11 means an Individual, sole proprletorshlp 1 partnershlp 1 limited partnership, llmlted llabUlty 

llmlted partnersh[p, corporation, llmlted Uablllty company, trust1 or other legal entity, and Includes 

persons wlthln the definition of 11appllcant11 as that term ls used In this Ordinance, 

11Processor11 rneans a person llcensad to purchase or obtain marlhuana from a grower 

establlshtnent and who processes the marlhuana and sells or transfers It In packaged form to a 

retailer I class A tnlcrobuslne,se, or another processor1 A processor ls not prohlblted from handllng, 

processing, marketing or brokering Industrial hemp pursuant to the lndU$trlat Hemp Research and 

Development Act 

11Relaller11 means a licensee that obtain$ marlhuana from marlhuana establishments and sells or 

otherwise transfers marlhuana to rnarlhuana establlshrnents and to lndlv\dua)s who are 21 years 

of age or older In accordance with MR1MA. 

11Rules 11 means the untried adm]nlslratlve rules promulgated and from time to time amended by 

the Department to Implement the MMFLA and MRTMA. 

"Safety Compliance Facll1ty11 means a person llcensed to test marlhuana1 lhcludlng certlfloatlon 

for potency and the presence of contaminants, 

11Secure Transporter11 means a person llcensed lo obtain marlhuana from marlhua.na 

eetabltshments In order lo transport marlhu~na to marlhuana establishments. 

11Schooln means and Includes buildings and grounds used for school purposes to provide 

Instruction to chlldren and youth l11 gradaa pre .. klndargarten through 12 by a publlc1 private, 

denomlnatlon~I, or parochial s~hool. 

"SoclaJ Equlty .. Quallfied BusJness11 mean a marJhuana establishment operated by an applicant 

that quallflas for the benefits offered under the soclal equity program administered by either the 

Dep~rtment or the city, 

"Stakeholder'1 means, with respecl to a trust, the trustee and beneficiaries: with respect to a limited 

liability company, all members and managers; with respect to a corporation, whether profltor nan ... 

proflt1 all stockholders1 directors, corporate officers or persons with equivalent t1tles; and with 

respect to a partnership or limited Hablllty partnership, all general and limited partners1 

6 



11State11 means the State of Michigan. 

11State Operating Lfcense'' means a llcense that Is Issued by the Department under MRTMA that 

allows the tlcensee to operate an adult-use marlhuana establishment. as specified In the, license. 

1l1emporary Marlhuana 'Event11 means a license held by a marlhuana event organlzer for an event 

where the onslte sale or consumption of marlhuana prod~ots, or both, are authorized at the 

location Indicated on the state Ucense durtng the dates Indicated on the state lloense. 

Sec. 04, creation of Marlhuana Bus In~&& Comrnl~slon; Compositlon; Quorum · 

(a) There Is hereby created a Marlhuana auslnese Commlsslon1 1here shall be four (4) 

members of the Mar)huana Business Comtnlsslon, The membership shall elect from among Its 

members a chairman, vloe .. chalrrnan, and secretaryc 

(b) A quorum of the Marfhuana Business Cotnmfsslon shall consist of three (3) mem,bers, 

Sec, 05~ Marlhuana Business Commlss1on Membership; Quallfloatlonsi Term; Vacanolas; 

Componsatlort-

(a) Members of the Marlhuana Business Cotnmlsslon shall be residents of the c1ty, and shall be 

chosen so far as reasonably praotlcable tn such a manner as to reprasent a oross-.sectlon of the 

community, 

(b) Members of the Marlhuana Buslness Commission shall be appointed by the mayor to serve 

at the pleasure of the mayor for a term of three (3) years1 Reappointment of a member to serve 

an addltlorial consecutive term Is subject to 001.mcfl approval. 

(c) If a vacancy ocCllrs on the Marlhuana BusJness Comrnlsskm 1 the mayor sha)I appoint a new 

member to flll the vacancy, 

(d) Members of the Marlhuana Business Commission shall serve without pay4 

Sec, 06. Marlhuana Bustt,es~ Commlsston Powers and Dl\lles. 

The Marlhuana Business Commission shall review and deolde all appeals that are forwarded to 

lt by the clerk under this ordJnance, The Marlhllana Btlslness Commission shall review all appec~ls 

qe novo, The Marlhuana Business Commission shall only overturn a declsJon or flnqlng of the 

clerk If It finds such deolaion or finding to be arbitrary or caprlolous anq not supported by materlal1 

9 



substantla1, and competent facts on the whole record considered by the clerk In arrlvlng at such 

declston or findln~1 

Sec. 01. Marihuana Business Cotnmlsslon Rules and Regulations; Meetings. 

(a) The Marlhuana Business Commission shall adopt such rules and resulaUons ·as It deems 

necessary to govern Its prooe~dlngs and deliberations, 

(b) The rules and regulations adopted by the Marlhuana Buslnes~ Commission shall be subject 

to approval by the oounclf, 

(o) The Marfhuana Buslness Commission shall maintain a wrltteh record of Its proceedln~s and 

actions which shall be avallable for publlc lnspectlon1 showing the action of lhe oommlsston and 

the vote of each member upon each question consldereq, All meetings of the commission shall 

be held ln conformance with the open tneetlnss act, Act No. 267 of lhe Public Acts of 1976, being 

seotlons 101261 to 15,276 of the Michigan Complied Laws. 

Sec. oa~ Marihuana Business Rules and Re~ulatlons, 

(a) In addition to the Rules promulgated by lhe Department and the statutes of the State of 

Mlchlgan, the operation~ of a Marlhuana Business shall be conducted In accordanc~ with the 

provisions of thls ordinance and the City Code of Ordinances, Including the zoning ordinance, 

(b) Reta lier estabHshments and Social Equity Retaller establishments located ouls{de of the c .. 
2 D~wntown Ad~ft-Use Marlhuana Business Overlay Dlstr1ct shaU be closed for business, and no 

sale or other dlslrlbutlon of marlhuana In any. form shall occur upon the pretnl~ea, between the, 

hours of 10:00 p,m, and 7:00 a,m, 

(c) DeJlvery of a marlhua.na product for safe or transfer to marlhuana customers by Retailer 

Sstabllshments and Social Equity Retailer Establishments Is permrtted In strict compliance with 

Department Rules, 

(d) Drlve-.thru windows at Retailer establishments and Social Equity Retailer establlshments are 

prohlblted. 

Sec. 09. Licensing of AdultwUse M·~r(huana Businesses. 

(a) Number of permitted adult~use Marlhuana Businesses. 

10 



Type of Establishment 

Grower 

Processor 

Secure transporter 

Relaller 

Social E~ully Retailer 

Class A Mlorobuslness 

Safely compliance facility 

Designated Consumption Eslabllshrnent .. North of Huron Street 

Designated Consumption Eslabllshn,ent .. south of Huron Streat 

M arlhuana event o'rganlzer 

temporary mar{huana event 

No llmlt 

No11mlt 

No limit 

18 

6 

6 

Nollmlt 

8 

8 

No limit 

No llmlt 

Sec. 10- City Marlhuana auslness Permlt and Annual Fee Required. 

(a) No person shall establish or operate a Marlhuana Business located In the City without first 

meeting all of the requirements set forth In this Ordinance, obtaining a permit from the City Clark, 

and obtaining a State Operating Ucense, Permits and Stale Operating Licenses shall be kept 

current and publicly d[splayed within the business. Failure to malntatn or display current slE\le 

llcenses ahd City psrrnlts Is a violation of this ordinance, A Marlhuana l3uslness operating without 

a City permit under lhls Ordlnanoe or without a Stale license Is declared to be a public nuisance, 

{b) The~e shalt be ~n lnlllal applloatlon fee of $5.000,00 and an annual nonrefundable renewal 

of permit fee of $~,000,00 to defray the administrative and enforcement costs associated with 

marlhuana buslnesses localed In lhe City. 

(o) The City permit fee requirement set forth In this ordinance shall be tn addition to, and not In 

Heu of, any other lloenslng and perrnlttlng requirements Imposed by the bepartrnent and any other 

state regulatory agency, or by CJty ordinance, Including, by way of example, and not Jlmlted to1 

any applloable fees for site plan review, zoning review, lnspectlohs, or building permits, 

(d) A separate pertnlt fs required for eaoh Marlhuana Business located at a premises from which 

an adulf .. use m~rlhu~na coinmerolal business ls operated. Operation of a grower, prooessor1 

retailer est~bllshrnenl or soclal equity retatler eslabllshment1 Class A mlcrob~slness, and 

11 



designated consumptton estab\lshment at the same location Is authorized, provlded that each 

establishment Is separately licensed and permitted. Operation of a retal\er establishment or soclal 

equ\ty retailer eslabllshment, Class A mlorobuslnesa and a designated consumption 

estabUshment at th~ same location as a grower or processing establishment ~r:Mt-y Is authorized 

when \n conformity with the City zoning ordinance, 

(e) wtthln thirty (M) days of approval of the appflcant's apptloatlon, the f:lpplloant wlll start all 
necessary re!;\ulrements as required by the City to obtain their oertlfioate of occupancy, Including, 

without llm\tatlon, oomplylng wlth all applloable bulldlng department, fire department, code and 

lnspeotlon requirements, JnoludJng the approval of the site plan. 

(Q All Marlhuana 13usJness permits shall be effective for one (1) year of Its original date of 

lssuanoe by the City and must be renewed annually, 

(9) The conditional permlttee has Ohe (1) year to complete lts sit~ plan upon the approval of the 

Issuance of the Marlhuana Business condltlon~l permit, 'The Community Development DJreolor 

may extend the completlon of the site plan up lo an addltlonal sh< monthsJ provided the applloant 

demonstrates good cause for the extension, 

Sec. 11. Location Ctlterla. 

12 

(a) No n,arlhu~na business Is ellglble to receive a permit unless ~t the time the applloatlon 

for tne marlhuana business operating permit Is submitted, the location of the proposed 

business opetatlon oomplles with the requirements aet forth ln the City zoning ordinances 

as required for the speolfic type of tnarlhuana commerolal business for which the permit 

Is belng sought. No Adult .. Use Marlhuana Relallera shall be permitted outside of the 

Aault .. Use Marlhuana Business overlay Districts, as set forth In the City zoning 

ordlnanoe1 as amended. 

(b) Moblle h'larlhuana businesses and Hmlted cont~ot tr~nsactlon op~ratlons, except for 

curbside servloe lh a designated area at a marlhuana sales locatlon In compll~noe with 

applicable Departrnent .. lssued rules and the City zoning ordinance, are prohibited, 

(c) A permlttee shall not operate a marlhuana business at any location In the City other than 

at the address provided In the applloallon on file with tha City Clerk. 

I 
• I 



Sec. 12. General Perrott Appllcation Requirements. 

(a) An applicant seeklng a permll pursuant to the provisions of this ordinance ~hd lloensure by 

the state under MRTMA must submit an appllcatlon In writing to the Clty Clerk on forms provided 

by the Ctly Clerk. At the lime of applloatlon, lhe appllcat1on must be accompanied by a 

nonrefundable appUoatlon fee of $61000,00 lo defr~y the costs Incurred by the C\ty for processing 

of the appllcatlon. In addltlon, the E\Pplfcant shall present cop[es of government .. lssued 

photograph1c ldentlficE\tlon lo Etccompany the app11oatlon, 

(b) An appUcatlon shall be complete and made under the penally of perjury and shall contain 

all of the f ollowtnm 

(1) The applicants, all of Its stakehoJders) and the proposed manager's full name, date 

of birth I residential and bus1hess address. emall address, and telephone numbers 

lncludlng emergency contact lnform~tlon, and a copy of a government .. lssued 

photoaraphlc ldentlfloatlon card of lhe appftoant and all stakeholders: 

(a) If the appllcanl Is an lndlvldual or sole proprietorship, tha proprietor and their 

spouse, If any. shall provide their name., address, date of blrth, business address. 

buslne~s telephone number, emaH address, aoolal securfty number, and1 If appltcable, 

federal tax Identification (EIN) nurnber. 

(b) If the applicant Is not an lndlvldual or sole proprletorshtp, the applicant shall 

provide Information regardlnfJ the business entity, Jncludlng, without llmltatlon 1 the name 
and address of the enlliy, webalte address (If E\ny) 1 type of business organlzatlon, proof 

of registration with, or a oert10cate of good standing from, the Slate of Michigan, or other 

state or foreign jurlsdlctlon, ~s appHcable, and the na111es, d~tes of birth. residential and 

business addresses, emall addresses, phona numbers of each appllcant1 eaoh 

stakeholder and their spouses, and the federal tax ldentlflcatlon number of the business 

entity, 

(2) The Identity of every person having an ownership or beneflclal Interest In the applicant 

with respect to whloh the llcense Is sought, Including the ownershlp structure of the entity 

that ldenllfles the ownershlp percentage he)d by each stakeholderj provided, however, a 
t 

social equlty~quallfled buslnesa entity Who Is an appllcanl must ,be able to demonstrate 



14 

61 % or more owtiarshlp by quallfylng soclal~equ\ty . applloants, lnoludlng ownership 

struoture of the antlty that ldentifles the ownership percentage held by each stakeholder, 

(3) If the appltoant Is not an Individual, the artlctes of Incorporation or organlzatlon, federal 

tax (dentlflcatlon number and confirmation lettert and the llmlted Uab\\lty company's 

operating agreement, the corporation's shareholder agreemant and bylaws1 and the 

· partnership agreement for a partnership or limited partnership, as applicable. 

(4) A copy of the .appltoant's notice of prequaHOoatlon status Issued by the Department to 

operate an adull .. use marlhuana establlshment. If the applloant does not have adult-use 

prequallficaUon status from the Department. the application wtU not be proaeesed by the 

City, 

(6) The name and address of the proposed Marlhuana Business and any addltlonal 

contact lnformatlon deemed neoessary by the City Clerk, lncludlng the following: 

(a) A copy of the deed reflectfng the appl{oant's ownership of the proposed 

permitted premlses, or a purchase agreement or option to purchase the proposed 

permitted premises as appltcable, or 

(b) A copy of the lease renectlng the right of the applicant to possess1 or an 
agreement or option reflecting the applicant's right to lease, the proposed permitted 

premtses1 and a notarized statement from the owner of such property authorl:2:lng the use 

of tha property for a marlhuana business as applicable, 

(6) For the app11canl and every stakeholder, ~fflrm.allon that each ts at leaet 21 years of 

age, 

(7) A orlm1nal history background report of the applloanPa criminal history from the 

Internet Orlmfn~I HJstcry Acoess Tool (ICHAT) or a Michigan State Police arlmlnal history 

report for applicants residing In Michigan. For appHcants who reside In any other state, 

federal or foreign Jurisdiction, or who have resided In any other state, federal or foreign 

Jurlsdlatlon wtthln 6 years prior to the dale of the applloatlon provide a certlned state, 

federal or forelgh Jurlsdiotlon sponsored _or aulhorli:ed criminal history report. The 

applloanl Is responsible for all charges Incurred In requesting and reoelvJng the crlrnlnal 



15 

history report and the report must be dated wUhln thirty (30) d_ays of the dale of the 

app\lcatloh, 

(e) Written cohsent authorizing the City to obtain a orltnlnal history report froh'l the 

Mlchl~an State Fiollce, the Federal Bureau of Investigation, or other applloab[e state, 

federal or forekm jurisdiction law enforcement or police asency1 to ascertain whether the 

appllcant and stakeholders have any dlsquallfyln9 convictions or convicUons Involving 

dlshonesty1 theft1 fraud, or controlled substances, 

(9) A current organ.lzal\on ohart that.Includes position descriptions and the names of each 

person holdlng such position, Wh[ch shall Include dale ~f blrth, address, copy of photo 

Identification, and emall address for any operator, manager1 or employee If other than the 

appllcant. 

(10) A complete llst of all marlhuana relatect business parmlts and licenses held by 

.applicant. 

(11} An attested disclosure whether the appllaahl or operator has ever had a buslnees 

license revoked or suspended, and If revoked or suspended, the reason for such 

revooatfon or suspension and copies of the orders of revocation or suspension, 

(12} An attestation that no appllcahl or stakeholder Is lnellglble from holding a slate 

lloense to operate a marlhuana commerolal business, 

(13) An attestation that the applloahl consents to lnspeotlonai examlnatfons, searches 

and, seizure~ required or undertal<en pursuant to enforcement of this ordinance, 

(14) A statement that n~ applloant le rn default to the City for any property tax, special 

asssssmenl1 utlllty charges, flnes1 fees or other (lnanclal obligation owed to the City, 

(16) For the appllcant ~nd for eaoh stakeholder a resume that Includes a buslness h !story 

, and any prior experience With a marlhuana .. related business, 

(16) The proposed business plan of the applicant, whloh shalt Include wlthou\ limitation, 

the following: 



16 

(a) A description of the type of the proposed adultMuse rnarlhuc1na cornmerolal 

operation and Its physical actdress; and 

(b) A staffing plan which describes the anticipated o~ actual number of 

employees, Including an estimate of the ~umber and type of jobs thal the business Is 

expected to oreale1 a proposed llvlng wage or salary (at least 200 percent of the Federal 

t:1overl.y Level for a famlly of two, at lts hourly basis) for all employees pursuant to MOL 

125,3501, MCL 125i35021 MCL 125,35041 article VII, § 34 Construction of oonstltutfon 

and law concerning oounttes1 townships, cltles, vlllages and artlo\e Vtl 1 § 22 Chartera 1 

resolutions, ordlnanoes; enumeration of pawers of the Mlchl~an Constitution, and q . 
health and welfare benefits package to be paid for such jobs, unless otherwise prohibited 

by state law, and the goals and objectives to recrull, hire and promote residents of the 

City; and 

(o) A staff tralnln9 and education plan that the applicant WIii provide to 

employees; and 

(d) The financ1a1 structure, source of flnancln{l. development and bulld~out 

buaget and projected Initial operating bud9et of the proposed Marlhuana 13uslness; and . 

(e) Short and long--term goals and objectives; and 

(f) An explanation, with supporting factual data, of the economic benefits lo the 

City and the Job creatlon for local reeldenls to be achieved by the eslabllshment faGlfily, a 

pro~ol;led llvlng wage or salary (at least 200 percent of the f'ederal Poverty Level for a family 

of two, at Its hourly basis) for all employees pursuant to MCL 12613601 1 MOL 125,35021 

MCL 125,35041 arllole VII, § 34 Construollon of constitution and law concerning counties, 

townships. olllesj vlllages and artlcle VII, § 22 Ch~rters1 resolutions, ordinances, 

enumeration of powers of the Michigan Constitution, and a heafth and welfare beneflts 

package to be paid for such Jobs, unlees otherwise prohlbrted by slate law, Including plans 

for community outreach and worker training programs: 

(g) If co.,focatlon of Marlhuana Businesses Is proposed1 provide an explanation of 

the Integration of such businesses, Including a drawing showing the relatlonshlp between lhe 

businesses being oo-,localed1 lncludlng floor area and tha separation provided belween 6Uch 



l . 

17 

facllltles1 lncludlng 1dentlflcatlon of any points of entry, Ingress or egress, and controls at eaoh 

looatlon; and 

(h) A neighborhood oommunloallon/eduoalloh plan and strategies: and 

(I) Any oharltab1e platis and strategies whether through flhanolal donations or 

volunteer work. 

(17) A l]ghtlng plan showing the llghtlng outslde of the maMhuana business for security 

purposes and compliance wlth appllcable City outdoor lighting requlrements1 

(16) A security plan, lncludlng, but not llmlted fo, llghtlng1 alarms, barrlers, 

recordlng/monl~orlng devloes, safes, and/or seourlty guard arrangements proposed for 

the ,estab\lshment faa\#ty- and premises, The security plan must contain the speclficaUon 

detalls of each ltem of securlty equlpment. 

(19) A fo-acale diagram of the proposed Ucensed premises, no larger than 11 Inches by 

17 Inches, showing, without Umltatlon, building floor plah ahd layou~, ~II ehtryWays, 

· dootvvays1 or passageways, and means of publlo entry and exlls to the proposed licensed 

· premises, loading zones, avallable on .. slte park1ng spaces, lncli1dlng handicapped 

aocesslble spaces, fenolng at the premises, and all areas In whtah rnarlhuana wlll be 

stored, grown, mahufaotured br d/sperised; 

(20) Any proposed elevation drawings, and photographs or other dep)ctlon of materla)a 

to be visible on the exterlor of the proposed Marlhua.na Buslness1 
• 

(21) A propoeed marketing, advertlslngt and buslness promotion plan for the proposed 

Marlhuana Business, 

(22) A description of planned tanglble capita! Investment In the City for each proposed 

Mar\huana Buslneas. 

(2~) A social equity plan that (a) promotes and encourages partlclr:,allon and ownership 

In the marlhuana lnduetry by looal res)denls that have baen dlsproport.lonately Impacted 

by marlhuana prohibition and enforcement, and that (b) positively lmpacls local resldenls, 



18 

(24) A dep!otlon of any proposed slgnage, text or graphic materlala lo be shown on the 

exterior of the proposed Marlhuana Business, 

(26) A sanitation plan designed lo protect agatnsl any marlhuana being Ingested on 

the premises by any person or anlmal1 describing how the' waste and byproduct WIil be 

stored and disposed of, ah~ how allY marlhuana wlll be rendered unusable upon disposal. 

The sanllaUon plan shall Include a copy of the proposed contract or letter or Intent 

between the Applloant and sanitation waste provider. 

(28) A proposed Inventory and recordkeeplng plan that will track payment method, 

amount of payment, lime of sale, prodwct quantity, and other product descriptors and 

comp\lance with the requirements of the Department. 

(27) Proof of financial responsibility In the form of a comrnltment or letter of Intent to 

Issue an Insurance poUcy covering the buslhess and naming the City of Pontiac, its 

e(eoted and appointed offlclals, employees, and agents, E\S additional Insured parties, 

primary and non .. contrlbutory available for the payment of any damages arlslng out of an 

act or omission of the applicant or Its stakeholders, agents, employees, or s·ubcontractors. 

tn the amount or: 

a, a\ least Two Mllllon Dollars ($2,000,000) for property damage; 

b, at least Two MIIHon Pollars ($210001000) for Injury to one (1) person; and 

c4 at least Two Minion Dollars ($2 1000,000) for Injury to two (2) or more person 

resulting from the same occurrence. 

The Insurance policy underwriter must have a minimum AM, Best Company 

Jnswrance ranklng 9( B+, consistent with stale law, The policy shall provide that the Olly 

shall be nollfled by the Insurance carrier thirty (30) days In advance of any c~ncellatlon 

or reductlo11 In coverages. 

(28) A signed ackn~wledgemenl that the applicant understands that all matters related 

lo marlhuana cultlvatlon1 possession, dispensing, testing, transporting, distribution and 

use are subject to feder~I and state laws and regul~llons, and that the approval of a 

permit hereunder does not exonernte or excuse the applicant from abiding by the 

i 

' 
i 
i 

i 
I 

. 1 
I 
i 



19 

provisions and re~ulrements and pena\tles assoolated therewith, Further, the applicant 

complete\y releases and forever discharges the city and \ts respective employees, 

agents, facilities, Insurers, lndemnors, successors, heirs and/or assigns from any and all 

past, present or future clalms, demands. obllgatlons, actions, causes of aotloh 1 wrongful 

death olafrns, rfghts, damages, oosts, losses of services, expenses and compensation of 

any nature whatsoever, whether based on a tort, contract or other theory or recovery, 

which the applicant or \1s stal<eholders may now have, or wh!ch may hereafter accrue or 

otherwise be acquired, on account of, or may In any way arise out of the applicant or 

stal~e-holders' appllcatlon for a permit and, If Issued a permit, the applicant or 

stakeholders' operation of a Marlhuana Business. 

(Z9) . A scaled loaatlon area map that Identifies th~ relative tocatlons of, and distances 

from, Schools, childcare centers, pupllc parks-oontalnlna playground equlpmeru, and 

religious Institutions, as measured along the centerline of the street or streets of address 

between two fixed points on the centerline determined by projecting straight llnes, at rlsht 

angles to the cehlerllne, from the primary point of lhgress lo the school, childcare center, 

er rellglous Institution, or~ public parl< • ...ffem tho playgrouhd equlpmem nearest to 

contemplated location, and from the primary point of Ingress to the contemplated locatlon, 

(~O) If the appHcant Is apply)ng for a permit to operat~ a Retailer, a Soolal Equity 

Retaller, • a Class A Mlcrobuslness1 a Destgnated· Consumption Establlshment1 or a 

,emporary Marlhuana Event, a description of drug and alcohol awareness programa to 

be provided by the appllcemt to customers and the publlo, 

(31) . If the appllcant ts applying for a permll lo operate a grower. a oultlvatlon pl(ln that 

Includes a description of the cultlvatlon methods to be used, Outdoor grows are 

prohibited, 

(32) If the applicant Is applylng for a perm(t to operate a grower, a chemlaal and 

peistlclde storage plan that complies with the requirements of the Department. 

(33) An appl(aant for a Marlhuana Secure Transporter license shall provide copies of 

the vehlcle reglstratloh for all oommerclal motor vehicles that wlll be used to transport 

rnarlhuana or marlhuana .. Jnfused products, A secure transporter must provide proof of 

no-.fault automoblle Insurance with a company lloensed to do business In MlchJgan with 



llmlls of llablllty not less than $1,000,000 per occurrence combined single rlmlt for bodily 

Injury and property dama9e1 

(34) Any other Information requested by the City Clerk considered to be relevant to the 

prooesalng or canslderatlon of the applfcatlon. 

(o) An appl1oent may apply for multlple Marlhuana Business permit$ of the same or dlfferent 

nah.ire, except that Cl~ss A MJorobuslness appJlcanls may not hold an ownership Interest In a 
grower, processor, retaller1 or social equity ratalJer, and soctal equity retailer parmtts are Jlmlted 

to soolal equity quallned applloants, No person who holds an ownership Interest In a safely 

oompllanoe faclllty or In ~ seoure transporter may hold an ownership Interest In a grower, ~ 

processor, a ratE\ller, a socilal equity retaller1 or a Class A mlcrobuslriess. 

Seo. 13, Marlhuana Business Permit Appllcatlol'I Process. 

(a) Upon receipt of a completed app\lcatlon meeting the requirements of this ordinance ehd 

payment of the permtl application fee, the Clerk $hall refer a copy of the appllcatlon to the 1Jre 

department and lhe Community Development Department, the planning division~ and other 

affected dep~rtments for rev1ew and ~ompllance with the City Code, 

(b) No application for a permit shall be approved unlese: 

(1) The ffre departnwnt and the Community Development Department and other affected 

departments have fnspeoted the proposed lcoatlon for compliance with all slate and local 

bulldlng1 eleotrlcal, flre1 mechanloal and plumbing requirements, 

(2) The Community Development DE;lpartment, the planning dlv1s1on 1 and other affected 

departments have confirmed lh~t the proposed locatloh compiles with the zoning ordinance, 

(3) The proposed Mar1huana Business has been Issued a oertlrloate of occupancy and, Jf 

necesSarY I a bulldlng permit 

(4) The City Treasurer confirms lhe applicant and each staK~holder and the proposed 

location of the Marlhuana Bus1nesse6 are not In default to the City. 

( c) After tM£KJ~~ooornos effe~~efk-sooU-beg.ffi--ae(H.l~~dw~se-Maflt:\t{atta 

~at,&-aJ,Pllcallons ¼4~~ After sixty (80) days from the effective date of this 

ordinance, the Clerk shall begin acceptiM adult .. use MarHiuana Buslneas apbHcatlons for a permit 

20 



to operate a grower, processor. secure trans~orter, safety oornpHance facility, rnarlhuana event 

organizer, and temponw marlhuana event. 

(d) The Cieri< shall award a condlttonal permit to any applicant for a permit lo operate a grower, 

processor, secure transporter, safety cornplfanoe facility I marlhUE!na event organlzer I and 

temporary marlhuana event, upon the determination by the Cieri< that lhe application ls complete, 

the appl1cant receives the City and State of Michigan approvals required In this ordinance, and 

the appllcant meets all of the requirements of thls ordinance and the City Code, lncludlng the 

zoning ordinance, lf the City Clerk Identifies, or ls Informed of, a denolency In an applloallon1 the 

appllcant has two (2) weel<s to correct the deficiency after not\flcatlon by the City Clerk. The Clerk 

wlll grant a final perm1t If the appltcant obtains final site plan approval and special land use 

approval within 6 months of receiving a condlUonal permit, and obtains an operating permit from 

the City and an operaUng license from the Department wlthlri 18 months after the condltlonal 

permit Is granted and enters Into a written agreement with the City confirming thal the marthuana 

establlshtnent wlll operate In accordance with the business plans, bulldlng plans> design 

slandards1 social equity plans and all other operaUonal standards descrllJed by the applicant In 

the appllcallon materials submitted, The agreement shall further provide that If the establishment 

breaches the agreernenl, then the City may revoke authorization of the establlshment followlng 

notice and a publlc hear1ng, and that In such event, lhe City shall be entitled to Injunctive rellef 

barrlng further operation of the establishment Jn the City, An extension of 6 months to obtE\ln an 

operating permit from the City and an operating llcense from the Department may be granted In 

the discretion of the Clerk upon a showing of good cause for the delay, 

(e) Retailer, Soalal Equity ~elaHer, Clasa A Mlcrobuslness and Designated Consumption 

establlshment AppUcatlons. After sixty (60) days from the effective date of this ordlnance1 the 

Clerk shall set a z1,.day application window period during whloh appllcants may apply for a 
RelaUer, Soclal Equity Retailer (llmlted lo Social Equity Qualified appflcants), Class A 

Mlcrobus)ness and Designated Consumption Establishment permits, After the 21-day appllcallon 

window closes, the Clerk shall assess, evaluate1 score and rank all applloallons for permits lo 

operate a Retailer, SoclaJ Equity Retailer, Class A Mlcrobuslness and Designated Consumption 

Establishment submitted during the twenty .. one (21) day application window period, The Clerk 

shall review all submitted ap~l\oallons for completeness, 

21 



(f) In Its applloallon assessment, evaluation, scoring, ranking, and deliberations related lo 

permits to operate a Relal\er, Soolal Equity Retailer, Class A Mlcrobuslness1 and Des!gnE\led 

Consumption Establlshment1 the Clerk shall assess, evaluate, score, and rank each applloatlon 

based upon a polnt .. based scorlng and ranking prooedure whlch shalt be approved by City Couno\l 

resolution, 1aeve-laf;)~y-#le-Gler-k consistent with the requirements, aondltlons, and provisions of 

this ordlhanoe In eaoh of the following categories~ 

(1) The content and sufflctanoy of the lnformatlon requ\red to be In the app\loallon under 
' . 

thls ord!nanoe1 Applloant must have subm\tted all requlred materlals for each oategory lh a 

professlonal, organized rnanner with olear and aoourate labellhg of all required ltems1 

Fallure to olearly and accuratety label and organize the applloallon materlals wlll result In 

the deduotfon of points. The m~xlmum number of scoring polnts In this oategory shall be 

five (5) points, 

(2) Whether the proposed Marlhuana Business wtll have a detrimental ltnpaot on the 

surrounding area and neighborhood lnoludlng the dlstano~ of the establishment to 

properties zoned or used resldentlally; trafffo patterns, traffic mitigation and resident safety; 

plans for 1\tler oontrol1 lolterlng, noise tnlllgalton, odor mitigation, Appltcaht shall submit a 

traffic Impact study by a professlonal traffic engineer. Applicant shall submlt a sanitation 

plan designed lo protect against any marlhuanr:1 being Ingested on the premises b~ anv 
person or_ an!maL descrlblng how the waste and byproducl Will be stored and dlst}Osed of, 

and how any marlhuan~ WIii be rendered unusable upon d!sposal. The sanitation plan shall 

Jnolude a copy of lh~ proposed contract between the Applloanl and sanitation waste 

provider, Appllcant shall submit an odor control plan saUsfylng the crlterla In $eo, 15 of this 

prdfn~noe. The maximum number of scoring pofnls ln this category shall be twenty (20) 

pornts. 

(3) Ne1ghborhood Oomrnun)catlon/Educallon Plan on behalf of th~ proposed MarlhUana 

Business, The plan should Include meatlngs, at least once per year, with the neighborhood 

organlzallons, resldents and general publlc, ahd to provide a contact for on .. golng pub)lo 

Information, questions and concerns1 Written notice to all property owners wllhln 1500 feet 

of the marlhuana busJness looallon, neighborhood organizations and City Clerk shall be 

provldad, In addition, to other methods of noUce, the written notice shall be sent by mall at 

, I 



., 

23 

least two (2) weeks ~afore the publlc meeting, The rnaxhnurn number of scoring points In 

this category ahall be ten (10) points, 

(4) Whether the app!lcant or lts stakeholders have made1 or plan to mal<e, significant 

physlca) Investment and lmprovernent5 to the bul1dlng where the proposed Marlhuana 

Buslne$s Is lo be focated, lncludlng the appllcant's financial structure, source offlnano\ng,, 

,develogment and bulld"out budget and pro!eoted lnltl_al operatlng budget of the proposed 

Marlbuana Business and proposed tangible capital Investment; the current a.nd proposed 

condition of the propo~ed locatlonj and the applicant's owner$hlp stake In lhe physical 

location of the establishment. The maxlmum number of soaring points In this category shall 

be ten (10) points. 

(5) Whether the applicant and all of Its stakeholders have a record of acts that are nqt 

detrlmsnta1 to the public health, security, safety, rnorats, good order, or gene rat welfare prior 

to the date of the application; applicant shall demonstrate and document a history of 

regulatory compHance with all federal. state and local laws and regulation$, and shall 

disclose all complalnls1 judgments, convictions, administrative and regulatory decisions, 

permit and license suspensions, revocations and fines. rendered by any federal, state and 

looal government agencies, lnc1udlng but not llmtted lo wage and hour laws, anti .. 

discrimination and cMI rights law~, and ocoupatlonal1 health and safety laws, The maximum 

number of scoring points In this category shall be ten (10) points, 

(6) Whether tha applicant ~as dfaclosed ahd documented sufficient 1inancla.1 resourcea 

and tota1 amount of capltatlzatlon to develop, operate and maintain a Relallar, Social Equity 
Retallar, Glass A Mlcrobuslness or Designated Consumption Establishment, and 

demonstrates the requisite business experience to execute> the submitted business plan 

and other plans required by this ordinance, The applicant should disclose and document 

aourc()s and total amount of capitalization lo operate and maintain a Retailer estabflshment, 

a 8oclal Equity Retaller, Glass , A Mlorobuslnesa and Designated Gonsumptlotl 

Eelabllshment, and lnc\ud~ a CPA attested flnanolal staternent1 a v~lld pro forma for three 

years, proof of financial responslblllly In the form of a commltnwnt or letter of Intent to Issue 

an Insurance pollcv satisfying the orltsrla In Sec, 12 (b)(27) of this ordinance, ,attest that the. 

applicant f\nd any of Its owners have not flied banl~ruptcy In the last seven (7) yaars 1 have 

not had !lens placed upon financial accounts or property by the Internal Revenue Service or 



24 

state Treasurles1 and has flted personal and/or oorporate Income tax returns for the past 

flve (5) years, The maximum number of scoring points In this categqry shall pe twenty (20) 

points, 

(7) Oesorlptfon of staffing plan that Includes the number and type offulJ .. tlrne and part .. tlme . 

positions the applicant Intends to create; the proposed Jiving wage or salary (at least 200 

percent of the Federal Poverty Level for a family of two, ~t Its hourly basis) for all employees 

pursuant to Met... 12513501, MOL 125,3602, MCl 125,~504, article VII, § 34 Oonstruollon of 

constitution and law concerning counties, townahlps 1 cltles, vll!ages .and artlcle VII, § 22 

Charters, resolutions, ordinances: enumeration of powers of the Michigan Oonstltutton1 the 
appUcant Intends to pay employees, unless otheiwlsa prohibited by slate ta.w; whether the 

applicant has articulated plans and strategies to recruit, hire and mentor for career 

advancement. a percentage of diverse resldents from the City of Pontlao> Including those 

resldents who are veterans. low Income and/or have a prior controlled substance record 

(excluding distribution of a controlled substance to a minor)~ a staff training and education 

plan that the appl\oant wm' pr~vlde to ernplovees: ~n explanation, with supportlng factual 

,data, of the economic benefits to the City and the lob creation for Jooal residents to be 

aoh leved bv the establishment; short and )ong .. term goals and ob!ectlves: ,and whether the 

applloant h~s articulated plans to provide employee health and welfare peneflt plans, 

lnc\udlng, but nol llrnlted to, sick Jeave1 maternity leave, and paternity leave, The applicant 

shall maintain and provide data to the City Clerk supporting lts staffing plan which shall be 
considered at the Ume of renewal of any parmrt Issued pursuant to this ordfnanoe to 

. determine oompllance. The maximum number of aoorlng points In this category shall be ten 

(10) points, 

(6) Planned phllanthropla lnttlatives and communfty Improvement programs aimed at the 

City of Pontiac, whloh may Include a $1,000 donation to a fund administered by the City 

used to promote aoclal equity In the City of Pontls.c, a negatlvely Impacted oornmunlty, by 

promoting advocacy around criminal Justice Issues related to marlhuana prohibition, 

supporting youth who have been negatively lmpacted by the war on drngs as It relates to 

the prohibition of marlhuana,. a.nd aommunlty education and outraaoh on aduH~use 

marlhuana fn general. The maximum number of soorlng points In thfs category shall be ten 

(10) points. 

;_ 



{9) Whether the appllcant received condltlonal approval for a madloal marlhuana 

provisioning center permit pursuant to City of Pontiac's Medical Marlhuana Facllllles 

Ordinance, Article XXX , SeoUon 26, 1491 et seq .. Is not currently In default of compllanoe 

with Article XXX, ~nd has recelved sfle plan approval from lhe city's Community 

Development Department and has started construction of the medical marlhuana 

provisioning center subject to receipt of a valid building permtt from the City not less than 

30 days prior to the applloatlon for Marlhuana Retaller or Social E;ql(\ty Retailer permit. The 

maximum number of scor1ng points In this category shall be twenty (20) points, 

(1 O) VVhelher the applicant has rehabilitated and/or redeveloped within three (3) years 

before the submittal of the applloatlon under this ordinance, or wtll rehabilitate and/or 

redevelop, an .existing bulldlng by demolishing and rebulldlng or completely renovating a 

buUdlng that has been vacant or had been v~cant as registered with the City for one (1) year 

pr more,, The maximum nurnber of scoring points In this category shall be ten (1 O) polnla, 

(11) Whether the· applicant has rehabllltated and/or redeveloped within three (3) years 

before the submittal of the appllcatlon under this ordinance, or wlll rehabllltate and/or 

redevelop, an existing building by demolishing and rebulldlng or completely renovating a 

building that has been cited as bllghted or dangerous or had been cited as blighted or 

dangerous (as such term Is defined In the Clly's Code of Ordlnances), The maximum 

number of scoring points ln lhla category sha11 be ten (10) points, 

(12) Vvhelher an applicant proposes a soolal equity plan that promotes and enoourages 

social equity participation and ownershlp In the marlhwana Industry by persons who rel3lde 

In dlsproporttonale\y Impacted commun\tles ln those Michigan communities destgnated by 

the Slate 6f Michigan, who have been dlsproportlonately lmpaoled by marijuana prohibition 

and enforcement, and to posltlvely Impact those oommunllles, In accordance with MOL 

333,27958(1)0), ·The maxlmwm number of scoring points In th!~ category shall be fifteen 

('15) point$, 

(18) Whether an appllcant demonstrates social equity participation and greater than 50% 

ownership by persons who reside In disproportionately Impacted communities In lhoae 

Mlchl~an communities designated by the Stale of Mlchlgan 1 who have been 

dlsproportlonalely lmpaoled by marijuana prohibition and enforcement, and lo posltlvely 



Impact those communities, In accordance with MCL333,27958(1)0), The maximum number 

of scoring points In this category shall be fifteen (15) points. 

(g) Overall scoring and ranking sha11 be conducted and applied by the Clerk on the basis of 

assigned points from zero (0) points to one hundred and sixty five (165) points with the lowest 

overall total score as zero (0) polnls and tha highest posatble total score being one hundred ahd 

sixty five (165) points. 

(h) At the conoluslon of the twenty--one (21) day application period, the C)erk shall begin 

processing app\tcatlons for permits to operate retailer establishments, awarding condltlonal 

permits to the eighteen (18) highest $coring appltoanls, In the event of an evaluation scoring tie, 

which causes there lo be more than eighteen (18) appllof\nts who achieve scores sufficient to 

qualify for a permli1 the scorlng .. lled appUcants will be entered Into a rqndom draw and the He wlll 

be resolved through a blind lottery drawing to determine whlch · app,llcant WIii receive 

recommendation for approval, Those appllcatlons randomly selected shall be ellglble to receive 

a permtt to operate a Retafler, In the event thqt the number of Retailer permits falls below the 

maxlmum number authorized under lhls ordinance, the clerk shall not be required to score 

applicants, lnstead1 the olerk shcdl evaluate appllaatlons lh the order that they are submitted and 

shall award permits for Retallers to an applicant who submits a complete appllcatlon, receives 

the approvals re'qulred Jn this section, and meets the requlremerits of this ordlnance1 However, In 

no event shall the number of Retailer permits exceed the maximum number authorized under this 

ordlnqnce. 

(I) At the oonoluslon of the twenty-one (21) day appllcatlon period, the Clerk shall begin 

processlng appllcatlons for permtts to opernte Class A Mlcrobuslnesses1 awarding oohdltlonal 

permlls to the five (5) highest scoring applicants. In the event of £\n evaluatlon scoring tie, which 

causes there to be more than five (5) apptlo~nts who achieve scores sufficient to quallfy for ~ 

permH, the soorlng"tled applicants will be en~ered Into a random draw and the tie wlll be resolved 

through a blind lottery drawing to determine which applicant wlll recetve recommendation for 

approval, Those appllcatlons randomly selected shall be ellglble to receive a permit to operate a 

Class A Mlorobuslness. In the event that the number of Class A Mlcrobuslness permits falls below 

the maximum number authorlzed under thls ordfnance, the Clark shall not be re~ulred to score 

applfcanls, lnstead1 the Clerk shalJ evaluate applloallons Jn the order that they qre submitted and 

shall award permits for Class A Mlorobuslnesses to an ~pp\loaht who submits a complete 

20 



appllcatlon 1 receives the approvals required tn this section, and meets the requirements of this 

ordlnanoe, However, In no even! shall the number of Ol~ss A Mlorobus\ness permits exceed the 

maximum number authorized under this ordinance I 

0) At the conoluslon of the twanty.-one (21) day appllcatlon period, the Clerk shall begin 

processing applications for permits to operate Designated Consumpt(on Eetab\lshments, 

awarding oondltlonal permits to the three (3) hfghest scoring applicants for the North of Huron 

looatlons, In the event of an evaluation soaring tie, which causes there· to be more than three (3) 

applicants who achieve scores sufficient lo qualify for a permit, the scorlng .. tled appllcanta wHI be 

entered Into f;\ random draw and the tie wlll be reso(ved through a bl(nd lottery drawing to 

determine which applicant wlll reoelve recommendation for approval, Those applloatlons 

randomly selected shall be ellglble to receive a permit to operate a Designated Consumptfon 

Establlshment In the event that the number of Designated Consumption Establishment permits 

falls below the maxlmum number authorized under this ord)nance, the Clerk shall not be requlred 

to score applicants, Instead, the Clerk shall evaluate appllc_atlons rn the order that they are 

aubmltled and ahall award permits for Designated Consumption Establishment to an appllaant 

who subhilts e oomplete appllcallon, receives the approvals required In lhls section, and meets 
the requirements of this ordlnancel Howaver, In no event shall the number of Designated 

Consumption Esl~bllshment permits exceep the maximum number authorized under this 

ordinance, 

(k) At the conclusion of the 1wenty--one (21) day appllcallon perlod 1 the Clerk shell begin 

processing applications for permits to operete Designated Consumption Est~bltshments, 

awarding condltlonal permlts to the three (3) highest acorlng applicants for the South of Huron 

looatlohs, In the event of an evaluation scoring tie, whtch causes there to be more than three (3) 

applicants who achieve scores sufficient to qualify for a permtt, the soorlng--tled applicants wlll be 

entered Into a random draw and the tie wlll be resolved through a blind lottery drawing to 

determine which applicant will receive recornhiendatlon for appravat Those applloatlons 

randomly saleoted shall be ellglble to receive a permit to operate a Designated Consumption 

Establishment In th~ ,event that the number of Designated Consumption Establlshment permits 

falls below the maximum number authorized under lhls ordinance, the Clerk shall not be required 

to score appltoants, Instead, the Clerk shall evaluate appllcatlons In the order that they are 

submitted and shall award permits for Deslgn~ted Consumption Establishment to an appllcclnt 

who submits a complete applloatlon, receives the_ approvals required In this seotlon1 and meets 

27 



the requirements of this ordlnance. However, In no event shall the number of Desfgnated · 

Consumption Establ1shment permits exceed the m~xlmum number authorized under this 

ordln·ance, 

(I) At the conoluslon of the twenty--one (21) day application period, the Clerk shall be~ln 

processing applications for permlla tQ operate Soclal Equity Relaller establishments, awarding 

condltfonal permits to the six (6) highest scoring applfoantsl In the event of ah evaluatfon scorfng 

t1e 1 which causes there lo be more than six (6) applicants who achieve scores eufflclenl to quallfy 

for a permit, the scarlng .. tled applicants wlll be entered Into a random draw and the lie wlll be 

resolved through a bllnd lottery drawing to determine which appUcant w111 receive recommendation 

for approval, Those applications randomly selected shall be eligible to receive a permit to opernte 

a Soola\ Equity Relaller, ln the event that the number of Social Equity Retailer permits fatls 

below the maximum number authorized under this ordlnance1 the clerk shall not be required to 

score applloanls1 lnstead1 the clerk shall evaluate applications ln the order that they are submitted 

and shall award permits for Soolal Equ\ty Retallers lo an applicant who submits a compl~le 

qppllcatlon, receives the approvals required In this sacllon, and meets the requirements of this 

ordinance, However, In no event shall the number of Social Equity Retailer permits exceed the 

maximum number author1zed under this ordinance, · 

(m) The Clerk wit\ grant a final permit to~ retaller, soclal equity retaller1 Class A mlcrobuslness 

and destgne1ted consumption establishment lf the applicant obtafns flnal site pl~n approval and 

special land use approval within e months of receiving a condlllonal permlt1 obtains an t>perallng 

permit from the City and an operating license from the Department within 1 a months after the 

oondltlonal permlt Is ~ranted, and enters Into a wrttt~n agreement with the City confirming that the 

marlhuana establishment wlll operate ln accordance with the business plans, bulldlng plans, 

design standards, social aqulty plans and all othe( operational standards dascrlbed by the 

applicant In the application materials submitted, The agreement shall further provide that If the 

~stabllshment breaches the agreement, then the City may revoke authorization of lha 

establishment fo\lowlng notice and a publlo hearing, and that In such event1 the City shall be 

entitled to Injunctive relief barring further operation of the esla,bllshment Jn the City. An extens)on 

of a months to obtain a,n operating permit from the Clty and an operating license from the 

Department may be granted In the dlscretloh of the Clerk upon a showing of good cause for the 

delay, 

28 



(n) Nothlng In this. section Is Intended to confer a properly or other rlght1 duty, privilege or Interest 

In a permH of any kind or nature whatsoever, lnoludlng, bttt not tlmlted to1 any claltn of entitlement. 

(o) The Clerk may engage professlonal experl consultant assistance In performing the Clerk1s 

duties and responslbllltles under this Ordlnancel 

Seq, 14. Social Equity· ltetaUars 

(a) The City has created a permit process to allow slate soola\ equity qualifiers lo apply for 

and be awe\rded eoclal equity retailer permits In.zoning dlstrlcts designated In the city zoning 

ordinance, The City shall permit sbc (6) ~ social equity relaller llcenses for soclal equity 

appllcanls1 lnaludln~ franchisees, who demonstrate and document 61 % or more ownership by 

social equity qualifying applicants, Including ownership structure of the entity that Identifies the 

ownership percentage held by each stakeholder, 

(b) Social equlty applicants for social equity retailer perm[ts may apply for other avatlE\ble 

adult--use permlls Including retaller establishment permits, except they may not apply for a Class 

A mlcrobustness, safety compllahce fac11Jty or secure transporter permit. 

Seo. 1g. Odor Control. 

(a) No Marlhuana Suslness1 permlltee1 person, tenant, occupant, llcensee, landlord or 

property owner shall permit the release of mar\huana odors from any orlgln to cause obvious 

odors emanating from the premfses tn which they derived and lntetfere with the reE1sonab[e and 

comfortable use ~nd enjoyment of another's property, Whether or not a marlhuana odor Interferes 

with the reasonable ancl comfortable use ~nd enjoyment of ~no~her1s property shall be determined 

by the o~jectlve standards of a reasonable person of normal sensitivity, 

(b) Mar)huana auslnesses shall use sufficient procedures to prevent smoke, odor, debris,· 

dust, flu Ids and other substanoes from escaping the premises of the Marlh uana Business, If any 

smoke, odor, debrls1 dust; fluids or other substances leave the Marlhuana }3uslness In a. 
delectable amount sufflc(ent to Interfere with• the reasonable and comfortable Use and 

enjoyment of adjaceht property, or that causes datna9e to properly, the pennlttee for the 

Marlhuana Business and the owner or the premises shall be Jointly and severally Hable for suoh 

condlUons and shall be responsible for lrnmedlale1 full cleanup ~nd o'orrecUon of such condition, 

The perrnltlee shall properly dlspose or all such materials, and other substances In a safe, 

sanitary, and secure mahner ln compliance wlth all federal ~nd stale l~ws and regulations, and 

thJs chapter, 

29 

I I 

i 



1. A ~lah for ventilation cf the Marlhuana Business that desor\bes the vent!latlon 

systems that will be used to prevent any odor of marlhuana off the premises of tha 

business, Such plan shall also lnolude all ventilation systems used to control the 

ahvlronment for the plants and describe how such systems operate wlth the systems 

preventing any odor leavlng the premls.es. Por marlhuana Infused products, such plan 

shall also Include all ventl\atlon systems used to mitigate noxlous gases or other fumes 

uaed or cre~ted as part of the production process, 

2, Cultlvated, produoed1 or distributed by a Marlhuana Business, A MarlhLlana 

Business shall be vemtllated so that the odor Of rnarlhuana cannot be deteoted by a person 

with a normal sense of smell at the extertor of the Marlhuana auslness or at any adjoining 

use or property, 

3, Sufficient measures and means of preventing smoke1 odor, debris, dust1 fluids and 

other substances from exiting a Marthuana Business must be provided at all times, In the 

event that ahy odors, debris, dust, fluids or other substances exit a marlhuana 

establishment, the owner of the subject premlses and the permlttee shall be Jointly and 
sev~rally liable for suoh conditions and shall be responsible for lmmedlate, full olean~up 

and corr·eotlon of such condition. The Marlhuana Business shall properly dispose of all 

such materlals, Items and other substances In a safe, sanltary and seoure rn~nner r;tnd In 
accordance with aJI applicable federal, state and local laws and regu\atlons. 

Set~ 16. $oclaJ Equity 

(a) A permltee t\fly-peroon al' entity raooMAg.-more than $1 Q,m:,o,oo hi cohttaot ~ ·b!e--W 

benofit frnm u~c City must use good.-falth efforts In hiring employees who have been negatively 
lmpaoted by marlhuana prohibition, Adult .. use recreational marlhuana buslneases should use 

9ood .. falth efforts to hire and retain 26 paroent of Its employees who are low Income or llv~ In the 

City of Po ntlacJ 

S()o, 17, Class A Mtcrobusinesses 

(a) A Class A mlcrobuslness Is subject to all applicable provisions In this Ordinance related 

to growers, processors, and retallers, 

30 



(b) All Class A Mlcrobus1hesses1 shall comply wlth all appHoab1e requlremehts of the city of 

Pontiac's zoning· ordinance except where otherwise specified In this Ordinance, 

(o) All Class A Mlorobuslnesses shall ba class\fled a$ s~eclal Land Uses In the permitted 

zoning dfstrlots, 

(d) A masonry screen wall shall be provided along all property lines abutting property that ls 

zoned for residential use, subject to the requirements of the Pontiac Code of Ordinances, 

(e) Class A Mlcrobualnesses are prohibited lf the location Is within 1,000 feet from any pre 01 

existing School~ (\) Tha distance separatloh requirement ~et forth above shall be measured from 

nearest property llne of the Business Looa11on to the nearest pro~erty line of the parcel on whloh 

the listed use ls located, regardless of ownerehtp of property or Perm1llee, /\ Glass A 

~orobuslnoss--ooall-ltGt-G~e~A---tRa-sam~e~Ule~-Marlh uana a uoJne cs. 

Sec. 18. Designated consumption Establishments. 

(a) All Designated Consumption ~stabllshments shall comply with all app)loable requirements 

of the City of Pontlao's zoning ordlnanoa1 

(b) Designated Consumption ~stqbllshments shall be limited to 0 .. 2 Downtown Adult~Use 

MarJhuana Business Overlay District as Identified lh the Olly toning ordinance and on the Ctty 

Zoning Map1 with three Designated Consumption establishments permitted north of Huron street 

and three Designated Consumption E:slabllahmenta permitted south of Huron Street. 

(o) Designated Consumption Eslabllshmente shall be oJasalfled as Special Land U~es In the 

permitted zoning dlstrlols, 

(d) A masonry screen wall ehalJ be provided along all properly Unes abutting property 1hat Is 

zoned for residential uae, subject to the requirements of the Pontiac Code of Ordlnances1 

(e) Designated Consumption Establlshments are prohlblted Ii the locatlon Is within 1,000 feet 

from any pre .. exlstlng Sohooli (I) The dletance separation requirement set forlh above shall be 

31 



measured from nearest property llne of the suslness Looallon to the nearest property line of the 

parcel on which the llsted use (s located. regardless of ownership of property or Pennlttee, 

(0 A Designated Consuniptlon Eslabllshment shall: 

(1) Install and maintain an opera~le ventllatlon and flllre\tlon system to remove snioke to 

the outside of the building ~nd eltmlnate odor al the property llne of the premlses: 

(2) Protnlnently dtsplay a sign near the entrance of the business which carries the followh1g 
warning: 

WARNING.1 Marlhuana use by pregnant or breastfeeding women1 or by women 
p/snn/ng to become pregnant, may result In feta/ ln}Ury, pre term birth, low birth weight, 
or developmental problems fort he ohJ/d, 

se·c, 19. Marlhuana BuslrH~sa Co~Locatlot\ at\d Stacking. 

(a) Separate Marthuana Business grower, processor1 retalrer1 Class A mlcrcbuslness, and 

deslgnated oonsumptlon establishment uses, sha11 be permltted to operate at the same looatlon 

subject to perh11t approval for eaoh use from the City. Establishments operating at the same 

locatlon must have permit approval for each Marlhuana Buslness type and use descrtbed above, 

(b) Consistent with the MRTMA and the Rules, appllcanls for Class O grower permlts shall be 

allowed to stack ahd reoelve mulllple Class O grower permllsi and to operate under ee\ch permit 

In a slngle estab11shment, 

Sae. 20. rrarisfer of Locatlon Prohtbltad; Tr~nsfar of Ownarshlp and Assets. 

(a) Transfer o1 Location Prohibited. Permlltees may not transfer a permit Issued under this 

ordinance to a different faaallon, 

(b) Transfer of Ownership or Assets. Pertnltlees may apply to the Clerk to transfer ownership 

or assets of a permlltee's business and the permit Issued under this ordinance to a different 

lndlvldual or entity, subject lo receiving In advance written approval from the Clark and the 

Department pursuant to the MRTMA and the Rules, In order lo request City approval to transfer 

ownership or assets and a permit lo a different Individual or entity, the permlttee must make a 

written request to the Clerk, Indicating the current permlttee and lhe proposed permlttee, The 

proposed permlltee shall submit a oomplete appllcatlon to lhe Clerk1 and the Clerk shall grant the 

re~uest so long as the proposed permlll{;)e meets all requirements oulllned In this Ordln~noe and 

B2 



the Department authorizes the transfer pursuant lo the MRTMA and the Rules, A sale or transfer 

of an ownership \ntarest of a social equity app\loant shall be at a price no less than fair market 

value and the buyer or trahaferee shall be qualified as a soolal equ1ty appllcant. 

(o) WUh submlaslot1 of a complete transfer of ownership or assets appllcatlon, the proposed 

permlttee for an ownershlp or asset transfer sha11 pay a nonrefundable applloatlon fee of 

$5,000.00, In order to offset costs of the City associated With review of the proposed permlttee1s 

quallflcatlons for a permitted marlhuana business operalton. 

Sac. 21, Permtts Generally 

(a) Permlttees shall report any malarial change In the required Information to the Clerk within 

twenty four (24) hour and shall report any non .. rnaterlal change In the required Information to the 

Clerk within ten (1 O) business days of the change, Fallure to do so n,ay result In a final suspension 

or revocation of the llaense, 

(b) Permit approval shall not be effective, and no Mar}huana Business may operate, unless 

the Marlhuana Buslhess has obtained a State License, the site of the proposed use and 

proposed structure for the Marlhu~11a Business has zoning approval for such use, and the 

proposed final site plan and special lanq use has b-een approved by the Planning Commission, 

Sao. 22. Term of Marihuamt Business Permit. 

(a) Approval of a permit sh~II be for a period of one calendar year subject to continued 

compllemce with this ordlnanae1 the City Code, MRTMA and the Rules, 

(b) .Eaoh permit for that current year shall be displayed In a conspicuous spot In the.location, 

(o) A perrnlltee shall remove any expired perm}t on qJspJay and replace Jt with the current permit. 

A perrnlttee shall not attempt nor aol In any fraudulent rnanner In regard to the dlsplay of '=WY 

permit. 

Sec . .23t · Oloslhg of Marlhuana Business. 

(a) A parrnlltea lh~t closes a Marlhuana Business rnust comply with the requirements ls~ued 

by the Michigan Cannabis Regulatory Agency, 

33 



(b) Within th1rty (30) days of a perrn\tlee ceaslhg operations, wrllteh notlftcal\on must be 

provided to lhe City Clerk,(c) The permlltee shall furnish to the City a current forwarding address1 

phone number and email for all permlttees, 

(d) The permlttee shall surrender Its Marlhuana Buslhess permit to the City upon the 

expiration of lhe thlrty (30) days' notice to the City, 

Sec,, 24 .. Annual Marlhuana Business Permlt R~newat 

(a) Appllcallon for a permft renewal shall be made In writing to the Clerk al least 30 days pr\or 

to the expiration of an existing permit. Fallure to submit a completed applloatlon for renewal of 

an exlstlng permit along with the required renewal fee to the City Clerk on our before the lloense 

expiration date shaU be grounds for the revocation or suspension of ~ permit Any authorized 

establishment that has not timely submitted a renewal applloatlon as required herein shall 

s1.tspend ell business operations untn auch lime as a renewal permit has been obtained, 

(b) An appllcatlon for permit renewal ahall be made under oath on forms provided by the Clerk. 

(c) An apptlcallon for permit renewal sha\l be accompanled by a renewal fee of $51000,00 for 

each permit to help defray administrative and enforcement coats of the city associated with the 

operation of the MarlhLtana Business, 

(d) Upon receipt of a completed appllc~tlon for renewal of a permit rneetln9 the requirements of . 

thls ordinance and payment of the permit renewal fee 1 the Clerk shall refer a copy of the renewal 

appllcallon to the fire department and the community Development Peparltnenl, planning 

dlv\slon, and other appropriate City departments and offlclala for review, 

(e) No ~ppllcatlon for a permit renewal ahall be approved un]ess: 

34 

(1) The fire department and the Community Development Department, planning dlVlslon, 

and other approprlate departments have1 within the past calendar year, Inspected the 

proposed location for compliance with all state and local building, efeotrlcal, fire, meohanlcal 

and plumbfng requirements, 

(2) The Community Development Departme0t1 planning dlvlslon1 and other relevant 

departments have confirmed that the locatlon complies with the zoning ordinance, 



36 

(3) The perm[Hee possesses the necessary State Operating Licenses In good standing 

with the Pepartment. 

(4) The applicant has operated the Marlhuana Business In accordance w\th the conditions 

and requlraments of this ordinance and the City Code, 

(6) The permlttee has not been determined lo be a public nu)sance, 

(6) An exp(anatlon1 with supportlng factual data1 that the operations of the buslness have 

been conslstent with the plans submitted wllh Its app(lc9it\on for a permll1 lncludlng the 

staffing plan ~nd proof of an Insurance policy covering the buslness and namlng the Olty of 

Pontiac, Its elected and appointed officlals1 employees 1 and agents, as addltlonc\l Insured 

parUes1 primary and non .. contrJbutory avallable for the payment bf any damages arising out 

of an act or omission of the applicant or Its stakeholders, agents, employees, or 

subcontractors, rn the amount of: 

a, at least Two Mllllon Pollars ($2,000,000) for property damage; 

b, ~t least Two MUiian Pollara ($2,000,000) for Injury to one (1) person; and 

c, .at least Two MIiiion Dollars ($2,000>000) for Injury lo two (2) or mora person 

resulting from the -same occurrence, 

The lnsurance policy underwriter must hBive a minimum A.M; Best Company Insurance 

r~mJ<lng of a+1 consfatent with state law, The polJoy shall provide that the City shalf be 

notified by the lnsurnnce carrler thirty (30) days tn advance of any cancellation or 

reduction In covera9es, 

(7) An explanation, with supporting factual data, of the efforts and success achieved by 

the social equity plan of the business to promote and encourage participation In the 

marlhuana Industry by local residents that have beetl dlsproporllonately Impacted by 

marlhuana prohibition and enforcement, Elnd the posltlve Impact of the 'social equity plan on 

local residents. 



(9) The City Treasurer has confirmed that the appltcanl and each stakeholder ls not ln 

default to the City for any property tax, special assessment, Ul\llty charges, fines, fees or 

other financlal obllgatlon owed to the City, 

(10) Th~ Olly has reviewed the appllcatlon and determlned that the appllcanl has satisfied 

the requirements of this Ordinance with respect to the crlrnlna\ background check and 

security plan, 

(11) Unless the appUcflnt shows good cause, the applloant shall demonstrate to the City 

Clerk that the applicant was open and conducting buslness for a minimum of twenty (20) 

hours per week d urlng each E\nd f)Very week of the prior year, The term 0good cause" shall 

mean substantial grounds, such as an emergency, fir~ damage, or other unforeseeable 

clrcums_temces that prevented the appllcant from conducting buslness for a mlnlrnum of 

twenty (20) hours per week durlng each and every week of the prlor year. Economlc or 

financial deolslons 1 or Inability lo secure capltal or nnanolal resources thal prevented an 

sppllcant from conducting business for a minimum of twenty (20) 
0

hours per week during the 

· prior year shaH not be good c.ause. 

(f) If wrJtten approval Is given by each department or entity )dentlfled In this secUon, and tha 

Clerk determlnes that the applloant has satisfied supseoltons (a), (b)1 (0) 1 (d) and (e) of this 

Section) then the Clerk shall renew 1he permit of the appllo~nL 

Sec◄ 2ft DanJal, NontenawaJ, Suspansfon, or RevocatJon of Marlhuana Business 

Parm It; Basts for Action; Appea1. 

(a) Each Marlhuana Business wlthln the City for which a permit Is [irarted shall be operated 

and mafntalhad In accordance with all appllcaple City, Stale and federal laws, rules, and 

regulallons, Any permit lssued under lhls Ordinance may be revoked or suspended by the City 

after wrlllen notice and an admlnlstrallve hearing If a City oHlclal finds and determines that 

grounds for revocation or suspension exist. Any grounds 'for revocation ot suspension of a permit 

mus\ be provided to the permlttee at feast tan (10) days prior to lhe date of the hearing by first 

class mall to the address given on the applloatlon or any address provided to the Cieri< In writing 

subsequent lo the flllng of an application, The Cieri< shall notify an .applicant of the reasons for 

denial of an appllcatlon for a psrmll1 for permit renewal, or for suspension or revocation of a perm\l1 



or any adverse decision under this ordinance and provide the app\lcant or permlttee an 

adtnlnlstraHve hearing with lhe opportunity to be heard, 

(b) In addlllon to any other reasons aet forth tn this ordinance, the City may refuse to \saue a 

permit, hlay refuse to grant renewal of a permit, and rnay su~pend or revoke a permlt pursuant to 

Ponttao City Ordinance sectfons 1 .. 24 or for any of the following reasons: 

(1) A violation of any provlalon of this Ordlnat1oe1 lnc)udlng1 but not limited to. the fallure 

lo provide the lnformatloh required by this Ordinance; 

(2) Any dlsquaUfylng conviction or pattern of aonvlotlons by the · permlttaa or any 

stakeholder of the ~errnlttee Including any oohvtctton of any felony or any misdemeanor 

lnvolvlng controlled substances. theft, or d[shoneaty by the applicant, permltee, stakeholder, 

or any person holdln~ an ownership Interest In the llcenseej 

(3) t=allure of the permlti.ee to obla1n or maintain a State License or approval pursuant to 

MR'fMA and MMFLAl 

(4) Commlss1on of fraud or tnlsrepresenlatlon or the making of a false statement by the 

applloant1 permlttee, or any stakeholder of the appltcant or permlttee, whlle engaglng In any 

·activity for whloh this Ordinance requires a permit; 

(6) The Marlhuana Business la determlnad by the City to have become a ~ubllc nulsahoe 

or olherw1se I~ operating In a manner detrlmental to the publlo health, safely or welfare~ 

I 

(6) Failure of the permltee to maintain the property causing a blighted or other condition In 

vJolatlon of any City ordlnance1 lno1udlng but not limited lo, Ord. No, 23561 8-9 .. 1 B, or ·In 

vlolallon of any slate law1 Including but not llmlted to, MCL 125.63B to 126.642, 

(7) Any default In the payment of any charges, taxes1 or fees, to the City If not cured upon 

thirty (30) days following notice sent by eleotronlc means or tnaU to the address of the 

Marlhuana Business, This cure period does not apply to scoring of lnltlal applloatlons for 

Retatler, Social Equity Retaller1 Class A Mlcrobuslness and Designated Consumption 

~stabllshment permits: 

(8) Vlolallon of any State law appll_cable to Marlhuana Bualness~s. 

(9) Fallure to obtain or maintain a certificate of occupancy from the Bulldlng Deparirnent: 



( 10) Failure of lhe permltee to obtain or maintain a perhllt or to renew a perm1l from the City 

Clerk: or 

(11) The establlshmentfaatmy's approved s\te plan Is determlned lo be In substantial 

vlolallon by the City, 

(c) Appeal of denta\ of an appllaatlon 1 denial of renewal, or revocation or suspension of a permit: 

Any applicant or permlltee aggrieved by the denial, non .. renewa1, suspension or revocation of a 

.permit or adverse declsloh under this ordinance may appeal to the Clerk, by flllng with the Clerk, 

within fourteen (14) days after notice of the action oomplalned of has been malled or e .. malled to 

the appllaant or to permlttee's last known address on the records of the Clerk, a written slatehlenl 

setting forth fUlly the grounds for the appeal, ,he Clerk shall appoint a hearing officer to hear and 

evaluate the appeal and make a wrlUen recommendation and report to the C\erk, The Clerk shall 

review the report and recotnmendatlon of the hear'lng off1cer and Issue a written declston, The 

Clerl<'s decision ma.y be appealed to the Mar\huana Business Commission by flllng an appeal In 

writing to the Marlhuana Business Qommlse\on no later than thirty (30) days after the Clerk's 

decl~lon1 lhe review on appeal of a denlal, non .. renewal, suspenslont or revooatlon or adverse 

action shall be by the Marlhuana Business Commission pursuant lo this ordinance, lhe 

Marlhuana Sus)ness Comrnlss)on shall overturn a decision or finding of the Clerk If Jt finds such 

decision or finding to be arbitrary or capricious and/or not supported by malerlal, substantial, and 

competent facts on the whole record considered by the Clerk In arriving at such decision or finding, 

Any declslon by the Marlhuana auslness Commission on an appeal shall be final for purposes of 

Judlo}al review. The Clerk may engage professional consultants to assist With the review and 

scoring of appltoatlons under lhls section, 

(d) Following the denlal of a permit to an applicant for a relaHer permit, social equity retaller 

permtl, Class A mlcrobuslness permit or designated oonsumptlon estabUshment permit, ahd any 

subsequerit appeal during the reoammandatlon and lssua11ce process, the Clerk may move lo 

recommend th~ application with the next highest number of soaring points as determined In the 

applloatloh prooeas lo be awarded a perm!L 

(e) lhe City Clerk shall notify lhe Michigan Cannabis Regulatory Agency of all renewal 

applications which are renewed or denied, ahd all permits that are suspended or revo'ked, 

38 



(f) A perm\tee whose renewal application Is denied, ,must submit a new appllaatlon as a new 

appllcanL 

Seo. 26. Penalties; temporary suspans)on of a permit. 

(a) The Clly may require an appl\cant or permlttea of a Marlhuana J3uslness to produca 

documents, records. or any other material pertinent to the Investigation of an E\ppllcant or 

permltlee or to an alleged vlolatlon of thls Ordinance or slate law and rules. Failure to provide the 

required materlE\\ rnay be srounds for apptlcallon denial, or permll suspension or revocation. 

(b) Any per~on In vlolallop of any provision of this Ordinance, Including the operation of a 

Marlhuana BuslMss w\thout a permit shall be responslble for a clvll lnfraotton and shall be subject 

to a civil flne and costs. Increased clvll fines may be Imposed for a repeat v\olatl?n, As used In 

this Ordlnance 11repeal violation" shall mean a second or any subsequent lnfraotlon of the same 

requirement or provision committed bY a person or establlshmanl within any tw(jnty-.four (24) 

month perfod1 Unless otharwlse speolfioally provided Jn this Ordinance, the penc\lly schedule Is 

~s follows: 

(1) F\ve Hundred Dollars ($600). plus costs) for the first Vlolatlo.n; 

I 

(2) One Thousand Dollc\rs ($1,000) 1 plus oosts 1 for a repeat vialallon; 

(3) Three Thousand Dollars ($S1000), plus costs for any repeal violation that 

continues for more than one day. 

(c) ihe City ·may temporarlly suspend a Marlhu~na BuslMss permll without a prior hearlnt1 If the 

City finds that public safely or welfare require~ emer~ency action c\ffectlng the publ!o health, 

safely, or welfare, The City shall cause the temporary suspension by Issuing a sµspenslon notice 

In oonnect\on with Institution of proceedings for notloe and a hearing. 

(d) If tha City temporarlly suspends a permit without a prior hearing, the permlttee Is antltled lo a 

heArlng within thirty (30) days after the suspension no.lice has been served oh the permlltee or 

posted on the permitted premises, The hearing shall be limited to the Issues oiled In the 

suspension notloe, 

(e) lf the City does not hold a hearing within thirty (30) days after the dale the suspension Wa~ 

setved on lha ~ermltlee or_poated on the permitted premises, then the suspended permit shall be 

aulomat!oallY reinstated and the suspensfQn vacated, 

39 



(D The penalty provisions hereln are not Intended to foreclose ahy other remedy or sanotlon that 

might ba available to, or Imposed by the City, lnoludlng crlmlnal prosecution, 

Saa, 27. Severabllity Clause·, 

Should any word, phrase, senlehoe1 ~aragraph, or section of this Ordlnahoe be held Invalid or 

unoonstltutlonal1 the remaining provisions of this ordinance shalt remain ln full foroe and effect. 

Saa. 28. Effective Date. 

This ordlnahOe shall become effeotlve: (a) GO days followlng the date of adoption, (b) the effective 

dale of the amendmettt lo ordinance #2360 (removing the prohlblllon of marlhuana 

estab\lshments)j or (c) the effective dale of the zoning code text amendments pertnltt1ng Adult ... 

Use Marlhuana Business land uses, whichever ls later. 

Sec. 29. Publicatlon. 

-40 



#5 

RESOLUTION 



PONTIAC CITY COUNCIL RESOLUTION 
Proclaiming March 2023 as 

Women's History Month in Pontiac 

Whereas, the month of March is National Women's History Month, which recognizes 
and spreads awareness of the importance of women in our nation's history; and 

Whereas, women in the United States were once considered property or chattel of their 
husbands and were subjected to second-class citizenship, but through tireless 
determination and opposition to that adversity, women nevertheless persisted and 
gained greater rights and independence; and 

Whereas, the majority of American citizens are women, and the majority of Pontiac 
residents are women, and the City of Pontiac, Michigan has been positively shaped by 
past and present female residents and business owners through the decades; 

Whereas/ despite substantial advancements for women in the United States, much 
remains to be done to ensure that women, particularly women of color, are able to realize 
their full potential as equal members of society; now, 

Therefore, Be It Resolved/ the Pontiac City Council hereby proclaims March 2023 as 
Women's History Month in Pontiac, Michigan; and further 

Resolved, the City of Pontiac honors the contributions of all women in the fight for 
gender equality, racial justice, and social equity and the impact they have made in our 
city, our state, our nation, and our world; and further 

Resolved, the City of Pontiac shall install Women's History Month exhibits throughout 
our municipal buildings and be featured on our social media platforms; and further 

Resolved, that the City of Pontiac welcomes additional opportunities to commemorate 
and celebrate the phenomenal women who have shaped the City of Pontiac, the State of 
Michigan, and the United States of America. 

Pontiac City Council • Pontiac, Michigan • March 7, 2023 
Mike McGuinness, Council President 

Mikal Goodman, Councilmember 

Brett Nicholson, Councilmember 

Melanie Rutherford, Councilmember 

William A. Carrington, President Pro Tern 

Kathalee James, Councilmember 

William Parker, Jr., Councilmember 



#6 
RESOLUTION . 



Finance 

TO: 

FROM: 

CC: 

DATE: 

RE: 

CITY OF PONTIAC 
OFFICIAL MEMORANDUM 

Honorable City Council President and City Council 

Sekar Bawa, Senior Accountant 

Mayor Tim Grehnel and Khalfani Stephens, Deputy Mayor 

February 15, 2023 

Council Resolution to authorize the City Clerk to publish the proposed 
budget amendment for Budget Year 2022-2023, (Cable Division) 

Increase the budget appropriation in the following 23l~Cable Fund GL accounts 
231-291 ... 977,014 Video Equipment ($27,564.45). 

The City Council approved on 02/22/22 the purchase and installation of microphone system in 
the City Council chamber. Sound Planning Communications installed the system in August of 
2022 but the FY 2022-23 budget did not include funding to pay for the service. This budget 
amendment adds $27,564.45 to the GL line item 231-291-977.014 Video Equipment Video 
Equipment to pay the outstanding invoice. 

This amendment decreases the 231-Cable Fund balance by $27,564.45. Estimated Fund balance after this 

amendment is $736,791. 

Increase the budget appropriation in the following GL accounts: 

231~291-977.014 Video Equipment $27,564.45 

Tltis item cannot he approved until after the resolution to autl,orize the city clerk to pu/Jlislt tlte notice 
of the budget amendment ha~ been approved and one week after tlte puhlicatio11 of tlte notice. 

Attachments: 02/22/2022 City Council Resolution 
Sound Planning Communication Invoice 



Council Resolution to approve the proposed budget amendment for Fiscal Year 2022-2023, 

Increase the budget appropriation in the following 231-Cable Fund GL accounts 
23 1-291-977.014 Video Equipment ($27,564.45). 

WHEREAS City council appropriated funds for the Cable Department to begin on July 1, 2022; and, 

WHEREAS, that appropriation assumed certain variables that did not come into being; and, 

WHEREAS, that appropriation did not include enough allocation for the purchase approved in FY 2022 
for City Council Chamber microphone system; and, 

WHEREAS, this budget amendment decreases the fund balance by $27~564.45; 

NOW THEREFORE, BE RESOLVED, that the City Council hereby approves the budget amendment for 
Fiscal Year2022-23 as requested by the Administration as given below: 

Increase the budget appropriation in the following GL accounts: 

231-291-977.014 Video Equipment $27,564.45 

2 



c1·Tv OF PONTIAC 
OFFICIAL MRMORANDUl'\'I 

TO: 

FROM: 

Honorable Mayor, Council President , and Clfy Coundl Members 

Phi' Brown, Cab!e Director 

OAT'E: February 22, 202·1 

RE: Resolution to Approve Upgrades of the City of Pontiac's Cable System 

The City of Pontiac's Cable Dwis~on prov~des and produces service lo f\•m chnnn,els: 
Governrnent and Pub~ic Access . 

fhe current system used for the city's channel is in need of updating and due to the lack 
of system upgrading lhe city's cable servh-;e has incurred sewJral outages, 

The current Analog system Is over 20 years <,Id, produces low quality broadcasts and the 
existing hardw~ue and software cannol be updated. Our curr&nl table system Is coaxial 
wire ond creates slower broadcasts and up~oads. Which generates, poor video/audio 
quality, delays in broadcasting and presents difficulty fn troubleshnotlng probierns as they 
occur. 
Addittonally, the current system does not communicate with newer technology and 
presents lnfrnslruclure m,srnalches which furthers the poot quality of tho channets 
broadcasts. 

Up-.grarJing the cable system would allow for ose o( newer appUcaHons and enhance lhe 
city's cable broadcast systern. The following updates to the city's cabte system are 
recommended_ 

► Replacarnenl of th-0 Server/ Playback with a new Tightrope 2 channel d1gitai 
server system. 

► Repfacemenl of the encoders 

;., Replacement of the aging broadcast components wllh new buHetin board 
software 

► Replacement of lhe audio system to Include mkmphones and sp~aker systems. 

► Addition of two c-amera in the Council Chambers 

Jo" Monitoring of the hardware and software lhat will allow qulck troubt0shooling and 
resolullon, 

The estimated cost of this profect is $210,274.25 

As such, it is re-~ueiste-d lhat Cowtcil approve the foUowing resolution to update to the 
city's cable system. 



Wlwroes, lhe City of Pontiac's Cable Syslem is provides and produces so,vicos lo 
two chantwls, Gow1mmont aod Public Access and; 

Wlwroos, the curronl Arwh)g sysJem i."{ over 20 years old, prorJtices low quality 
broadcasts and tlw cxistli1g hardwaro and software cannot bo updafod; and 

Whereas, the current cable S}1stem is coaxial wire 8t1d cre8les slower brm.1d{;asts 
and uploads, which altrlbutes lo tho poor video/audio quality and presor,(s a clwllen(Je with 
trot1blesl1ooffng problems;· end 

Whereas, t11e cable dAparlment rocommemls repJacomenf of the smverlpftiy/Jackt 
ancodor, broa,dcasf components, audio syslem anc/ monitoring Jwrdwere and soflwvre; ond 

Whetoast !he cablo deparlmonl believes tho implomontation of Iha recommendo<I 
u/J<lafes would be in the bost interest for the city in pro'liding qu8/ity broodcasling of maeling 
to the public and; 

t,,Vhoroas, fho funding for tho recommend updates woufd coma from fho Capital 
lmprovoment Fom1- Cable. GL Hccount ,1'15-291-076,001; 

NOW Tl-lEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED, that PonliBc City Council lwrehy apptoves 
lho upgrades to lhe city's cable syslem ;n the amount of 9,210, 2N. 26, IDkon oul of the 
Capital fmprovomonl Fund-Ca/Jlel GI_ t1ccmml 445~291-976.001 ond authorizes lhe 1"'1ayo.r 
to ontor into an agro,emont with FiTmtools In the t1mmmt of S 182, 709. 80 and Sound PIB1111iog 
Communicollons in the amount of $27Jj64.45 lo complete said upgrades. 

4 



d
:·,,, 

soun lliit11h-_ 
--:'1111nn I an n t ng, · 

'•1;h "7ommunic:ations 
l 

Invoice 

C<Jtn)'llttli' 5i:,lutlom ror cornmunlt-1111,;,ri H<hnolo9lo lJAl'f: INVOICE fl 

DIU 10 

Cl1y of Pontiac T c~ler.ormmm icatlon.-. 
A 1 l N: Phllllp ih'oWn, Dir of comm 
/~74J0 Woodwim.1 Avenul! 
Ponli,K, Ml 40147.-SO'J 

8/30/2022 

SIIIP re, 

City Counr,il-- City of lionllilc 
47450 Woodward twenw! 
City Uall 2rHl rlool 
PonHi\c, Ml t1BV12 

PhillipllWwn 

29567 

~-~----~}2:.2; __ '---'---&.._._._~-~-----.-------,--------. 

c:ny 

1ound 

Mousllcs 

W.O. NO. P.O. NO. PHO.IECT NO. 

41518 

\ 
Per SPC Esllmate (12238 Provide a Shure po1ta1Jle wireless 
conference $ystem und spca~crs 

Shum V.'i1 clm;s 1:c;1,rerencc system wilh 1'l wireless confcfcnc:lJ 
mies. aulo rnlxer, drop In chargars1 and portable speakers 

5 

TERMS 

Nel 30 

RATE 

t.7,564.45 

DIJC: DA1E 

9/29/2022 

/\MOlJNr 

27,564.45 ----

·/:xz 
$27,SG-1.45 

·,,ww, 1011t'ldp1,, nnln~ .n.:: I 



#7 
RESOLUTION 



CITY OF PONTIAC 
OFFICIAL MEMORANDUM 

Department of Public Works 

TO: 

FROM: 

CC: 

DATE: 

RE: 

Pontiac City Council 

Al Cooley 111., Interim Director of DPW 

Mayor Tim Greimel and Deputy Mayor Khalfani Stephens 

March 7, 2023 

Amend DPW Staff Salary Chart 

With the 22/23 Budget year the City of Pontiac Council approved several new positions for the 
Department of Public Works. 4 of those positions were inadvertently left off of the Salary chaii of 
positions. These 4 positions are as follows, Sanitation Superintendent, Building Forman, and 2 
Sanitation workers. These are full time hourly non-exempt positions. 

These positions were listed on the approved DPW Org chart however were not included in the list 
of Salary positions. These Salary's need Council's approvals before the positions can be filled. 

Finance has stated there is dollars for these positions currently in the DPW funds. 
Sanitation Superintendent $80,000 
Building Forman $63,295 
Sanitation Worker $31,200 X 2 

WHEREAS, 

WHEREAS, 

Wl-IERAS, 

NOW, THEREFORE 
IT IS RESOLVED: 

The City of Pontiac has approved the new positions with the org chart and; 

The Department of Public Works, has the need to fill the positions and; 

The DPW funds have budgeted dollars in the 2022/2023 Fiscal Year budget to . 
cover these costs, 

The Pontiac City Council approves the salaries of Sanitation Superintendent, 
Building Forman and 2 Sanitation workers. 



#8 

RESOLUTION 



Finance 

TO: 

FROM: 

CC: 

DATE: 

RE: 

CITY OF PONTIAC 
OFFICIAL MEMORANDUM 

Honorable City Council President and City Council 

Sekar Bawa, Senior Accountant 

Mayor Tim Greimel, Khalfani Stephens, Deputy Mayor 

March 1, 2023 

Council Resolution to authorize the City Clerk to publish the proposed 
budget amendment for Budget Year 2022-2023. 
Increase the appropriation in the following GL accounts 
208-756-719.000 Workers Compensation Ins. -$5,000, 
208-756-779.020 Programming -$7,500, 
208-756-942.001 Copier Lease - $2,400, 
208-756-943 .000 Services - Equip Rental City-Owned - $1,000, 
208-775-716.000 - Medical Insurance - $9,600, 
208-775-745.000-Recreation Supplies - $2,000 

The Youth Recreation division has been operating without an appropriation for some of the 
expense line items given below which are essential for the functioning of Youth Recreation 
operation. 

208-756-719.000 Workers Compensation Insurance, 
208-7 56-942.00 I Copier Lease, 
208-756-943.000 Services-Equip Rental City-Owned, 
208-775-716.000 - Medical Insurance. 

Further, since there was a delay in securing the "United Way-Out of School Time" grant, City 
could not use the grant dollars to pay for the recent purchase of Programing Services and 
Recreation Supplies. 

This Budget amendment will reduce the Fund 208-Youth Recreation Millage fund balance by 
$27,500. Estimated fund balance after this amendment is $294,470. 



This budget amendment allocates the funds in the categories as given below: 

208-756-719.000 Workers Compensation Ins. 
208-756-779.020 Programming 
208-756-942.001 Copier Lease 
208-756-943 .000 Services - Equip Rental City-Owned 
208-775-716.000 Medical Insurance 
208-775-745.000 Recreation Supplies 

Net Decrease in the General Fund Balance 

$5,000, 
$7,500, 
$2,400, 
$1,000, 
$9,600, 
$2,000 

$27,500 

This item cannot be approved until after tlte resolution to authorize the city clerk to publish the notice 
of the budget amendment Etas been approved and one week after tlte publication oftl,e notice. 

2 



Council Resolution to authorize the City Clerk to publish the proposed budget amendment 
for Budget Year 2022-2023, 

Increase. the appropriation in the following GL accounts 
208-756-719.000 Workers Compensation Ins. -$5,000, 
208-756-779.020 Programming -$7,500, 
208-756-942.001 Copier Lease -$2,400, 
208-756-943.000 Services - Equip Rental City-Owned- $1,000, 
208-775-716.000 - Medical Insurance - $9,600, 
208-775-745.000-Recreation Supplies-$2,000 

WHEREAS, The Youth Recreation division has been operating without an appropriation for some 
of the expense line items given below which are essential for the functioning of Youth Recreation 
operation: 
208-756-719.000 Workers Compensation Insurance, 
208-756-942.001 Copier Lease, 
208-756-943 .000 Services - Equip Rental City-Owned, 
208-775-716.000 - Medical Insurance; a~d, 

WHEREAS, since there was a delay in securing the "United Way-Out of School Time" grant, 
City could not use the grant dollars to pay for the recent purchase of Programing Services and 
Recreation Supplies; and, 

WHEREAS, this Budget amendment will reduce the 208-Y outh Recreation Millage fund balance 
by $27,500 and the estimated fund balance after this amendment is $294,470; 

NOW THEREFORE, BE RESOLVED, that the City Council hereby authorizes the City Clerk to publish in 
a newspaper the proposed budget amendment for Fiscal Year 2022-23 as requested by the Administration as 
given below: 

This budget amendment allocates the funds in the categories as given below: 

208-756-719.000 Workers Compensation Ins. 
208-756-779.020 Programming 
208-756-942.001 Copier Lease 
208-756-943.000 Services - Equip Rental City-Owned 
208-775-716.000 Medical Insurance 
208-775-745.000 Recreation Supplies 
Net Decrease in the General Fund Balance 

3 

$5,000, 
$7,500, 
$2,400, 
$1,000, 
$9,600, 
$2,000 
$27,500 




